
Children and Young People Scrutiny Commission 
 

All Members of the Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission are requested to attend the 
meeting of the Commission to be held as follows 
 
Monday 27 February 2023 
 
7.00 pm 
 
Committee Room 102, Hackney Town Hall, Mare Street, London E8 1EA 
 
The press and members of the public are welcome to join this meeting in person (please 
note the guidance below) or remotely via the following link: 
 
https://youtu.be/4abOFvDz3i0 
 
A backup link is provided below in the event of technical difficulties: 
 
https://youtu.be/nA5n_jX7UZw 
 
 
Contact: 
Martin Bradford (martin.bradford@hackney.gov.uk) 
 020 8356 3315 
 martin.bradford@hackney.gov.uk 
 
 
Mark Carroll 
Chief Executive, London Borough of Hackney 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Members: Cllr Sophie Conway (Chair), Cllr Margaret Gordon (Vice-Chair), 
Cllr Alastair Binnie-Lubbock, Cllr Lee Laudat-Scott, Cllr Midnight Ross, 
Cllr Caroline Selman, Cllr Anya Sizer, Cllr Sheila Suso-Runge, 
Cllr Lynne Troughton and Cllr Claudia Turbet-Delof 

 
Co-optees: Richard Brown, Andy English, Salmah Kansara, Jo Macleod, Steven 

Olalere and Monique Pink 

https://youtu.be/4abOFvDz3i0
https://youtu.be/nA5n_jX7UZw


Agenda 
 

ALL MEETINGS ARE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 
  

1 Apologies for Absence   
 
2 Urgent Items / Order of Business   

 
3 Declarations of Interest   

 
4 SEND Partnership Action Plan (19.05)  (Pages 9 - 50) 
 Following the publication of the Hackney SEND Strategy in 2022, members 

are invited to scrutinise plans to deliver services in line with agreed priorities 
as set out in the SEND Partnership Action Plan. 
 

 

 
5 Hackney Education - Budget Monitoring (19.55)  (Pages 51 - 58) 
 Members are invited to scrutinise in-year budget (2022/23) for Hackney 

Education, including actions taken to address overspends and progress 
against agreed cost savings. 
 

 

 
6 Cabinet Q & A (20.30)  (Pages 59 - 60) 
 To question the Cabinet member for Families, Parks and Leisure on 

(children and families) services within this portfolio. 
 

 

 
7 Children & Families Annual Report 2021/22 (21.20)  (Pages 61 - 138) 
 Members are invited to note the Children and Families Annual Report and to 

submit any questions, the responses to which will be published at the next 
available meeting of the Commission. 
 

 

 
8 Work Programme 2022/23  (Pages 139 - 152) 
 Members are invited to note and agree the work programme of the 

Commission for the remainder of 2022/23. 
 

 

 
9 Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 153 - 174) 
 Members are invited to note and agree the minutes of the last meeting (16th 

January 2023). 
 

 

 
10 Any Other Business   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Access and Information 
 
 

Public Involvement and Recording 
 
Public Attendance at the Town Hall for Meetings 
 
Scrutiny meetings are held in public, rather than being public meetings. This 
means that whilst residents and press are welcome to attend, they can only 
ask questions at the discretion of the Chair. For further information relating to 
public access to information, please see Part 4 of the council’s constitution, 
available at https://hackney.gov.uk/council-business  or by contacting 
Governance Services (020 8356 3503) 
 
Following the lifting of all Covid-19 restrictions by the Government and the 
Council updating its assessment of access to its buildings, the Town Hall is 
now open to the public and members of the public may attend meetings of the 
Council. 
 
We recognise, however, that you may find it more convenient to observe the 
meeting via the live-stream facility, the link for which appears on the agenda 
front sheet.  
 
We would ask that if you have either tested positive for Covid-19 or have any 
symptoms that you do not attend the meeting, but rather use the livestream 
facility. If this applies and you are attending the meeting to ask a question, 
make a deputation or present a petition then you may contact the Officer 
named at the beginning of the agenda and they will be able to make 
arrangements for the Chair of the meeting to ask the question, make the 
deputation or present the petition on your behalf.  
 
The Council will continue to ensure that access to our meetings is in line with 
any Covid-19 restrictions that may be in force from time to time and also in 
line with public health advice. The latest general advice can be found here - 
https://hackney.gov.uk/coronavirus-support   
 
Rights of Press and Public to Report on Meetings 
Where a meeting of the Council and its committees are open to the public, the 
press and public are welcome to report on meetings of the Council and its 
committees, through any audio, visual or written methods and may use digital 
and social media providing they do not disturb the conduct of the meeting and 
providing that the person reporting or providing the commentary is present at 
the meeting.  
 
Those wishing to film, photograph or audio record a meeting are asked to 
notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer by noon on the day of the meeting, if 
possible, or any time prior to the start of the meeting or notify the Chair at the 
start of the meeting.  

https://hackney.gov.uk/council-business
https://hackney.gov.uk/coronavirus-support


 
The Monitoring Officer, or the Chair of the meeting, may designate a set area 
from which all recording must take place at a meeting.  
 
The Council will endeavour to provide reasonable space and seating to view, 
hear and record the meeting. If those intending to record a meeting require 
any other reasonable facilities, notice should be given to the Monitoring 
Officer in advance of the meeting and will only be provided if practicable to do 
so.  
 
The Chair shall have discretion to regulate the behaviour of all those present 
recording a meeting in the interests of the efficient conduct of the meeting. 
Anyone acting in a disruptive manner may be required by the Chair to cease 
recording or may be excluded from the meeting.  
 
Disruptive behaviour may include moving from any designated recording area; 
causing excessive noise; intrusive lighting; interrupting the meeting; or filming 
members of the public who have asked not to be filmed.  
 
All those visually recording a meeting are requested to only focus on 
recording Councillors, officers and the public who are directly involved in the 
conduct of the meeting. The Chair of the meeting will ask any members of the 
public present if they have objections to being visually recorded. Those 
visually recording a meeting are asked to respect the wishes of those who do 
not wish to be filmed or photographed.  Failure by someone recording a 
meeting to respect the wishes of those who do not wish to be filmed and 
photographed may result in the Chair instructing them to cease recording or in 
their exclusion from the meeting.  
 
If a meeting passes a motion to exclude the press and public then in order to 
consider confidential or exempt information, all recording must cease, and all 
recording equipment must be removed from the meeting. The press and 
public are not permitted to use any means which might enable them to see or 
hear the proceedings whilst they are excluded from a meeting and confidential 
or exempt information is under consideration.  
 
Providing oral commentary during a meeting is not permitted. 
 
 

 
 



 

Advice to Members on Declaring Interests 
 
Advice to Members on Declaring Interests 
 
Hackney Council’s Code of Conduct applies to all Members of the Council, 
the Mayor and co-opted Members.  
  
This note is intended to provide general guidance for Members on declaring 
interests.  However, you may need to obtain specific advice on whether you 
have an interest in a particular matter. If you need advice, you can contact:  
 

• Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services  
• the Legal Adviser to the Committee; or  
• Governance Services.  

 
If at all possible, you should try to identify any potential interest you may have 
before the meeting so that you and the person you ask for advice can fully 
consider all the circumstances before reaching a conclusion on what action 
you should take.   
 
You will have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter if it:   
 
i. relates to an interest that you have already registered in Parts A and C of 
the Register of Pecuniary Interests of you or your spouse/civil partner, or 
anyone living with you as if they were your spouse/civil partner;  
 
ii. relates to an interest that should be registered in Parts A and C of the 
Register of Pecuniary Interests of your spouse/civil partner, or anyone living 
with you as if they were your spouse/civil partner, but you have not yet done 
so; or  
 
iii. affects your well-being or financial position or that of your spouse/civil 
partner, or anyone living with you as if they were your spouse/civil partner.   
 
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in an item on the agenda 
you must:  
 
i. Declare the existence and nature of the interest (in relation to the relevant 
agenda item) as soon as it becomes apparent to you (subject to the rules 
regarding sensitive interests).   
 
ii. You must leave the meeting when the item in which you have an interest is 
being discussed. You cannot stay in the meeting whilst discussion of the item 
takes place, and you cannot vote on the matter. In addition, you must not 
seek to improperly influence the decision.  
 
iii. If you have, however, obtained dispensation from the Monitoring Officer or 
Standards Committee you may remain in the meeting and participate in the 



meeting. If dispensation has been granted it will stipulate the extent of your 
involvement, such as whether you can only be present to make 
representations, provide evidence or whether you are able to fully participate 
and vote on the matter in which you have a pecuniary interest.  
 
Do you have any other non-pecuniary interest on any matter on the 
agenda which is being considered at the meeting?  
 
You will have ‘other non-pecuniary interest’ in a matter if:  
 
i. It relates to an external body that you have been appointed to as a Member 
or in another capacity; or   
 
ii. It relates to an organisation or individual which you have actively engaged 
in supporting.  
 
If you have other non-pecuniary interest in an item on the agenda you 
must:  
 
i. Declare the existence and nature of the interest (in relation to the relevant 
agenda item) as soon as it becomes apparent to you.   
 
ii. You may remain in the meeting, participate in any discussion or vote 
provided that contractual, financial, consent, permission or licence matters are 
not under consideration relating to the item in which you have an interest.   
 
iii. If you have an interest in a contractual, financial, consent, permission, or 
licence matter under consideration, you must leave the meeting unless you 
have obtained a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer or Standards 
Committee. You cannot stay in the meeting whilst discussion of the item takes 
place, and you cannot vote on the matter. In addition, you must not seek to 
improperly influence the decision. Where members of the public are allowed 
to make representations, or to give evidence or answer questions about the 
matter you may, with the permission of the meeting, speak on a matter then 
leave the meeting. Once you have finished making your representation, you 
must leave the meeting whilst the matter is being discussed.   
 
iv. If you have been granted dispensation, in accordance with the Council’s 
dispensation procedure you may remain in the meeting. If dispensation has 
been granted it will stipulate the extent of your involvement, such as whether 
you can only be present to make representations, provide evidence or 
whether you are able to fully participate and vote on the matter in which you 
have a non-pecuniary interest.   
 
Further Information  
 
Advice can be obtained from Dawn Carter-McDonald, Director of Legal, 
Democratic and Electoral Services via email dawn.carter-
mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk  
 

mailto:dawn.carter-mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:dawn.carter-mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk


 
 

Getting to the Town Hall 

For a map of how to find the Town Hall, please visit the council’s website 
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/contact-us.htm or contact the Overview and 
Scrutiny Officer using the details provided on the front cover of this agenda. 

 
 

Accessibility 

There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor 
of the Town Hall. 
 
Induction loop facilities are available in the Assembly Halls and the Council 
Chamber. Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through 
the ramp on the side to the main Town Hall entrance. 

 
 

Further Information about the Commission 
 
If you would like any more information about the Scrutiny 
Commission, including the membership details, meeting 
dates and previous reviews, please visit the website or use 
this QR Code (accessible via phone or tablet ‘app’) 
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/individual-scrutiny-
commissions-children-and-young-people.htm  
 

 

http://www.hackney.gov.uk/contact-us.htm
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=121
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=121
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=121


This page is intentionally left blank



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 February     27th     2023 

 Item     4     -      SEND     Action     Plan 

 Item     No 

 4 
 Outline 
 The     SEND     Strategy     for     Hackney     was     agreed     by     Cabinet     in     October     2022.      To 
 support     the     delivery     of     key     priorities     within     this     strategy     a     SEND     Partnership     Action 
 Plan     has     been     developed     by     local     Education,     Health     and     Social     Care     services. 
 Members     are     invited     to     scrutinise     delivery     plans     and     to     question     officers     present. 

 Attending 
 -  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education     and     Inclusion 
 -  Nick     Wilson,     Head     of     High     Needs     &     School     Places 
 -  Joe     Wilson,     Head     of     SEND 
 -  Sarah     Darcy,     Strategic     Lead     for     Children     and     Young     People     NHS     North     East 

 London 
 -  Steve     Jahoda,     Head     of     Disabled     Children's     Service 

 Reports 
 -  SEND     Action     Plan 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 Overview     &     Scrutiny 
 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 r 

 Date     of     meeting:  27th     February     2023 

 Title     of     report:      Hackney     SEND     Local     Area     Action     Plan     2022-25 

 Report     author:     Nick     Wilson,     Assistant     Director     High     Needs     and     School     Places 
 Joe     Wilson,     Head     of     SEND 

 Authorised     by:  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education  &     Inclusion 

 Brief: 

 This  report  is  to  provide  the  Commission  with  the  opportunity  to  review  the  work  of  the 
 SEND     Local     Area     Action     Plan     2022-25. 

 The  Action  plan  brings  together  10  key  priority  areas  for  SEND  Services  in  Hackney 
 2022     -25.     This     underpins     the     implementation     of     the     local     area     SEND     Strategy, 

 The  SEND  Partnership  Board  has  set  an  ambitious  programme  to  transform  the 
 experience  of  families  and  the  delivery  of  high-quality  services  to  achieve  the  best 
 outcomes     for     our     children     and     young     people. 

Page 11



 Report     to     the     Children     &     Young     People 
 Scrutiny     Commission 

 Report     title:  SEND     Local     Area     Action     Plan     2022     -     2025 

 Meeting     date:  27th     February     2023 

 Report     originator:  Nick     wilson,     Assistant     Director     High     Needs     and     School     Places 

 Joe     Wilson,     Head     of     Special     Educational     Needs     and     Disabilities 

 1.  Purpose     of     the     report 

 1.1.  This  report  will  provide  Councillors  with  an  overview  of  the  SEND  Local  Area  Action  Plan 
 2022-25     the     (“Action     Plan”). 

 1.2.  A  review  of  the  local  area’s  SEND  provision  was  commissioned  in  2022  by  the  Group  Director 
 of  Children  and  Education,  to  support  the  process  of  scrutiny  and  evaluation  of  SEND  and  the 
 current  strengths  and  areas  for  development  since  the  Local  Area  SEND  inspection  in 
 November  2017.  The  review  recognised  the  progress  that  had  been  made  and  highlighted 
 SEND  system  current  strengths.  It  also  identifies  what  remains  to  be  done  to  secure  a  strong 
 and  effective  service  for  children  and  young  people  with  SEND  across  education,  health  and 
 care  partners.  The  report  acknowledges  the  recently  published  SEND  and  Alternative 
 Provision  Green  Paper  (  29th  March  2022),  aligns  what  remains  to  be  done  with  some  of  the 
 key  Green  Paper  proposals.  The  review  acknowledges  “There  is  a  lot  of  activity  and 
 willingness  to  improve  the  situation  but  there  is  no  overall  strategy.  There  are  ‘too  many 
 spinning  plates’  without  a  coherent,  RAG  rated,  costed  strategic  plan  with  clear  timescales  and 
 measures  of  success”.  It  also  recognises  the  “The  progress  towards  addressing  the  areas  for 
 improvement     identified     in     the     SEND     area     review     in     2017,     has     been     too     slow”. 

 1.3.  The  strategic  three  year  Action  Plan  contains  10  essential  workstreams  for  SEND  and  brings  a 
 coherent  and  structured  programme  approach  to  the  changes  required  to  secure  strong  and 
 effective     services     for     children     and     young     people     across     Hackney. 

 1.4.  The  Action  Plan  is  linked  to  the  SEND  Strategy  (2022-25)  that  has  previously  been  shared 
 with  the  Scrutiny  Commission.  We  want  all  our  children  and  young  people  to  have  access  to 
 the  right  support  at  the  right  time  from  local  services  and  to  be  able  to  travel  easily  to  a  great 
 inclusive  local  school,  which  engages  with  their  neighbourhood  parent/carer  community.  We 
 want  all  our  children  and  young  people  to  be  in  schools  and  to  access  services  which  fairly 
 reflect     the     diversity     of     the     Hackney     community. 

 2.  Recommendations 

 2.1.  Commission     members     are     asked     to     note     the     contents     of     this     report. 

 3.  Background 

 3.1.  In     2022     Hackney     launched     its     SEND     Strategy     2022     -     25.     The     workstreams     and     outcomes     are 
 linked     to     the     underpinning     principles     of     the     SEND     Strategy: 

 ●  Listening     to     our     children     and     young     people 
 ●  Co-production 
 ●  Outstanding     communication 

 1 Page 12



 ●  Transparency 
 ●  Multi-agency     working 
 ●  Data     quality 
 ●  Excellence     and     ambition 

 3.2.  The     Action     Plan     has     identified     10     workstreams     with     desired     outcomes,     linked     to     the     SEND 
 Strategy: 

 Workstream     1  -     Establish     and     implement     the     use     of  a     comprehensive     performance     dataset. 

 Outcome     1     -     Management     information,     comparative     data     and     analytic     techniques     used     to 
 identify     need     and     commission     services     and     support. 

 Workstream     2  -     Align     systems,     processes     and     teams  for     early     help,     EHCP     referral     and 
 Assessment 

 Outcome     2     -     systems     and     processes     designed     and     aligned     from     initial     engagement     to 
 assessment     and     support     to     achieve     high     level     of     user     satisfaction. 

 Workstream     3     -  Review     and     refresh     service     standards  across     Education,     Health     and     Social 
 Care. 

 Outcome     3     -     performance     standards     are     quantified,     monitored     and     met.     Statutory     and     user 
 satisfaction     targets     achieved. 

 Workstream     4     -  Continue     to     implement     the     Estate     Strategy 

 Outcome     4     -     Children     and     young     people     with     EHC     Plans     are     supported     and     educated     locally 
 by     the     provision     of     300     additional     specialist     placements. 

 Workstream     5  -  Align     systems     and     processes     for     transition  to     adulthood 

 Outcome     5     -     Seamless     transition     along     well     designed     outcome     focused     pathways     for 
 adulthood. 

 Workstream     6     -  Review     and     refresh     the     parent     carer  forum 

 Outcome     6     -     Parent     Carer     Forum     embedded     in     the     co-production     of     strategies     and     plans. 

 Workstream     7     -  Strengthen     and     diversify     the     Continued  Professionals     Development     Plans 
 for     all     staff. 

 Outcome     7     -     Appropriately     tiered     CPD     offer     available     for     all     staff. 

 Workstream     8     -  Design     and     implement     a     joint     commissioning  strategy     between     education, 
 health     and     care. 

 Outcome     8     -     Effective     outcome     focused     services     and     support     jointly     commissioned     by     all 
 partners 

 Workstream     9     -  Develop     and     implement     an     ARP     Strategy 

 Outcome     9     -     ARP     Strategy     and     Plan     delivering     high     quality     education     and     support     for 
 children     with     EHC     Plans. 

 Workstream     10     -  Review     the     funding     model     for     SEND 

 Outcome     10     -     Funding     model     based     on     national     research     and     affordability     that     demonstrates 
 improved     outcomes     for     children     and     young     people. 

 3.3.  Partners     across     Education,     Health     and     Care     and     local     parents,     carers     and     young     people     have 
 been     involved     in     the     development     of     the     Action     Plan     to     ensure     that     services     for     children     and 
 families     with     SEND     are     designed     and     working     in     a     coherent     way,     that     leads     to     positive     change. 

 2 Page 13



 Appendices 

 Appendix     1     -     Hackney     SEND     Local     Area     Action     Plan     2022-25 

 Report     originator:  Joe     Wilson,     Head     of     SEND 

 Date:  14     February     2023 

 Cleared     by:  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education     and     inclusion 

 3 Page 14



P
age 15



Contents

Contents 1

Statement of intent 2

Underpinning Principles - SEND Strategy Vision: 3

SEND Governance & Monitoring 4
SEND Strategic Partnership Board 4

Ten essential workstreams and outcomes of the SEND Action Plan 6
Workstream 1 - Establish and implement the use of a comprehensive performance dataset 8
Workstream 2 - Align systems, processes, and teams for Early Help and EHCP referral and assessment 10
Workstream 3 - Review and refresh service standards across education, health, and social care 11
Workstream 4 - Continue to implement the Estate Strategy 13
Workstream 5  - Align systems and processes for transitioning to adulthood 14
Workstream  6 - Review and refresh the Parent Carer Forum 15
Workstream 7  - Strengthen and diversify the CPD offer for all staff 16
Workstream 8  - Design and implement a Joint Commissioning Strategy between education, health, and social care 17
Workstream 9  - Develop and implement an ARP strategy 18
Workstream 10 - Review the funding model for SEND 19

Further SEND Improvement work 20
Align the work of School improvement team and SEND 20

1

P
age 16



Statement of intent

A review of the local area’s SEND provision was commissioned by the Group Director of Children and Education to support the process of scrutiny and
evaluation of SEND and the current strengths and areas for development since the Local Area SEND inspection in November 2017. The review
recognised progress has been made and highlights current strengths. It also identifies what remains to be done to secure a strong and effective service
for children and young people with SEND. The report acknowledges the recently published SEND Green Paper ( 29th March 2022), aligns what
remains to be done with some of the key Green Paper proposals. The review acknowledges “There is a lot of activity and willingness to improve the
situation but there is no overall strategy. There are ‘too many spinning plates’ without a coherent, RAG rated, costed strategic plan with clear
timescales and measures of success”. It also recognises the “The progress towards addressing the areas for improvement identified in the SEND area
review in 2017, has been too slow”.

The following strategic three-year plan covering ten essential workstreams (aligning to the recommendations in the LA review) brings a coherent and
structured programme approach to the changes required to secure strong and effective services for children and young people. The plan draws upon
the principles and objectives in the SEND Strategy ( 2022) , the analysis from the SEND Needs Analysis paper (SNAP May 2021), the draft Self
Evaluation ( Jan 2023) and Hackney Education’s three year improvement plan.  The plan links to other work programmes, such as the implementation
of Synergy and partners programmes to ensure that a holistic and coordinated programme of work can be effectively executed.

2

P
age 17



Underpinning Principles - SEND Strategy Vision

3

P
age 18



SEND Governance

[draft]

4

P
age 19



Individual projects may have their own detailed governance in addition.

SEND Partnership Board
● The workstreams will be robustly and regularly monitored by the SEND Strategic Partnership Board reviewing milestones.
● Partners and commissioned providers are held to account for quality and outcomes.
● The Board is held accountable for delivery at the highest level within the statutory partners and agencies

Action: to review the terms of reference and membership of this board to ensure the group acts as above.

Terms Of Reference: ToR SEND Local Area Partnership Board - Mar 2021
The membership and review of this will be included on the agenda annually.

Leads Director of Education and Group Director of Children and Education with planning group

Hackney's Joint Local
Area SEND Inspection
2017 -

Relevant
development
comments 2017

■ The partnership board does not always focus rigorously enough on leading and evaluating the most
urgent priorities for improvement. The DMO is unable to  attend the SEN and/or disabilities
partnership board very often. The impact of this  is that the DMO is not in a position to directly
influence strategic direction and  ensure that health matters are considered in the board’s work.

Progress 2017 - 2022 What progress has been made since the above observation in 2017?
There is both Designated Medical Officer and Designated Clinical Officer leadership at the SEND
Board and at strategic planning level.
The SEND Partnership Board has had new leadership under the Director of Education, with a cross
service executive planning group since September 2021. Workstreams have progressed during this
period.

—---------------------------------

Creation of SEND transformation programme team

To assist in the delivery of the strategic plan a small programme team has been created. The team will assist partners to deliver agreed actions and
monitor against the agreed plan.  The programme director will report to Hackney Education’s SLT and the SEND Partnership Board.

● Lead programme director: Head of High Needs and School Places.
● Programme team:

○ Programme lead,

5

P
age 20



○ 3 project officers (including health),
○ External support on SEND data analysis, financial modelling and SEND systems and processes.

The team will work alongside commissioners, providers and services sometimes “embedded” in partner structures.

Monitoring progress and impact

SEND Senior Management Team  -  this group will include the leads for each workstream to ensure that progress is reviewed and accurately reported
to the SEND Partnership Board and SEND Executive Board.  This includes reporting quarterly:

● RAG rated detailed SEND progress report providing updates on milestones reached from this plan.
● SEND Risk register -  Any identified risks will be detailed in the risk register and the Risk ID will be referenced below against the appropriate

action plan. Each workstream lead is responsible to keep an accurate log on risks and updates.

Project specific working groups will be formed under each work stream as needed and including regular reporting.

6

P
age 21



Ten essential workstreams and outcomes of the SEND Action Plan

7

P
age 22



8

P
age 23



Action Plan - format explained
Each Workstream 1 to 10 is taken from the development recommendations in the Local Area SEND Report 2022

Leads:
Accountable members of the SEND Local Partnership and responsible partner teams responsible for
the delivery of the improvement plan will be listed under each workstream.

Linked Strategies Relevant interdependent strategies and plans across the partnership will be listed.

Hackney's Joint Local
Area SEND Inspection
2017 -

Relevant
development
comments 2017

Hackney's joint local area SEND inspection report - 2017 development areas from 2017 which link to
our current work streams will be directly extracted and listed here.

If the workstream wasn't referenced then this section will be removed.

Progress 2017 -
2022

Progress on the above development areas during 2017 -2022 will be listed here against each
workstream.

Key Concerns - SEND Report July 2022 Objectives Outcome / success criteria
[will be used to assess impact and progress]

Extracts will be taken directly from the Local Area
SEND Report below - including recommended next
steps and areas for development will be listed
under ‘key concerns’ for each relevant workstream

Objectives will be numbered here to address
each of the ‘key concerns’ listed .

Outcomes aligning to each objective will be
included in this section and they will include detail
on measurable success criteria . This will be used
to assess impact and progress.

9

P
age 24



10

P
age 25



Workstream 1 - Establish and implement the use of a comprehensive performance dataset

Leads: Member of SEND partnership / Head of MISA

Linked Strategies
● SEND Strategy: Priority One - Outstanding Provision and Services (Key underpinning principle

6 is data quality)
● Hackney Education 3 Year plan: Priority 4 -Ensure that the education system in Hackney

remains strong, sustainable, local and responsive, and that this enables high performance in
all settings and schools.

Key Concerns - SEND Report July 2022 Objectives Outcome / success criteria

1) This should cover all aspects of SEND and
link education, health, and social care
elements. This essential management tool
will provide a baseline and springboard for
monitoring and evaluating performance
and outcomes.

2) The data to inform strategic planning is
unreliable. Officers do use what is
available to inform decisions and there are
positive examples of it being well used
such as the phased approach to place
expansion and the location of those
places.

3) The systems for monitoring and holding
services to account are underdeveloped.
While service members told us about
individual service standards such as
response times, there is no overall reliable
method such as a RAG rated action plan
with clear timescales for monitoring their
delivery. The examples shared indicated a
prevalence of operational service

1) Create a reliable, comprehensive &
dynamic SEND local area data dashboard
to aid strategic decision making and
commissioning [linking link education,
health, and social care elements].

2) Integrate placement and financial
decisions as part of the Better Value
programme to rebalance the high needs
block spend.

3) Develop Synergy ( and other tactical
systems)  to report on the statutory
assessment and planning process and
accurately complete the SEN 2 census.

1) Data needs to be robust to understand
trends and patterns.

2) Shared understanding of our SEND
population and the impact of what we are
delivering (what is and is not working).

3) We will use our data to inform decision
making and evaluate progress. We will be
transparent with our data when
co-producing with parents and carers.

11

P
age 26



standards as against ones focused on
children’s outcomes.

4) Link with workstream 4 - Whilst the Estate
Strategy is focused on capital investment,
leaders must have access to dynamic data
on assessment places, funded mainstream
place, ARP places and Special School
places to support their ongoing plan

12

P
age 27



Workstream 2 - Align systems, processes, and teams for Early Help and EHCP referral and
assessment

Leads: Head of Service Family intervention & Early Help implementation Board.

Linked Strategies
● SEND Strategy: Priority Two - An Earlier Response
● Hackney Education 3 Year plan: Priority 2 - Working with schools, settings and partners in

promoting safeguarding, wellbeing and inclusion for every child (including provision for
children with SEND in mainstream schools, reducing exclusions, anti-racism and recovery
from Covid).

Hackney's Joint Local
Area SEND Inspection
2017 -

Relevant
development
comments 2017

● Parents and provider leaders told inspectors that they see the involvement of social care in the
EHCP process as a weaker aspect of assessment and review. There was little input from
social care into EHCPs sampled during the inspection. Leaders of providers visited typically
agreed that the greater involvement of social care is an area for development.

Progress 2017 - 2022 The Early Help Hub has been developed, meaning that requests for Early Help will be made via one
‘request for support’ form and will be screened by a dedicated Early Help team within the
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub. One assessment form and process will be embedded for all Early
Help assessments delivered by Hackney Council.

Work to streamline access via a single point of access to CAMHS has been developed in parallel with
the Early Help Hub. There is commitment to integrate these to have a single point of access.

Key Concerns - SEND Report July 2022 Objectives Outcome / success criteria

1. Officers and health professionals
acknowledge the overlap that can occur
when children and young people first present
and when pathways are first being planned.
This alignment will enable duplication to be
avoided and miscommunication to be
addressed. Families should then truly
experience a ‘single front door’.

1. Develop a consistent interface and
delivery pathway between early help and
the Graduated Approach to include
health, education and social care.

2. Increased referral rates for education
early help

3. Decreased referrals for EHCPs
4. Increased referral rates for education

1. Families should experience a ‘single front
door’ leading into appropriate assessment
and support pathways.

2. We will use EHCP referral data to establish
whether there is an increase in referrals for
education early help

3. We will use EHCP referral data to establish
whether referrals for EHCPs have

13

P
age 28



2. The interface with EHCPs between health,
social care and health needs are improving
but not yet consistent. There does not
appear to be a consistent interface between
early help and SEND.

early help
5. Improved feedback from schools relating

to SEND support services

decreased
4. EHCP referral data
5. Increased referral rates from EYFS

settings, Feedback from school and
settings

Workstream 3 - Review and refresh service standards across education, health, and social care

14

P
age 29



Leads: Strategic Lead of Children and Young People - NHS

Linked Strategies
● SEND Strategy: Priority One - Outstanding Provision and Services &  Priority Four - Joining up

our Services
● Hackney Education 3 Year plan: Priority 2 - Working with schools, settings and partners in

promoting safeguarding, wellbeing and inclusion for every child (including provision for
children  with SEND in mainstream schools, reducing exclusions, anti-racism and recovery
from Covid).
Education manifesto commitment 307 - Undertaking a multi-agency approach, we will
commission a cross-borough Task and Finish Group comprising of representatives from local
groups such as education providers, social services and CAMHS services to resolve systemic
concerns raised by schools and colleges. This includes:
- Funding disputes between Islington and Hackney Councils for SEN students.
- Challenges around EHC plans and interborough arrangements.
- Difficulties faced by families in navigating the system – No Child Left Behind

Hackney's Joint Local
Area SEND Inspection
2017 -

Relevant
development
comments 2017

■ Though there has been some improvement in meeting the 20-week assessment  timescale, too
many assessments are still not completed quickly enough. Leaders  have recognised this as a
concern and an action plan has been put in place which  aims to improve performance.
■ Leaders recently identified a need for training to be given to EHCP coordinators to  ensure that
changes applied nationally regarding the required timescales are applied correctly.
■ Parents, children and young people are sometimes left unnecessarily concerned  about their
support after an unsuccessful assessment application for an EHCP.
■ Parents and provider leaders told inspectors that they see the involvement of  social care in the
EHCP process as a weaker aspect of assessment and review.  There was little input from social care
into EHCPs sampled during the inspection.  Leaders of providers visited typically agreed that the
greater involvement of social  care is an area for development.
■ EHCPs sampled did not always reflect all the health needs of children and young  people. The
range of health professionals already involved with a child included  within this process was also not
reflected. This means that important information  may be missed and wider health needs may not be
considered.
■ Health assessments for children in care are not currently aligned with EHCP  assessments. This
means that information is collected twice and families have to  tell their story again.
■ There is no formal process to involve health visitors, school nurses and children’s  community
nurses in the education, health and care assessment process nor the  development of plans.
Assessments for continuing care undertaken by children’s community nurses are not aligned with
assessments for EHCPs. As a  consequence, parents have to tell their story more than once and
valuable

15

P
age 30



information that could help inform plans may be missed.
■ Parents, carers and young people who speak languages other than English or  those less confident
in navigating information find the local offer hard to use. This leads to frustration and concern when
effective provision is discovered after a  significant amount of time has elapsed.
■The decisions made by the panel appointed to consider assessment requests are  sometimes
focused on compliance at the expense of flexibility to meet the
individual needs of the child concerned.
■Leaders have provided funding for a designated clinical officer (DCO) role to  support the work of the
DMO and increase capacity. However, a recent attempt  to recruit to this post has not been
successful.

Progress 2017 - 2022 ● An increase in the rate of EHC Plans being completed within 20 weeks
● A comprehensive training programme is now in place for EHC Coordinators both internally and

via external trainers. Caseworkers are beginning to complete National caseworker awards
● Systems are being developed to ensure that children going through the assessment process

receive advice from Early Help services
● Systems are in place so that all health needs relevant to a child are included in a child’s EHC

Plan. This work is ongoing.
● The Local offer is currently undergoing a refresh so that it is more user friendly. The website

has a translation function.
● The EHC Panel process has been developed to include professionals from across Education,

Health and Care. This helps to place the child at the centre of decision making.
● A DCO and DMO are now in place.

Key Concerns - SEND Report July 2022 Objectives / Outcome Measure / success criteria

1. The standards must address ‘system and
process’ management challenges such as
wait times, communication, and quality.
They must also address ‘customer
experience’ using the voice of the child
and their parents. They must be both
operational and experiential.

2. Waiting times are too long in SALT, Autism
assessment (12-13 months for

1. Revise and publish on the Local Offer
agreed service standards. (co-produced
work required to agree the scope and
definition of the standards)

2. Ensure service reports include a
methodology to capture and report
feedback and customer experience from
child and parent/carers to improve

1. Measurable “service standards”
demonstrate how we commit to working
with families and what they can expect
from our services.

2. The Partnership is informed of the lived
experience of our children and families.

3. Within an appropriate timescales provide
agreed interventions and support.

16

P
age 31



under-fives) and CAMHs. While all these
services provide a form of early
intervention so that support can begin
before the assessment is made, the delays
create frustration and stress amongst
parents and providers.

3. The OT service is not currently meeting
the needs parents and providers identify.
This seems mainly due to the service
model which appears to limit their
contribution to functional as against
sensory skills.

4. There is a move towards speeding up the
assessment process by removing the
requirement for an EP assessment. This
has resulted in some confusion as to
whether educational psychology
assessments are required for an EHCP to
be granted.

5. The progress towards addressing the
areas for improvement identified in the
SEND area review in 2017, has been too
slow. We heard about weaknesses in
services and systems that lead ultimately
to experiences that leave parents and
providers frustrated. These include long
waiting times, assessment and review
paperwork being mismanaged, (lost or not
updated), and children once they have
received a diagnosis experiencing further
delay before receiving a plan.

6. Communication was strong where people
have made good relationships but less
effective when reliant on systems and
procedures.

customer experience and agree approach
to collating for the Board

3. Waiting list information, mitigation plans,
and escalation processes are transparent
and available to the Board.

3b Where there are waiting list challenges,
there is Partnership oversight of the
system’s response to how to offer early
support /hold the risk

4. A review of commissioned OT services is
undertaken with the services and parent
representatives

This may be moved to Joint
Commissioning Workstream tbc
[Jointly commissioned Speech and
Language and Occupational
Therapy services]

5. Training for the EHCP team and wider
multidisciplinary team  is included in the
‘team around the school’ approach and the
graduated response.

6. SEND Local Area inspection finding 2017
linked to workstreams to ensure the
weaknesses have been addressed. If not,
prepare a rectification plan.

7. a.Deliver “outstanding communication” as
defined in the SEND Strategy. Establish a
process to ensure all work streams have

4. We will use financial monitoring to
measure success.

All action effectively discharged.

Systematic feedback and communicated is
acted upon to improve the lived
experience.

5. Skilled practitioners with good
relationships with providers and parents.

6. Each workstream on this plan includes the
2017 inspection findings which are
relevant and comments on the work
progressed since to address. Any
outstanding items for rectification are
included as objectives and outcomes in
this Action Plan.

7. Parents and carers feel well informed,
involved, and listened to in the EHC
process. They report strong
communication in feedback [link to
coproduction action items in workstream
6].

8. Improved the 20 week statutory timescales
by 20% from a base of 55% to 75% by
December 2022. [20 week timescale data
SEND place planning data]

17

P
age 32



7. The Planning Coordinator team works well
where there is a good relationship
between provider and coordinator.
However, many providers’ and parents
described a negative experience, due to a
range of issues including –
communication, quality of plans, low
attendance at annual reviews and lack of
adherence to timescales.

an underlying principle that communicates
and co produces  support and services.

7.b. Provide structured and
comprehensive training and support for the
EHC assessment and planning team.

8. Improved 20 week timescales

9. All children and young people with
complex needs are reviewed at the Joint
Agency Panel

10. Jointly commissioned IAG service

11. A refreshed SEND Services operating
model

9. We will use the Joint Agency Panel Data
to establish whether all children and young
people with complex needs are reviewed

10. We will use feedback from children, young
people and their families and well as
commissioning outcomes data

11. Feedback from children, young people and
families.

18

P
age 33



Workstream 4 - Continue to implement the Estate Strategy

Leads: Assistant Director Head of High Needs and School Places

Linked Strategies
● SEND Strategy Priority One - Outstanding Provision and Services
● Hackney Ed - 3 year plan - Priority 3 - Priority (3): Providing quality places for every child 0-19

- implementing the school place strategy (including SEND and OJ) and supporting our schools

19

P
age 34



through change; leading on a post 16 strategy; transforming children centres [Ensure that
there is an increased local SEND provision offer]

Hackney's Joint Local
Area SEND Inspection
2017 -

Relevant
development
comments 2017

● Leaders monitor trends and gaps in provision. While officers can describe the  presenting
pressures, there is not an evidenced link with the commissioning of  mainstream and specialist
high-needs places.

● Education manifesto commitment 77 - We are firmly committed to improving the provision of
SEND education in Hackney, including providing at least 300 more in-house places in
council-maintained schools.

● Education manifesto commitment 85 - We will continue to develop and deliver our Autism and
SEND Strategies, ensuring they are fully integrated and recognise both areas of increased
demand for support as well as the wider range of additional needs, from social, emotional and
mental health, to visual and hearing impairment, and the children and young people who
benefit from the Disabled Children’s and Short Breaks services.

Progress 2017 - 2022 The use of evidenced based provision planning in place with the SEND Needs Analysis Paper and
been developed into our Education Sufficiency & Estate Strategy . 84 New SEND places were
created 2020- 2022. This work to create more places over the next 10 years is detailed in the strategy
paper, information on the progress can be seen on the Local Offer.

Key Concerns - SEND Report July 2022 Objectives Outcome / success criteria

This carefully considered plan to ensure adequacy
of provision has got off to a strong start. It will be
further enhanced by the proposed investments
identified in the Green Paper for SEND, AP and
respite places. The Estate Strategy leaders must
keep the ‘Waves’ under continuous review so that
supply continues to keep up with demand. Whilst
the Estate Strategy is focused on capital
investment, leaders must have access to dynamic
data on assessment places, funded mainstream
place, ARP places and Special School places to
support their ongoing plan

1. Provision of 300 additional needs places to
educate and care for children & young
people in local settings and schools.

2. Reduce the reliance on non-maintained
and independent schools.

3. Ensure social care and health provision
matches the growth in places.

4. Send Needs Analysis Paper to be updated
in 2023, and trends about needs in the
Mime consultancy reports will be reviewed
to ensure continuous review of
supply/demand [further dynamic data
improvement work linked in workstream 1].

1. High quality education and care for
children & young people in local settings
and schools.

20

P
age 35



Workstream 5  - Align systems and processes for transitioning to adulthood

Leads: Head of SEND and Additional Support

Linked Strategies
● SEND Strategy: Priority Three - Preparing for Adulthood
● Hackney Ed - 3 year plan: Priority 3 - Priority (3): Providing quality places for every child 0-19 -

21

P
age 36



implementing the school place strategy (including SEND and OJ) and supporting our schools
through change; leading on a post 16 strategy; transforming children centres [pg  20]

Hackney's Joint Local
Area SEND Inspection
2017 -

Relevant
development
comments 2017

● Some parents are not sufficiently aware of what is available to young people after  the age of
16. Young people have expressed a wish for more options and support  into employment and
independent living. Some parents and young people remain  concerned about the academic
and social impact on the need to move schools after the end of key stage 4. Parents of some
young people with complex needs  told of options running out for them between the ages of 16
and 25.

● Transition planning for young people after the age of 19 is not as coherent as it
could be due to limited engagement by adult social care professionals.

Progress 2017 - 2022 There is a relatively well established pathway for young people aged 18+  who meet the Adult Social
Care criteria transitioning from Children's to Adults Social Care. Close links between CAMHS disability
service and integrated learning disability service have been established.

Key Concerns - SEND Report July 2022 Objectives Outcome / success criteria

● This significant phase in a young person’s
life must be eased through routine review
and assessment processes beginning in
Year 8 or earlier where needs are known.
The commissioning of specialist pathways
16-19 and to 25 where required should
reflect the known needs and aspirations of
Hackney’s young people with SEND. The
identification of supported internships is
already a key feature and should continue
to be nurtured.

● Communication was strong where people
have made good relationships but less
effective when reliant on systems and
procedures.

1. The commissioning of specialist pathways
16-19 and to 25 to reflect the known needs
and aspirations of Hackney’s young
people with SEND. [Improved transition
pathways into post 16 settings]

2. Routine review and assessment processes
beginning in Year 8 (9) or earlier where
needs are known.

3. Deliver “outstanding communication” as
defined in the SEND Strategy. Establish a
process to ensure all work streams have
an underlying principle that communicates
and co produces  support and services.
Linked specifically to workstream  3.

4. Increased numbers of young people
transferring from children’s to adult’s social
care at 16

5. Increased local provision for 16 - 25 year

1. The needs and aspirations of Hackney’s
young people with SEND are met through
the preparing for adulthood programme.
We will look at transition data to establish
whether the objective has been met.

2. Young people and their families have a
good sense of possible pathways and
opportunities from the age of 14

3. We will use school place planning data to
establish whether this objective has been
met

4. Improved feedback from young people and
their families

22

P
age 37



olds

Workstream  6 - Review and refresh the Parent Carer Forum

23

P
age 38



Leads: Head of SEND / Project Support Manager

Linked Strategies
● SEND Strategy Priority One - Outstanding Provision and Services & Key underpinning

principle 2  is Co-production
● Hackney Education 3 Year plan: Priority 5 - Supporting parenting and engaging

parents/carers.
● Education manifesto commitment 83 - We will support and engage school pupil forums,

encouraging them to be representative of all Hackney children, involving children and young
people with additional needs, and offering a dedicated platform to those who wish to raise
issues on SEND.

● Education manifesto commitment 84 - We will bring together the core principles and priorities
in SEND as shared with us by children, young people, parents and carers, recognising the
importance of communication, co-production, access to information, accountability and
excellent provision.

● Education manifesto commitment  306 - Co-create a 2-year pilot programme for paid SEN
Advocates (with lived experience) to engage with school parents evenings, governor meetings
and other local policy discussions

Hackney's Joint Local
Area SEND Inspection
2017 -

Relevant
development
comments 2017

● The joint production of services as a result of the reforms is well established. However,
parents and some provision leaders are concerned about how little they have felt involved in
developing strategy for the future funding of services. This has contributed to their fears and
uncertainties about ongoing provision for children and young people. This appears to be
undermining some of the trust built up through other effective co-production work (a way of
working where children and young people, families and those that provide the services work
together to create a decision or a service which works for them all).

Progress 2017 - 2022 There is attendance from parents at the SEND partnership board from HIP. Further detailed work with
onboarding the new PCF and co production work and training is detailed below.

Key Concerns - SEND Report July 2022 Objectives Outcome / success criteria

● This service provides an essential space
for parents and carers to be supported and
feel that they are not alone. Leaders must
address the identified weaknesses in this
service. They must ensure that it is

1. Appoint a host provider to help develop a
new parent carer forum, this process
should be coproduced with local parent
carers

1. Parents and Carers feel supported
2. The Parent Carer Forum is a strategic

partner
3. The Parent Carer Forum gathers and

collates information from parent carers

24

P
age 39



restored to one that is accountable and
effective in supporting parents of children
with SEND and valued by parents, officers,
and providers alike.

● The lack of an effective Parents Forum is a
significant weakness. In one parent
meeting, 4 out of the 9 spoke about tribunal
experiences resulting in successful
placement for their child and that these
were last resorts.

2. Offer training and development to our
parent carer forum leads and members to
support their work with professionals

3. Build on the work of the SEND Pupil
Voice to improve the lived experience of
C&YP.

about what they see as SEND priorities
4. The Parent Carer Forum is supported by

the host organisation with infrastructure
[governance, ICT systems…]

5. The Parent Carer Forum is representative
of local parent carers

6. The Parent Carer Forum and Local Area
have a joint understanding of coproduction

7. C&YP feel heard and their lived
experiences improved

8. Creation of a service which works for CYP
and their families.

25

P
age 40



Workstream 7  - Strengthen and diversify the CPD offer for all staff, particularly in education

Leads: Principal EP and Interim Principal Advisor (Primary)

Linked Strategies
● SEND Strategy: Priority One - Outstanding Provision and Services
● Hackney Education 3 Year plan: Priority 2 - Working with schools, settings and partners in

promoting safeguarding, wellbeing and inclusion for every child (including provision for
children with SEND in mainstream schools, reducing exclusions, anti-racism and recovery
from Covid) [Support schools in their development of a staff highly skilled in teaching and
supporting children with SEND]

● Education manifesto commitment 62 - We will liaise with schools to ensure a whole school
commitment to the principles of inclusion, and highlight the Inclusion Quality Mark which
demonstrates and celebrates the work that schools do to support diversity. This will include
working with our Alternative Provision providers to partner with schools, young people, families
and carers where children are at risk of exclusion. We will monitor and review the Alternative
Provision database to ensure the offer meets the needs of our children and young people.

Hackney's Joint Local
Area SEND Inspection
2017 -

Relevant
development
comments 2017

● Leaders recently identified a need for training to be given to EHCP coordinators to ensure that
changes applied nationally regarding the required timescales are applied correctly.

Progress 2017 - 2022 An extensive SEND Workforce development plan has been developed - focusing on training SEND
staff, partnership colleagues and schools

Key Concerns - SEND Report July 2022 Objectives Outcome / success criteria

● There has been a strong start with a free
offer to school staff. However, many school
staff have skills and knowledge that are
now beyond entry level. The CPD offer
must be co-produced and co-delivered
with partners and providers, including the
Training School Hub, Special Schools, and
Nursery Schools. It must include directly
delivered and commissioned elements. It

1. Sufficiently graduate the CPD programme
to meet the range of training needs now
and in the immediate future.

2. Ensuring that the CPD provided is needs
-led i.e. it responds to the level of need
that schools and settings are expressing

3. Engagement with all schools on inclusive
practice supported through school
improvement, the development of an

● Skilled workforce supported by a
comprehensive continuing professional
development offer.

● The CPD links closely with the priority
areas of need that are identified through
requests for EHC Needs Assessments to
inform training and development.

● Reduction in requests for EHC Needs
Assessments for pupils with high incidence

26

P
age 41



must take account of the aspirations of the
Green Paper. This means including an
ECT element, links with the new SENCo
National Professional Qualification and
joint training for SEND governors and
SENCOs.

● The planned continuing professional
development (CPD) programme in SEND
will be free at the point of delivery. This
programme is not graduated sufficiently
well to meet the range of training needs
now and in the immediate future.

inclusion charter and a strengthened
SEND training offer.

4. School improvement and SEND meet
bi-annually to review the CPD offer and
ensure alignment

5. There is a consistent understanding of and
approach to delivery of an autism strategy
within and across schools and the
Partnership

needs
● School improvement and SEND CPD

annual offer is aligned and more integrated
through bi-annual meetings

● Schools share positive feedback on
professional advice and support via
SENCO forum/service questionnaires and
other key sources.

● Schools will continue to buy into the traded
offer for the following year.

27

P
age 42



Workstream 8  - Design and implement a Joint Commissioning Strategy between education, health,
and social care

Leads: Integrated Commissioning Workstream Director / Assistant Director Head of High Needs & School
Places

Linked Strategies
● SEND Strategy Priority Four - Joining up our Services
● Hackney Education 3 Year plan: Priority 2 - Working with schools, settings and partners in

promoting safeguarding, wellbeing and inclusion for every child (including provision for
children with SEND in mainstream schools, reducing exclusions, anti-racism and recovery
from Covid).

Hackney's Joint Local
Area SEND Inspection
2017 -

Relevant
development
comments 2017

● Some joint commissioning projects are still at an early stage of development. An  example of
this is the inclusion of young people in the ‘integrated joint commissioning panel’ aimed at
strengthening post-16 options.

Progress 2017 - 2022 Joint Agency panel and Future commissioning arrangements

Key Concerns - SEND Report July 2022 Objectives Outcome / success criteria

● This strategy will identify opportunities for
strong and sustainable commissioned
arrangements. These will be based on
evidence from the JSNA and from
feedback from officers, partners, providers,
and parents. It will be an enabler for many
of the workstreams already identified.

● Commissioning arrangements are at a
very early stage and currently operating
within departments rather than jointly
across the strategic partners

1. Prepare a joint commissioning framework
for C&YP  aged  0-25 years old with
SEND. The framework to identify need and
use available resources to meet needs
and deliver the specified impact and
outcomes.

As a strategic partnership jointly understand the
SEND population needs, plan and deliver
services, measure impact and outcomes.

Review, where appropriate existing section 75
agreements within an agreed timescale.

28

P
age 43



29

P
age 44



Workstream 9  - Develop and implement an ARP strategy

Leads: Head of SEND

Linked Strategies
● SEND Strategy Priority One - Outstanding Provision and Services
● Hackney Education 3 Year plan: Priority 3 - Providing quality places for every child 0-19 -

implementing the school place strategy (including SEND and OJ) and supporting our schools
through change; leading on a post 16 strategy; transforming children centres

Key Concerns - SEND Report July 2022 Objectives Outcome / success criteria

ARPs are rapidly becoming an essential part of
the Hackney SEND landscape. They are much
valued as a place where inclusive, supportive
provision enables children and young people with
SEND to be educated alongside their peers. They
have grown organically, and more are planned.
Now is the time to review their offer, develop
service level agreements, identify the best
practice, and establish a commonly agreed
framework within which they will operate.

1. Review of current ARPs - identify best practice

2. Review ARP offer

3. Develop service level agreements (SLA)

4. Health to be part of all reviews and
development of the SLAs /models of care

5. Establish a commonly agreed framework which
ARPS will all operate

ARP review to take place to establish consistency
of practice, impact and outcomes.

Best practice implemented and ARP standards
increase across settings, therefore all C&YP
access the best quality, supportive and inclusive
provision. The right C/YP are placed in
appropriate settings linked to the local continuum
of need.

30

P
age 45



31

P
age 46



Workstream 10  - Review the funding model for SEND

Leads: Assistant Director Head of High Needs & School Places, Director of Education, Head of Education
Finance

Linked Strategies ● SEND Strategy: Priority One - Outstanding Provision and Services
● Hackney Education 3 Year plan: Priority 3 - Providing quality places for every child 0-19 -

implementing the school place strategy (including SEND and OJ) and supporting our schools
through change; leading on a post 16 strategy; transforming children centres

Key Concerns - SEND Report July 2022 Objectives Outcome / success criteria

● The Green Paper proposes to uplift school
budgets. It also proposes to invest
additional funding for children and young
people with complex needs. It proposes to
require local authorities to create AP
funding models focusing on early
intervention as part of the drive to
establish a single SEND and AP system.
Whilst these are all at the ‘proposal’ stage,
leaders should begin now to consider the
effectiveness and impact of current
funding arrangements alongside preparing
for any future changes.

● Leaders should begin now to consider the
effectiveness and impact of current
funding arrangements alongside preparing
for any future changes.

DfE Best Value Programme

● As part of delivering the DfE’s Better
Value Programme create a sustainable
high needs system and balance the
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).

● Balanced DSG - High Needs Block (HNB)
budget

● Statutory partner responsibilities and
contributions are clear and agreed

● All statutory partners' contributions
supporting C&YP were appropriate.

● Setting and schools understand and make
best use of all elements of the funding
formula.

● The interplay between partners is clearly
understood and correctly allocated to
deliver optimal impact.

32

P
age 47



33

P
age 48



Further SEND Improvement work

Align the work of School improvement team and SEND

Leads: Assistant Director Schools Standards and Improvement

Linked Strategies
● Hackney Education 3 Year plan: Priority 1 - Working with schools and settings to enable the

best possible achievement for every child; closing gaps in achievement with a focus on pupils
receiving pupil premium, Turkish Kurdish Cypriot pupils, Caribbean pupils (boys) and Orthodox
Jewish pupils [Ensure that provision for SEND pupils meets needs, is inclusive in ethos, and
results in good levels of achievement].

● Education manifesto commitment 57 - We will maintain Hackney’s record of education
success, and we will work together with our schools to tackle the attainment gap so great
results do not depend on a child’s background or where they live.

● Education manifesto commitment 61 - We will continue to roll out a ‘no need to exclude’ policy
across our schools. We will aim to see a consistent reduction in ‘off-rolling’ and excluded
pupils in Hackney by 2026, and continue to tackle the disproportionality within exclusions of
black children and children with SEND.

Hackney's Joint Local
Area SEND Inspection
2017 -

Relevant
development
comments 2017

■ Too many children who have SEN and/or disabilities are excluded from school,  especially at the
secondary stage. Leaders are acting to address this through  schemes such as the ‘partner
placement scheme’, which some school leaders say  have had a positive impact. However, some
parents and providers remain unconvinced of the impact on reducing exclusions.

Progress 2017 - 2022 The establishment of the re-engagement unit - they support pupils with SEMH needs in primary
school.

Key Concerns - SEND Report July 2022 Objectives Outcome / success criteria

There are insufficient signs of alignment between
SEND and School Improvement. We heard some
comments that school improvement was only for
the mainstream and that SEND was one aspect of

1. Focus the activity of the school
improvement team on children & young
people with SEND.

2. Decreased exclusions for SEND children

3. There is a culture of relentless shared
focus on impact for all children including
those with SEND.

2. Attendance data

34

P
age 49



the agenda. We were told that SEND and School
Improvement operate in parallel rather than in
partnership. Information held by one service is not
necessarily shared with the other. This results in
the potential for skewed rather than full and
accurate profiles of each provider.

and young people 4. Within the School Improvement team,
there is specialism and expertise to meet
these expectations, ensuring SEND is a
regular agenda item with continuing
professional development.

5. Outcomes for children and young people
continue to improve.

6. Specific groups, including Black male
pupils are not disproportionately
represented in the exclusions data and in
the identification of SEMH need.

7. SENDCOs have knowledge and expertise
to monitor implementation and impact of
curriculum to meet needs of pupils with
SEND.

35

P
age 50



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 February     27th     2023 

 Item     5     -      Budget     Monitoring     -     Hackney 
 Education 

 Item     No 

 5 
 Outline 
 Budget     monitoring     is     a     key     function     of     overview     and     scrutiny,     and     the     Commission 
 routinely     monitors     in-year     budgets     for     Hackney     Education,     including     management 
 actions     to     reduce     overspends     and     progress     against     agreed     cost     savings     proposals. 

 To     complement     ongoing     scrutiny,     the     Commission     has     also     requested     additional 
 budget     information     on     the     following     services: 

 -  Children’s     Centres; 
 -  Non-maintained     SEND     commissioning. 

 Attending 
 -  Sajeed     Patni,     Head     of     Finance     Children     and     Education 
 -  Naeem     Ahmed,     Director     of     Finance,     Children,     Education,     Adults,     Health     & 

 Integration 
 -  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education     and     Inclusion 

 Reports 
 -  Hackney     Education     Budget     Monitoring     Report 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Report Title: Hackney Education Finance Update 2022/23 (November
2022) - Period 8

Meeting for: Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission

Date: 27 February 2023

Produced by: Sajeed Patni, Head of Finance (Children and Education)

Authorised by: Paul Senior, Interim Director of Education & Inclusion and
Naeem Ahmed, Director of Finance (Children, Education,
Adults, Health and Integration)

Report Summary

This report provides an annual update to the CYP Scrutiny Commission on the Hackney Education
finance position and identifies the key financial issues and risks.

Hackney Education is forecasting to overspend by circa £4.8m at the end of November 2022
(Period 8). The overspend is mainly as a result of a £5.4m forecast over-spend in Special
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND), offset by a forecast £1.5m of underspends in other
areas of the wider Hackney Education portfolio. The SEND pressures are not unique to Hackney
and many London local authorities are currently grappling with significant deficits in the Dedicated
School Grant (DSG) largely due to significant deficits in the high needs funding allocations from the
government. Demand for services for children with SEND has grown substantially since the
introduction of the Children and Families Act 2014. The government's high needs funding
allocations have not kept up with this increase in demand, leaving many local authorities with
significant deficits.

Officers are looking at developing cost reduction plans and these will take time to develop and
implement. It is important to note the cost reduction proposals will not bring the forecast back in
line with the budget, and this service will require significant levels of additional Government funding
to address this long standing issue. Further information on Hackney’s participation in the Better
Value (SEND) programme is also provided within this report.

The report also provides a more detailed budget breakdown and forecast for Children’s Centres
and the commissioning of Independent and Non-maintained special schools which provide SEND
provision at Appendix 1 of this report.

Page 53



1. Purpose of the report

1.1. This report provides an annual update to the CYP Scrutiny Commission on the Hackney
Education finance position and identifies any financial issues and risks.

2. Recommendations

2.1. The CYP Scrutiny Commission to note Hackney Education's overall financial position as of
November 2022 (Period 8).

2.2. The CYP Scrutiny Commission to note the risk to council finances around the High Needs budget
overspend.

3. Overall Financial Position

3.1. Hackney Education has a budget of £28.1m net of budgeted income of circa £230m. This income
is primarily the Dedicated Schools Grant, of which the majority is passported to schools and early
years settings, or spent on high needs placements.

3.2. At the end of period 8 (November 2022) Hackney Education (HE) is predicting an overspend of
£5.885m. Of this £5.885m, £1.114m relates to the 2022/23 pay award and will be funded centrally,
the non-pay award overspend for HE is £4.771m. Excluding the pay award, the main driver is a
£5.4m pressure in SEND as a result of a significant increase in recent years of children and young
people with Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs), and this increase is expected to continue
in 2022/23. SEND Transport has had corporate budget growth awarded to the service of £1.1m
this year, however the service is still forecasting a £1.6m pressure. This is partly due to increased
activity coupled with increased fuel prices and transport costs. Given the volatility of fuel prices,
this area will need to be monitored closely for the remainder of this financial year. Other areas of
overspend are within Education Operations mainly for the Tomlinson Centre (£0.3m) and
Children’s Centre income collection (£0.5m), and both overspends are mainly influenced by
reduced usage of services post-pandemic.

3.3. The Government formally confirmed its intention to ensure that local authorities are not left with
the burden of SEND cost pressures and have issued new funding regulations which state that
deficits arising from DSG shortfalls will not be met from local authorities’ general funds unless
Secretary of State approval is gained. The statutory override which allowed this deficit balance to
be carried in the Council’s accounts has recently been extended from 31 March 2023 to 31 March
2026 by Government.

3.4. More recently there is uncertainty around the DSG high needs deficit and the treatment of any
deficit post 2025/26. The brought forward SEND deficit in 2022/23 is circa £13.9m, based on
current forecasts this will increase to circa £18.7m by the end of this financial year. This remains a
risk for Hackney in the event there is no further funding provided by the Department for Education
(DfE) to mitigate this balance. Hackney is included in Tranche 2 of the Delivering Better Value (in
SEND) programme which aims to help local authorities maintain effective SEND services,
however the programme aims to provide assistance on deficit recovery actions through a grant of
up to £1.0m, rather than provide direct funding to address the deficit, hence the potential risk to
the Council. Senior officers have held an introductory meeting with representatives of the DfE in
respect to the format and workstreams of the programme, with the detailed work due to
commence from early 2023.

3.5. Table 1 summarises the budgets across Hackney Education divisions/activity groupings and the
forecast variances including those attributed to the 2022/23 pay award . The budgets are net of
income such as traded income or childcare fee income:

Page 2

Page 54



Table 1: Period 8 Education Forecast Summary (£ 000)

Revised
Budget

Service Area

Forecast
Variance
Before

Reserves

Pay award
forecast

Total forecast
Change in Variance
from last month (not
related to pay award)

61,739
High Needs and School

Places
5,408 346 5,754 -

3,748 Education Operations 302 169 471 23

42,320
Early Years, Early Help

and Wellbeing
499 527 1,026 -

1,962
School Standards and

Performance
(10) 72 62 20

10,649
Contingencies and

recharges
(325) - (325) -

137,834
Delegated school

funding to maintained
mainstream schools

(1,103) - (1,103) -

(230,131) DSG income - - - -

28,121
Hackney Education

Total
4,771 1,114 5,885 43

3.6. Table 2 below provides a further breakdown of the forecast against service areas in Hackney
Education and an explanation for significant variances, focusing on the variances which are not
attributed to the pay award:

Table 2: Period 8 Education Forecast - explanation of variances.
Revised
Budget

Service Unit -
Hackney

Education

Forecast
Variance
Before

Reserves

Variance
from Mth 7
Forecast
(Non-Pay
Award)

Narrative

61,739
High Needs and
School Places

5,408 -
Overspends in EHCP’s and inclusive of a projected
£1.6m overspend within SEND Transport.

3,748
Education
Operations

302 23

The Education Operations division is forecasting an
overspend of 302k . This is mainly due to a shortfall
of income for Tomlinson Centre , some over
establishment staffing and Bacs processing
expenditure for payroll, maternity cover and Synergy
software costs.

42,320
Early Years, Early

Help and
Wellbeing

499 -

The overall  forecast for period eight relates to the
children's centre cost centres, there is lower fee
income than budgeted and also increased energy
and agency staff costs are predicted due to the level
of vacancies held pending the review of children’s
centres.

1,962
School Standards
and Performance

(10) 20
A small underspend is predicted as a result of grant
income carried forward from the previous year not
currently predicted to be fully utilised.

10,649
Contingencies and

recharges
(325) -

The year end forecast relates to  a predicted
underspend in the education contingency budget.

Page 3

Page 55



137,834

Delegated school
funding to
maintained
mainstream

schools

(1,103) -

(230,131) DSG income - -

28,121 - 4,771 43

4. Vacancy Factor and Savings

4.1. A vacancy rate savings target of £0.8m has been set for the directorate in 2022-23 and the
forecast assumes that this will be achieved or mitigated within non staffing budgets. Progress
against the target is carefully monitored and tracked by the C&E Senior Management Team
and this will continue to be monitored closely and reported on a monthly basis. Requests to
recruit within Education are submitted via a business case and require joint agreement by the
Heads of HR and Finance before the initiation of any recruitment process, however business
need and safeguarding is considered before any financial considerations.

4.2. Savings for Hackney Education are £117k to be delivered from merging the HE reception with
the HSC, and a review of traded teams. This saving is on track to be delivered this financial
year.

5.         Cost Reduction Proposals

5.1. In addition to budgeted savings further cost reduction measures are being developed. For
Hackney Education, the focus of cost reduction measures will be through further
development of in-borough SEND provision and reviewing SEND transport eligibility. The
cost reduction proposals are being developed and are likely to be delivered in future years.

Initiative Description Target

1 Developing
in-borough SEND
provision

The Council currently spends a significant amount on
independent special schools. There is an ongoing plan to
develop further in-borough provision. The plans are still
being developed and likely savings/ cost avoidance are
being worked up; the timescales for the delivery of these
savings is unlikely to be achieved in 2022-23 and is more
achievable over the medium term.

TBC

2 Reviewing SEND
Transport eligibility

Reviewing the way transport agreements are made for
children and young people with special educational needs
against our legal duties. This will include benchmarking
against local authorities to understand how our offer
compares to others. Again the timescales for the delivery
of these savings are unlikely to be achieved in 2022-23 and
identified as the SEND service is reviewed. In addition, a
review of the transport needs of schools with a view to
implementing more efficient school bus journey scheduling
will be commenced in September, this is likely to yield cost
reductions next financial year.

TBC

Page 4

Page 56



APPENDIX 1

Hackney Education Children’s Centre and SEND Independent and Non-Maintained Special
Schools Budget and Forecast position at November 2022 (not inclusive of 2022/23 pay award
variances).

Page 5

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 February     27th     2023 

 Item     6     -      Cabinet     Q     &     A 

 Item     No 

 6 
 Outline 
 Cabinet     members     who     have     responsibility     for     children     and     young     people's     services 
 are     invited     to     the     Commission     annually,     to     enable     members     to     scrutinise     services 
 within     their     portfolio.      The     Commission     may     identify     up     to     three     service     or     policy 
 areas     on     which     to     focus     its     questioning     which     must     be     notified     to     the     Cabinet 
 member     6     weeks     in     advance     of     the     meeting.      The     Cabinet     member     is     required     to 
 give     a     verbal     response     at     the     meeting. 

 For     this     session,     the     Commission     requested     that     the     Cabinet     member: 

 1.     Update     the     Commission     on     future     plans     for     Children's     Centres? 
 -     Setting     out     prospective     key     decisions     (by     Cabinet)     and     timescales     for     future 
 proposals; 
 -     How     proposals     for     the     development     of     Family     Hubs     (including     additional     funding) 
 relate     to     future     re-configuration     of     children's     centres? 

 2.     Outline     support     available     to     parents     of     children     with     SEND,     in     relation     to: 
 -     Role     of     the     Parent     Carer     Forum     and     plans     to     restart     this? 
 -     Operation     of     SENDiags,     the     nature     of     support     offered     and     accessibility     of     this 
 service; 
 -     How     parents     of     children     with     SEND     are     made     aware     of     their     rights     in     relation     to 
 EHR     legislation; 
 -     Advice,     information     and     support     provided     to     parents     in     the  choice     of     educational 
 placements  for     their     children; 
 -     What     advocacy     or     independent     representation     is     available     to     parents     e.g.     where 
 there     is     dispute     or     challenge     in     relation     to     assessments     /     or     decisions     of     their     child 
 with     SEND. 

 3.     Update     the     Commission     on     service     demand     and     current     waiting     times     for 
 Speech     &     Language     Therapy     and     Educational     Psychology     to     support     children 
 with     SEND? 
 -     To     outline     the     plan     and     or     priorities     among     the     strategic     partnership     (health, 
 education,     social     care)     to     help     reduce     waiting     times     to     maintain     service     accessibility. 

 Attending 
 -  Cllr     Caroline     Woodley 

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 February     27th     2023 

 Item     7     -      Children     and     Families     Annual     Report 

 Item     No 

 7 
 Outline 

 The     Children     and     Families     Annual     Report     is     a     standing     item     on     the     Commission’s 
 annual     work     programme,     to     enable     members     to     review     activity     and     performance 
 across     children’s     social     care. 

 Although     the     report     could     not     be     taken     in     November     2022     as     planned,     it     is     included 
 within     this     agenda     to     enable     members     to     review     its     contents     and     to     submit     questions 
 in     writing.      These     questions     will     then     be     collated     and     submitted     to     Children     and 
 Families     Service     for     a     later     response     which     will     be     published     at     the     next     available 
 agenda. 

 Members     are     asked     to     submit     questions     to     the     Overview     and     Scrutiny     Officer     by     5th 
 March     2023. 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



black
11 mm clearance 
all sides

white
11 mm clearance 
all sides

CMYK
11 mm clearance 
all sides

Annual 
Report  
2021/22

CHILDREN  
& FAMILIES

Working for every child

P
age 63



2

Accessibility statement

“If you require this document in a different
format, please email 

cfscomms@hackney.gov.uk
 
We will consider your request and get back to 
you in the next five working days.”

P
age 64



3

Contents
Foreword by Cllr Bramble 5

Priorities for the year ahead 7

Ofsted focused visit 9

Key data about the Children and Families Service 10

The Experiences and Progress of Children Who Need 
Help and Protection

12

Early Help 13

Early Help Review 13

Young Hackney 15

Youth Justice 16

Domestic Abuse Intervention Service 17

Identifying and responding to children’s needs and 
appropriate thresholds

19

Contacts, referrals and assessments 19

Local Area Designated Officer 22

Making good decisions and providing effective help 23

Strategy Discussions 23

Children supported on Child in Need Plans 25

Children supported through Child Protection Plans 26

Public Law Outline (PLO) and court proceedings 28

Clinical Support 29

Participation and direct work with children  
and families

30

Identifying and responding to all types of  
abuse recognising the vulnerability of specific groups  
of children

32

Safeguarding children during adolescence 32

Neglect 34

Disabled Children’s Service 36

Private Fostering 38

Children missing education 39

The Experiences and Progress of Children in Care and 
Care Leavers

40

Making good decisions for children 41

Information about our looked after children 41

Fostering Service 45

P
age 65



4

Participation and direct work with children in  
care and care leavers

48

Helping and protecting looked after children 50

Independent Chairs and Looked After Child Reviews 50

Health of looked after children 52

Learning 55

Stability and permanence 57

Care arrangement stability 57

Adoption 58

Care Leavers and transitions 59

The Impact of Leaders on Social Work Practice with 
Children and Families 

62

Strategic Leadership 63

Cyber attack 63

Driving improvement 63

Changes to Hackney model of social work 65

Anti-Racism 66

Workforce and caseloads 69

Staff wellbeing 69

Workforce data 70

Recruitment and Retention 71

Learning culture 72

Continuing to strengthen our approach to  
Quality Assurance

72

Financial Update 75

P
age 66



5

Foreword  
Councillor Anntoinette Bramble

Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member 
for Education, Young People and 

Children’s Social Care

I am pleased to introduce the 
Children and Families Service annual 
report for 2021/22.

This has been another challenging 
year as we have continued our 
recovery from both the pandemic 
and the cyber attack in 2022. We 
have hit a key milestone in our 
recovery from the cyber attack with 
the successful reintroduction of 
our case recording system Mosaic 
in April 2022, and I know that 
this has come as a very welcome 
return for our practitioners. We still 
have lots of work to do with the 
development of our system and our 
reporting capability, so this marks 
the beginning of that development, 
and I do not underestimate the 
significant efforts that colleagues 
across the Service have made to get 
us to this position. 

Our improvement progress was 
recognised during a positive focused 
visit by Ofsted in September 2022, 
who came to look at the experiences 
of arrangements for ‘front door’ 

services, including decision-making 
and thresholds for referrals about 
children, child protection  enquiries, 
decisions to step up or down from 
early help, and emergency action 
out of hours. I am delighted with the 
recognition of our strong practice in 
this area and will be working with 
leaders to drive our improvement 
actions even further to address the 
recommendations made during 
the visit. These recommendations 
included the need to strengthen our 
supervision arrangements, and to 
ensure caseloads are manageable 
so that cases can be transferred in a 
timely way to the correct team.

Our entire community was shocked 
to learn of the experiences of Child 
Q. This has led us to redouble our 
focus on anti-racism. I was very 
proud to be part of our first Anti 
Racist Praxis Conference in May 
2022, focusing on the process of 
unmasking, repairing and preventing 
the hidden wounds of racial 
trauma, in attempts to address 
racialised trauma experienced within 

services by our Black and Global 
Majority children and families. The 
conference was followed by a week 
of learning for our staff with a series 
of keynote speakers and several 
workshops across four days, aiming 
to equip staff with vital knowledge 
and skills to begin to understand 
and unpick the trauma of racial 
oppression.

We have opened ourselves up to 
learning as never before - over 
the past year we have had a 
number of peer reviews and good 
practice visits by experts from the 
Government to shine a light on our 
good practice and help us think 
about improvements we need to 
make.  This has included a peer 
review by the Local Government 
Association (LGA) looking at our 
offer to vulnerable adolescents in 
February 2022, which found that we 
have shown incredible resilience and 
commitment to our families during 
a very challenging period. The peer 
review team reviewed 16 of our 
adolescent cases and were highly 

complimentary 
about our child-
focused practice. 
The LGA also 
recognised 
Young Hackney as a fantastic 
resource. Peer reviewers also 
highlighted things for us to improve, 
such as our communication and 
evidence of our early help offer. The 
report highlighted the need for our 
partners to do more work regarding 
anti-racism and highlighted the 
work being done on decolonising the 
curriculum by our Education team 
and schools. Additionally, there are 
recommendations for schools and 
the police to firstly safeguard our 
children rather than criminalise or 
exclude. The review also highlighted 
that we don’t currently have a clear 
practice model, and work has begun 
on refreshing this. 

We also hosted a peer review by the 
Youth Justice Sector Improvement 
Partnership in May 2022 looking 
at our governance of youth justice 
work which highlighted our engaged 

P
age 67



we are working to have ready for 
the end of the year. Mark noted 
that we are ambitious, aspirational 
and have a passionate leadership 
management approach when it 
comes to our care leavers. Mark 
made a  set of recommendations 
that were also agreed by senior 
officers and operational staff, and 
he will be looking at our progress in 
a follow-up review six months after 
the visit. 

These reviews of our services have 
enabled us to develop our evidence 
for change and we are about to 
embark upon a transformation 
programme to provide responsive 
and  seamless services for children 
and their families that is ambitious 
for our children and underpinned by 

anti-racism, systemic and trauma 
informed practice.

In between all of these peer reviews 
and visits, I am conscious that work 
continues as usual for our dedicated 
practitioners. I want to thank them 
for their efforts in keeping our 
children safe, and for their resilience 
in the face of a very challenging 
period, which I am under no illusions 
of having ended. I am optimistic 
that things will only improve for us 
with a committed leadership team 
in place, a solid foundation for 
recording our work with children and 
our highly skilled workforce.

that we are bringing the lived 
experience of the children and 
families we are supporting into 
the Board. I know that we want to 
ensure stronger involvement of our 
children at all levels so that we are 
making improvements that make a 
difference to them.

We also hosted a visit by 
Mark Riddell, the National 
Implementation Advisor for Care 
Leavers to look at our offer to 
care leavers in May 2022, as well 
as a visit from the Department 
for Levelling Up, Housing & 
Communities looking at our housing 
offer to care leavers the same 
month.  Both visits have supported 
our work to think about our new 
Corporate Parenting Strategy which 

political leaders who are keen to 
learn and make a difference for our 
most vulnerable young children. Peer 
reviewers were impressed by our 
First Time Entrants performance, low 
reoffending rates and multi-agency 
working. It was clear to reviewers 
how highly our children thought of 
the staff they worked with, and peer 
reviewers were impressed with our 
focus on disproportionality. Peer 
reviewers also highlighted that we 
need to strengthen the support 
given to Black and global majority 
staff members and support Board 
members to observe the work on 
the ground. We have already begun 
work to review the operational 
and strategic board arrangements 
and terms of reference to ensure 

6

P
age 68



Priorities for the year ahead
1. Proud to be Hackney: We will reset the Practice 
Model for Hackney Children’s Services, so it 
describes a whole system approach to supporting 
children and families. The refreshed vision of 
practice will describe our values and principles. It 
will outline how children and families can expect 
to be supported from education, early help right 
through to leaving care or transition to adult 
services. Every practitioner will employ a systemic 
approach as a way of understanding the lived 
experience of our children and families. We will 
focus on relationships and work collaboratively. 
We will always recognise that individuals are 
embedded in their social context and remain 
curious about this. This practice model will enable 
us all to understand our roles and responsibilities 
as part of a wider system supporting Hackney 
children. It will focus on making a difference for 
every child.

2. Proud to listen to children and families in the 
shaping of our services: Our practice will ensure 
that the voices of children and their loved ones 
will shape the multi-agency plans of support 
that are offered to them. We will strengthen 
our commitment to ensuring that all children 
and families have the opportunity to share 
their experiences with us, in order to inform the 
strategic development of our services.

3. Proud to work with partner agencies to help 
children and families get the right support 
at the right time: We will support the ongoing 
development of a culture within Hackney where 
we work collaboratively to hear the voices of 
children and families with the aim of co-creating 
solutions as a partnership to meet children’s 
needs in order to improve outcomes for children. 
We will hear and be appreciative of multiple 
professionals’ perspectives and voices about 
how children’s needs can best be met and ensure 
as a partnership that we are clear on our roles, 
responsibilities and associated powers.  

4. Proud to work with partners to improve 
safety for adolescents in the community: We 
will foster trusted relationships with young 
people within which they will experience safety 
in the context of their families, peer groups, 
schools and neighbourhoods. Young people in 
Hackney will achieve positive outcomes, agency 
and independence as a result of responsive 
support and engagement informed by knowledge 
of adolescent development and contextual 
safeguarding.

7

P
age 69



5. Proud to be Anti-Racist: Our leadership and 
practice will address racism and discrimination 
leading to disproportionality in the experiences 
of our children and families and of our staff in 
the workplace whilst also seeking to influence the 
broader context of our children and families lives. 

6. Proud to promote a learning culture focused 
on outcomes for children, where great practice 
can  flourish: Our Quality Assurance Framework 
and Workforce Development Strategy are 
inextricably linked enabling us to become an 
organisation that focuses upon learning and 
development- quality assurance activities are 
embedded across the service at all levels and drive 
practice improvement with a strong commitment 
to feedback mechanisms to support learning, 
promote consistently good or better practice 
achieve best outcomes for our children.

7. Proud to support our workforce to do their 
very best for children in Hackney: We recognise 
that having a skilled, resilient, stable and engaged 
workforce, equipped with the tools they need to 
do their jobs well, is crucial to achieving the best 
possible outcomes for children. We acknowledge 
that this requires a relentless focus on the 
recruitment, development and retention of staff. 
We want to demonstrate that we are proud of our 
staff and want them to be proud of working for 
Hackney’s children. We hope to promote Hackney 
as a great place to build a career working with 
children and families.

8

P
age 70



Ofsted focused visit

Inspectors found that the MASH is making the right decisions to get support 
for children quickly, with good use of historical information, outlining 
strengths and areas of concern to inform decision-making. This is supported 
by strong management oversight arrangements. The early help hub in the 
MASH is ensuring that children receive the correct level of support quickly 
- and staff are reporting the difference that early help staff are making. 
Strategy discussions are working well. Inspectors found that most children 
receive proportionate responses that meet their needs and that action for 
children at immediate risk is timely and effective. There has been a  
significant and impressive decrease in Serious Youth Violence - this has  
been due to Hackney’s focus on this area, with ongoing commitment to  
the early help offer. Young Hackney is a strong offer to children and young 
people in Hackney.

Inspectors thought that assessments are good quality - they are child-focused, 
well informed by current and historical information with clear analysis. 
Children’s needs are well assessed including their identity needs. Children’s 
lived experience came across, with their wishes and views of assessments 
recorded. Multi-agency partners, parents, children and young people, inform 
assessments and this information informs ongoing intervention or early help 

referrals. Risk to children during adolescence is identified and addressed in 
consultation with the CiU.

Inspectors think that senior leaders are driving necessary changes to 
improve practice at a pace  that suits the workforce and allows for the 
ongoing delivery of safe services.  Our committed and skilled staff feel 
supported through the implementation of the new  practice framework, 
with a focus on anti-racist, trauma-informed, and a systemic  approach 
to practice. Staff told inspectors that they feel listened to, valued and 
supported. 

Inspectors also found that caseloads within the Access and Assessment 
team, and for some newly qualified workers are too high, and recording of 
supervision is  inconsistent. This has meant that some assessments are not 
in timescale. Inspectors also noted that we need to improve our recording 
of supervision. 

We welcome the recognition of strong practice in our MASH and 
Assessment teams and we will be working with our staff to ensure practice 
is strengthened even further in the coming months. 

Ofsted undertook a focused visit in Hackney Children and Families Service in September 2022 looking at 
our arrangements for ‘front door’ services,  including decision-making and thresholds for referrals about 
children, child protection  enquiries, decisions to step up or down from early help, and emergency action 
out of  hours. 

9

P
age 71



Key data about the Children and 
Families Service

405 children were looked after as at 31st March 
2022, a 6% decrease from 431 children at the same time 
the previous year. 404 children were looked after at the 
end of September 2022. 
 
179 children entered care during 2021/22, a 3%  
decrease from 185 children in 2020/21. 95 children 
entered care between April and September 2022.  
 
86 young people aged between 14 and 17 
entered care in 2021/22, an increase from the 
72 young people from this cohort entering care in 
2020/21. This represented 53% of the total number 
of children who entered care in 2021/22, compared 
to 40% in 2020/21. 
 
15.3% of looked after children had three or 
more care arrangements in 2021/22, compared 
to 10% in 2020/21. 14% of looked after children had 
three or more care arrangements as at the end of 
September 2022. 

3,707 referrals were received in 2021/22, a 27% 
increase from 2,930 received in the previous year. 
1,935 referrals have been received between April and 
September 2022. 
 
3,293  social work assessments were completed,  
a 15% decrease from the 3,858 completed in 2020/21. 
2,075 assessments have been completed between April 
and September 2022. 
 
211 children were supported on Child Protection 
Plans as at 31st March 2022, a 11% decrease 
compared to 237 children at the same time in 2021. 186 
children are supported on Child Protection Plans at the 
end of September 2022. 
 
An estimated total of 16,676 young people 
accessed universal services offered through 
Young Hackney during 2021/22, based on 
160,223 named and anonymous attendances.  
This reflected an increase of 170% of named individuals 
accessing Young Hackney Universal services from 
2020/21, following the pandemic lockdown periods which 
had a significant impact on the 2020/21 data. Young 
Hackney delivered targeted support to 1,471 young 
people in 2021/22. 10

P
age 72



279 children and families were referred to 
the Clinical Service in 2021/22. There were 220 
cases allocated for direct work in 2021/22, a 25% 
decrease from 284 cases in 2020/21. 79% of  
children and families referred were allocated 
for direct work In 2021/22, an increase of 10% 
compared to 2020/21.  

71.2% of children who have been looked 
after for more than 2.5 years were in stable 
care arrangements of more than 2 years in 
2021/22, a decrease from 77% in 2020/21. 65% of 
children were in stable arrangements at the end of 
September 2022. 
 
387 care leavers aged between 17 and 21 were 
being supported by the Leaving Care service at 
31 March 2022, an increase of 11 from 376 at the 
same point in 2021. 357 care leavers were supported at 
the end of September 2022. 

11

P
age 73



12

The Experiences and Progress of  
Children Who Need Help and Protection

We are proud of the positive recognition of our strong practice at the ‘front 
door’ by Ofsted during their focused visit in September 2022. We have 
improved the timeliness of our assessments as well as clearer management 
oversight and quicker decision making for children, with an early help hub 
now established in the MASH. This means that children are more likely to 
get access to early help quicker, will only be subjects of statutory plans when 

necessary and increasingly or the appropriate length of time to ensure 
their needs are met. There is good work taking place across the service but 
our focus is on ensuring consistency of support to all of our children and 
families. There is more work to do to ensure the quality and timeliness 
of plans and that children’s records are up to date, including records of 
supervision and visits to children.

“We are proud of the positive 
recognition of our strong 
practice at the ‘front door’  
by Ofsted...”

P
age 74



13

Early Help 1
2 3

Early Help Review
Our ambition is that every child in Hackney who has additional needs is 
identified and their needs addressed at the earliest opportunity,  providing 
support to help overcome challenges, build resilience for the future and stop 
needs escalating to a point where they may need the support of statutory 
services.

The Council’s own Early Help services are part of a wider offer across 
Hackney; including by schools and settings, the health sector and the 
community and voluntary sector. We are implementing changes to ensure 
that our Early Help services are well placed to work effectively as part of that 
wider system of help. Changes implemented within the Council’s Early help 
services sit within the wider transformation, and the intention to produce an 
Early Help Partnership Strategy in autumn 2022. 

Research, consultation and feedback identified the following  
key strengths:

 • The strength and range of the services delivered, including 
culturally appropriate opportunities, support, intervention and 
partnership working.

 • The trusted role of Children Centres and Young Hackney Youth 
Hubs in the community.

 • The importance of specialised services with specific expertise.

 • The value of taking a multi-agency approach to Early Help 
interventions and the importance of strong relationships with 
key partners.

6 key areas have been identified for development:

 • Visible, approachable services that are local and trusted.

 • Effectively communicated support.

 • Support which is able to meet the needs of the whole family, 
especially parenting capacity.

 • Trusting and consistent relationships with practitioners.

 • Support which is able to meet the specific needs of children, 
young people and their families, through specialist and expert 
interventions, including at key points in a child’s, young 
person’s or family’s life.

 • Interventions led by outcomes, impact and involvement of 
children and families. 

Key activity to date:

 • Implementation of a single ‘request for support’ form across 
SEND and social care.

 • Development of the Early Help Hub within the Multi-agency 
Agency Safeguarding Hub as a single point of access for 
practitioners working with children, young people and families.

 • Implementation of single assessment form and process across 
children’s centres and council family support teams.

 • Application of consistent practice standards including 
timescales for children being seen, completion of an 
assessment and a plan developed with the family.

P
age 75



14

 • Formulation of proposals for a deferred prosecution scheme for 
youth justice and building upon the outcomes achieved through 
prevention and diversion to scope a deferred exclusions pilot.

 • Conversion of some of the Young Hackney commissioning 
resources to a new grants programme promoting social inclusion, 
encouraging independence and developing personal resilience.

 • Engagement and co-design with partner agencies to begin the 
development of a family hub model and sites to support the 
Early Help system and access and relationships with service 
users.

 • Workshops across the partnership to promote use of the early 
help hub, the new request for support form and the Hackney 
Wellbeing Framework. 

 • Development of an Early Help sub group of CHSCP - this is due to 
meet in September 2022.

A new Early Help pathway was introduced in April 2022 and it is too early  
to yet see the impact of this and flow to/from statutory services. A dip 
sample of ten Family Support Service case records in June 2022 has shown 
that the majority of families are being contacted and seen in line with 
our newly developed practice standards (90%). Where families have not 
been seen in line with expected standards there has been evidence of 
management action.  

Insight from the Hackney Supporting Families Programme indicates 
that 32% of the total cohort of families identified under the ‘significant 
and sustained progress’ measure (over 1,600 families)  have received 
intervention with successful outcomes via Early Help provision. 

The Early Help Hub screening process has placed particular focus on 
obtaining explicit consent from parents (and where age appropriate young 
people), providing families with a clear understanding of what targeted 
early help services offer, and ensuring that the voice of young people is 
respected. Services have reported that this has been positive in helping them 
to develop better working relationships with children and families.

In 2023, Hackney will open children and family hubs. Hubs will offer a 
universal ‘front door’ for families with children and young people aged 
0-19 to access integrated whole-family support services and provide 
the framework for locality-based delivery of targeted early help.

Next steps:

 • Continued development of children and family hub model 
with partner agencies and residents.

 • Ensuring Council services are able to record using the  
same system.

 • Shared performance indicators, including embedding the 
new Supporting Families outcomes framework.

 • Reviewing commissioning to ensure it is evidence based 
and impactful.

 • Creation of Multi-agency Early Help Strategy to deliver  
on the partnership’s collective responsibility for the early 
help system.

 • Integration of early help and children and adolescent 
mental health services to a shared single point of access.

 • Ongoing delivery of actions identified, to embed anti-racist 
practice across Early Help services.

P
age 76



15

Young Hackney is the Council’s integrated early help service for children 
and young people aged 6-19 years old and up to 25 years if the young 
person has a special education need or disability. The service works with 
young people to support their development and transition to adulthood by 
intervening early to address adolescent risk, develop prosocial behaviours 
and build resilience. The service incorporates universal youth, play, sports 
and participation activities and opportunities, targeted early help support 
for those young people and families who need it, and more specialist 
substance misuse, health and wellbeing, young carers and crime prevention 

Young Hackney

and diversion interventions. Young Hackney workers ensure the voice of 
the young person and ‘think family’ are at the centre of practice, and are 
considerate of the strengths and needs of parents and carers as individual 
assessments and plans are developed.

An estimated total of 16,676 young people accessed universal services 
offered through Young Hackney during 2021/22, based on 160,223 named 
and anonymous attendances. This reflected an increase of 170% of named 
individuals accessing Young Hackney Universal services from 2020/21, 
following the pandemic lockdown periods which had a significant impact 
on the 2020/21 data. Young Hackney delivered targeted support to 1,471 
young people in 2021/22.

Young Hackney Audits
From March 2022 to July 2022, the Young Hackney service has 
completed 17 audits using their routine audit form. 

Findings:

•  ��Overall, audits were rated as 59% good and 41% requires 
improvement.  

•  ��94% of children audited were seen in line or partially in line  
with practice standards. 

•  ��Auditors thought that recording needs to be improved in  
65% of files. 

•  ����In 53% of files, key actions had been followed up on, within 
agreed timescales, and were seen to be having an impact by 
auditors.

Recommendations:

•  ��There is a need to improve recording including management 
oversight recording. 

•  ��Some assessments of risk and plans including safety plans need 
to be reviewed and updated where necessary.

•  ��Significant family members, particularly fathers to be included 
in plans and intervention. 

Evidence of ImpactP
age 77



16

 Youth Justice
The Youth Justice Service works with all young people in Hackney who are 
arrested or convicted of crimes and undertakes youth justice work including 
bail and remand supervision and supervising young people who have been 
given community or custodial sentences. Young people are supported by 
a multi-agency team including a Forensic Psychologist, the Virtual School, 
Speech and Language Therapists, the Police, a Nurse, Probation Services, a 
Substance Misuse Worker and a Dealing Officer.

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

No. of first time entrants to Youth 
Justice system in Hackney 88 79 67

The overall number of young people entering the youth justice system for 
the first time in Hackney in 2021/22 was 67, a 15% decrease from 79 young 
people in 2020-21. This remains below national and statistical neighbour 
averages.

88% of the young people referred to the Youth Justice Prevention and 
Diversion Team via Triage in 2021/22 were successfully diverted from 
becoming first time entrants to the youth justice system. However, early help 
for young people at risk of becoming involved in crime is still not effective 
enough at preventing the most serious youth crime: the small number of 
young people referred to the Prevention and Diversion Team from Triage 
who have gone on to enter the youth justice system have in many cases 
faced extremely serious charges against them.

Youth Justice Service Peer Review - May 2022
The Youth Justice Sector Improvement Partnership undertook 
a peer review on Governance in the Youth Justice Service at our 
invitation in May 2022 and found that:

•  ��Board and leaders are strategically willing to try new and 
creative ways of working e.g. deferred exclusions. 

•  ��Engaged political leadership. 

•  ��Good improvement in First Time Entrants performance, and  
low reoffending rates. 

•  ����The Out of Court Disposal Panel is multi agency with Speech 
and Language Therapists and clinicians attending.

•  ��There are good practice level relationships with the courts and 
Judges, who trust the assessments made by the YJS.

•  ��Young people report that they have a good relationship with 
their worker.

•  ��Positive to see a focus on addressing disproportionality.

Evidence of Impact

P
age 78



17

Peer reviewers also made some recommendations for 
improvement, including the need to:

•  ��Strengthen the support given to Black and global majority  
staff members. 

•  ����Support Board members to observe the work on the ground.

•  ��Review the operational/strategic board arrangements and  
terms of reference.

 
 

•  ��Bring the lived experience of the children and families we are 
supporting into the Board.

•  ��Stronger involvement of young people at all levels.

•  ��Consider identifying a smaller number of key themes/priorities 
and evidencing impact rather than working through an 
extensive action plan.

•  ��Encourage Board members to actively lead on agenda items and 
improve evidence of links to other strategic plans.

 Domestic Abuse Intervention Service
The Domestic Abuse Intervention Service (DAIS) works with anyone 
experiencing domestic abuse who is living in Hackney, aged 16 or over, 
of any sex and gender, and of any sexual orientation. The service works 
with clients and partner agencies to assess and reduce risk and offers an 
assertive, interventionist, social-work-informed approach to protecting 
victims from harm, using the Safe and Together model which aims to reduce 
the necessity for the removal of children into care by holding perpetrators to 
account for their behaviour and protecting survivors of domestic abuse. The 
service also intervenes with perpetrators of domestic abuse to reduce the risk 
they pose. The service leads within the Council and across the partnership 
on Eliminating Violence Against Women and Girls and on providing and 
developing Hackney’s Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) 
for ‘high risk’ cases and delivers training also to partner agencies.  

The average weekly number of referrals into DAIS  across 2021/22 was 23, 
slightly below the weekly pre-Covid rate of 25 cases per week. From April 

2022 to September 2022 there has been an average weekly referral rate of 
25 cases. 

The Domestic Abuse Prevention Programme, working with those who harm 
others through their behaviour, is a 26 session programme that continues to 
operate virtually on a rolling basis. Since April 2022 to October 2022, so far 8 
people have completed the programme.

The fortnightly virtual MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference) 
is a multi-agency meeting to discuss and take action on cases of domestic 
abuse where there is a ‘high risk’ of death or serious injury. Numbers have 
continued to rise during and following the Covid restrictions. 2021/22 
saw a total of 694 cases discussed at MARAC, an increase of 15% on the 
595 cases heard in 2020/21. If the rate from April - September 2021 is 
maintained across the remainder of this year, there will be 734 cases heard, 
an increase of 23% on 2020/21. In two years, cases heard at MARAC have 
risen by over 200, from 492 in 2019/20 to 694 in 2021/22 which is a rise of 
41% over 2 years. Around half of all MARAC cases have children living in the 
household; this has remained consistent over recent years. 

P
age 79



18

Domestic Abuse Intervention Service (DAIS) Audits
The DAIS has completed 59 audits throughout 2021-22, using 
the DAIS full audit form. 

Findings:

•  ��73% of audits completed rated practice as ‘good’ or 
‘outstanding’.

•  ��95% of cases audited took the client’s history and any current 
vulnerabilities into account.

•  ��98%) of cases audited properly identified and responded to  
child / adult safeguarding concerns. 

•  ��In 79% of cases audited, the client had been provided with 
effective and comprehensive safety and support planning work.

•  ��In 61% of cases audited, there was evidence of a sensitive 
response to the cultural and diversity needs of the client.

•  ��In 81% of cases audited, auditors felt that the client had been 
supported to act for themselves and engage with services.

•  ��In 84% of cases audited, auditors felt there was evidence of 
robust case management and supervision, ensuring effective 
recording practice and appropriate support from intake to 
closure.

 
•  ��Auditors felt that there had not been active engagement with 

the perpetrator service and evidence of working together to 
manage risk in 67% of cases audited.

•  ��Auditors felt that casework and case file recording met best 
practice in the majority, but noted some gaps in recording.

Recommendations:

•  ��Continue to embed practice around engaging with abusers, and 
holding abusers to account for their abusive actions. 

•  ��Managers to provide oversight around why cases are not 
discussed at unit meetings and record rationales of why direct 
contact may not be made.

•  ��All cases that were opened pre-cyber attack and are still open 
need a summary of intervention pre-cyber attack.

•  ��DAIS management group to consider how to better capture 
management oversight.

•  ��Consider how to overcome blocks and barriers of professional 
network, no following up action from MARAC/complex case 
forum.

Evidence of Impact

P
age 80



19

Identifying and responding to children’s needs and 
appropriate thresholds 

Contacts, referrals and assessments
Contacts

There has been an 11% increase in contacts over the past year, however  
this has not yet reached pre-pandemic levels. Hackney did not see the 
immediate rise in contact levels that many local authorities experienced 
following the pandemic, but we have had a steady increase in contacts over 
the last year. This is to be expected in the context of increasing demand for 
children’s social care on a national and local level. 

We have also changed the way that contacts are recorded, with information 
requests now not captured as a contact and referral record which they have 
been historically. This will potentially account for the volume of contacts 
being less than expected.

Purposeful work has been undertaken through the revision of the Hackney 
Child Wellbeing Framework, the shift to a Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub, 
Early Help Hub  and the introduction of a consultation line. The positive 
impact of the consultation line will also mean that requests for support that 
do not meet thresholds are not coming through as contacts. However, there  
is still some ‘oversharing’ from some agencies, mainly the Police, which is 
being addressed.

Referrals

Outturn 
2019/20

Outturn 
2020/21

Outturn 
2021/22

Apr - Sept 
2022

Number of contacts 16,044 11,473 12,746 7,174

% of contacts 
progressing to a 
referral

27% 26% 29% 27%

Outturn 
2019/20

Outturn 
2020/21

Outturn 
2021/22

Apr - Sept  
2022

Number of Referrals 5,031 2,930 3,707 1,935

Rate of Referrals per 
10,000 population 

 
788 

 
459 

 
581 303 

(Annual est 616)

Statistical neighbours 581 497 579 n/a

England 535 494 538 n/a

There has been a 27% increase in the number of referrals received.  
Re-referrals within 12 months at the end of March 2022 were at 17% and 
this is in line with statistical neighbours. The rate of referrals for the year 
2021-22 was 581, higher than the 2020-21 rate of 459. 29% of contacts 
have proceeded to referrals compared with 26% for 2020-21. This is 
an anticipated increase given the impact of COVID-19 upon children’s 
attendance at school and visibility to multi-agency professionals.

Outturn 
2018/19

Outturn 
2019/20

Outturn 
2020/21

Outturn 
2021/22

Apr - Sept 
2022

Percentage of cases 
which were re-
referrals which had 
been open in the past 
12 months

16% 16% 18% 17% 19%

Statistical neighbours 17% 18% 18% 18% n/a

England 19% 19% 19% 22% n/a

P
age 81



20

Outturn 
2019/20

Outturn 
2020/21

Outturn 
2021/22

Apr - Sept  
2022

Number of social work 
assessments completed 4,923 3,664 3,293 2,075

Rate of assessments per 
10,000 population 771 604 516

325 
(Annual est  

630)

Statistical neighbours 529 477 533 n/a

England 554 518 533 n/a

Outturn 
2019/20

Outturn 
2020/21

Outturn 
2021/22

Apr-Sept 
2022

% of social work 
assessments completed 
within 45 working days

64% 78% 82% 61%

Statistical neighbours 88% 94% 90%   n/a    

England 85% 89% 84% n/a

Assessments The rate of completed assessments has reduced by 15% compared to  
2020-21. The rate of assessments completed within 45 working days was 
82% for 2021-22 compared with 78% for 2020-21. Performance for this 
measure declined in the early months of 2022, in the context of changing 
back to Mosaic recording system, some notable staff challenges as a 
result of staff sickness (including due to COVID-19), staff changes and 
some performance management concerns, with only 45% of assessments 
completed in 45 days as at the end of April 2022. Following the embedding 
and support of newly appointed staff, and concerted management 
oversight, performance is beginning to stabilise and we were reassured 
by the feedback from inspectors during the recent Ofsted focused visit in 
September 2022. 

In 2021-22, 70% of assessments completed resulted in no further statutory 
social work action, an increase compared to 66% in 2020-21. As at the 
end of September 2022, this rate has now decreased to 51% of statutory 
assessments completed resulting in no further statutory social work action- 
this is a positive development in the context of the introduction of Early 
Help Assessments within the Family Support Service in April 2022.

“...this is a positive development in  
the context of the introduction of Early Help Assessments within  

the Family Support Service in April 2022.”

P
age 82



21

Assessment leading to no further social work  
action - June 2022
As a result of high numbers of assessments leading to no further 
social work action, a dip sample of 45 cases was undertaken.

Findings:

•  ��89% of referrals met the threshold for statutory assessment 
(Hackney Child Wellbeing Framework)

•  ��In 98% of audits, the outcome of the assessment was in line 
with thresholds

•  ��In 87% of audits, the auditor did not think that an alternative 
course of action could have been taken - for some cases an early 
help assessment would have been better

 

 

•  ��Auditors think a DAIS worker in the MASH would enhance early 
safety planning for victims of domestic abuse. 

Recommendations:

•  ��Identify a DAIS practitioner to be located in MASH to 
ensure that effective safety plans are created at the earliest 
opportunities for victims of domestic abuse.

•  ��Delegated authority to be implemented to under 5’s MAT 
services to ensure consistency of threshold application.

•  ��Early Help assessments to be utilised more where children 
are perceived to be in need of support, rather than at risk of 
significant harm.

Evidence of Impact

P
age 83



22

Local Area Designated Officer
Organisations where employees and volunteers work with children (including 
foster carers and prospective adopters) are required to have clear and 
accessible policies and procedures to manage occasions when allegations 
are made against staff or volunteers. As part of that, organisations have 
to appoint a Designated Safeguarding Lead to whom the allegations 
are reported, who would then report it to the Local Authority Designated 
Officer (LADO) who has the responsibility to manage and have oversight of 
allegations. 

The LADO service received 311 contacts during 2021-2022 which is an 
increase of 137 (44%) on the previous year (174 contacts).  It is therefore 
evident that the number of contacts have returned to the previous trajectory 

of year-on-year increases in the LADO contacts received prior to the 
Covid-19 pandemic (there were 309 contacts during 2019-20).

The occupations with the highest number of contacts were teachers (29%), 
school support staff (23%) and nursery workers (17%).  This is a slight 
change to previous years as the norm until this period was school support 
staff receiving the highest number of contacts.  The increase for teachers is 
noteworthy, given it has risen by 7.4%.  The three occupation groups with 
the highest number of contacts remain unchanged.  Again, the postulation 
is that these three groups will remain consistent as it is likely attributable 
to the higher ratio of children to staff given schools and day care provisions 
have higher numbers of children accessing services compared with health or 
leisure facilities for example. 

LADO audits - July  2022
Practice audits of LADO work are conducted every 6 months by 
the Service Manager and Practice Development Managers in the 
Safeguarding and Reviewing Team. The most recent audit in July 
2022 looked at 6 LADO cases. 

Findings:

•  ��100% of referrals were rated as good or outstanding.

•  ��100% of audits found decision making to be good or 
outstanding.

•  ��100% of audits found partnership working to be good or 
outstanding.

•  ��100% of audits found evidence that there were positive 
outcomes/positive impacts on the child’s plan as a result of 
LADO intervention, with practice rated as good.

Evidence of Impact

P
age 84



23

Making good decisions and providing effective help 

Strategy Discussions
The CHSCP continues to promote the CHSCP strategy discussion protocol 
through regular ‘Things You Should Know’ briefings and animated video 
guidance for multi-agency professionals. The CHSCP Quality Assurance Sub-
Group maintains oversight of the quality of strategy discussions via audit 
and tracks the progress of multi-agency improvement actions. The most 
recent audit was commissioned using external auditors in March 2022.

Broad findings in audit rounds demonstrated good timeliness, with evidence 
of sufficient information sharing, understanding the child’s needs, decision 
making and planning.  No cases were escalated as a concern.  Good 
practice was identified in response to cases of serious youth violence (in 
line with recommendation 9 of the Child C SCR and the identification of 
trusted adults).  Recording, the focus on all household members / significant 

others and the consistent use of the CHSCP template remain areas for 
improvement. The introduction of Mosaic should support practice in this 
respect.

825 Section 47 investigations began in 2021-22, in line with 836 the 
previous year. This represents a rate of 129 Section 47 investigations per 
10,000, which is less than statistical neighbours (175 in 2020-21) and the 
England average (164 in 2020-21).

32% of Section 47 investigations progressed to an Initial Child Protection 
Conference in 2021-22, a decrease from 37% in 2020-21.  This is in line 
with statistical neighbours (32% in 2020-21) and lower than the England 
average (37% in 2020-21). 24% of completed Section 47 investigations 
progressed to an Initial Child Protection Conference between April and 
September 2022.

CHSCP external review by independent auditor: Strategy 
Discussions followed by ICPC - March 2022. 
The City and Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership 
(CHSCP) selected a total of 15 Strategy Discussion minutes 
which were followed by an Initial Child Protection Conference 
(ICPC) over the preceding months from November 2021 to 
March 2022 for audit.
 

Findings:

•  ��The reviewing of partner contributions was reliant on the 
content of the Hackney child’s file only.

•  ��The strategy discussion template and the conference report 
template have been revised to request/ensure explicit reflection 
on ethnic/cultural/identity issues. This review found that the 
templates are not being used consistently.

Evidence of Impact

P
age 85



24

•  ��In sibling groups with a wide range of ages of children, the risks 
and needs of each child when discussed together can become 
diluted and the analysis of parental capacity lost.

•  ��There is clarity around the threshold and rationale from 
agencies, however category selection and application is less 
clear.

•  ��Each agency tracks their own report submission and quality and 
whether the report has been shared with families. 

Recommendations:

•  ��Further emphasis is needed in strategy meetings on clearly 
defined actions to ensure information is sought and shared and 
pulled through in submissions to conferences.

•  ��Where a family is already open to Hackney, this needs to be 
made clear and recorded in the strategy discussion minutes 
as well as any dates of recent strategy meetings relevant to 
the episode of concern/incident, and that actions and plans to 
support and safeguard children are clearly recorded with clear 
timescales and noting the responsible professional/agency. 
This will be further strengthened with the consistent use of the 
strategy discussion template.

•  ��Where there are multiple risks identified in a family, these 
should be separated out in the strategy discussions with clear 
plans to manage each concern and who/which agency should  
be responsible. 

•  ��Identify a process to record if agencies have submitted reports 
and when.

Section 47s that do not go to ICPC dip sample -  
June 2022
Following a high volume of Section 47 investigations that did not go 
to ICPC (reaching a peak of 85% in March 2022), a dip sample of 30 
cases was undertaken.

Findings:

•  In 96% of cases, it was appropriate to escalate to S47.

•  ��In 96% of cases, it was appropriate to not go to ICPC.

•  ��Auditors noted that clear disclosures of children being hit with 
implements led to appropriate escalation

•  ��In 10 of these cases - auditors noted positive engagement with 
parents, some of whom showed remorse for causing harm to their 
children, which resulted in children no longer being perceived as at 
risk of significant harm.

Recommendations:

•  ��Greater clarity around the use of Independent Chair consultations 
to be shared across the service.

•  ��Develop Practice Guidance on when to initiate an assessment 
under Section 17 rather than step up to Section 47.

•  ��Think about racism throughout the CFS system decision making 
points and in supervision.

P
age 86



25

Children supported on Child in Need Plans
Jan 

2021
July 
2021

Sep 
2021

July 
2022

Snapshot of children supported 
on Child in Need Plans (within the 
Children in Need Service)

865 699 619 495
       

There has been a decrease in the number of children supported on Child in 
Need Plans, which is linked to increased oversight by managers to ensure 
that children are on the correct plan according to thresholds, as well as 
a corresponding drop in referrals and assessments over the same period.  
We have adjusted our expected practice standard for Children in Need 
Visits to a minimum of 20 working days to ensure social work activity 
is purposeful and meaningful for children and to ensure plans progress. 
Senior management oversight on Child in Need plans at agreed points is 
occurring and is evidenced on the file and reducing drift.

Audit of Progression of Child in Need Plans at 3 months - 
April 2022:
6  audits were undertaken with 5 cases graded as good and one 
rated as requires improvement. 

Findings:

•  ��Clear evidence that the plan was progressing, with timely visits 
and reviews that made reference to the plan. 

•  ��Good quality visit recording and children were seen on their 
own. Visits were focused and purposeful. 

•  ��All audits had evidence of both timely visits and Child in Need 
reviews taking place within the practice standards. 

•  ��Referrals recommended through the plan were actioned in a 
timely way. 

 
 
•  ��Plans were generally of a good standard and thresholds met for 

Child in Need. 

Recommendations:

•  ��Recording needs to be stronger, including consistent recording 
of management oversight on the file.

•  ��There needs to be clearer contingency planning for children 
when the plan is not progressing.

•  ��Case Holders need to ensure that identity is captured beyond 
the assessment for the child.

Service Managers will undertake an audit of Child in Need cases at 
6 months to ensure the plan is progressing in the child’s timescale. 
 

Evidence of Impact

P
age 87



26

Children supported through  
Child Protection Plans
The number of children supported on Child Protection Plans decreased over 
the course of 2021/22, representing an 11% decrease. 91% were reviewed 
in the required timescales. The number of children starting and ceasing  
Child Protection Plans has reduced over the last 6-12 months, with 193 
children as at the end of June 2022 down from 237 as at 31st March 2021. 
35% have been open for under 3 months and 1% for over 2 years or more. 
The number and rate of children supported on a Child Protection Plan 
continues to reduce.

Number of children supported on  
Child Protection Plans

March 2020 March 2021 March 2022 Sept 2022

251 237 211 186 
 

Children supported on Child Protection Plans per  
10,000 population aged under 18 
 March 

2020
March 
2021

March 
2022

Sept 
2022

Hackney 38 37 33 29

Statistical Neighbour 39 39 42 n/a

England 41 41 42 n/a

	

The rate of children supported on Child protection Plans per 10,000 is 29, 
this is significantly below statistical neighbours and national averages.

This decrease is mostly accounted for by the 14% decrease in Initial Child 
Protection Conferences with 267 held in 2021/22 compared to 312 in 
2020/21. The duty consultation process between our Safeguarding and 
Reviewing Team (Child Protection Chairs) and the social work units has 
better supported appropriate threshold decisions for children. 

Duration of closed Child Protection Plan (percentage)

At the end of March 2022, 24 (10%) children were subject to a Child 
Protection Plan for a second or subsequent time (based on data restored 
from 2016). There was a 21% decrease in children becoming subject to 
a Child Protection Plan over the last year from 308 children down to 242 
children.

There was a 15% decrease in children ceasing a Child Protection Plan over 
the last year, from 313 down to 267. This reduction is due to improved 
management oversight and  key interventions being delivered in a more 
timely manner. Throughout the pandemic our numbers of children 
supported through Child Protection Plans remained high as a result of plans 
remaining open for longer than anticipated whilst key interventions for some 
families remained unavailable. Since the end of lockdown and all services 
being fully available, these Child Protection Plans have been able to progress 
and gradually our numbers have decreased. 

March 
2020

March 
2021

March 
2022

April to 
Sept 2022

Under 3 months 24% 34% 19% 19%

3 - 6 months 17% 31% 12% 12%

6 - 12 months 40% 32% 38% 39%

1 - 2 years 16% 20% 30% 27%

2+ years 3% 3% 1% 3%

P
age 88



27

Child Protection Monitoring Meeting dip samples
A Child Protection Impact and Tracking Meeting is held every 
6 weeks consisting of Service Managers and Heads of Service 
which systematically reviews Child Protection Plans that have 
been open 9-12 months, 13-15 months, 16 months+, repeat 
plans, and plans ending at the first review, to ensure appropriate 
application of thresholds and timely progression of plans. 

In May, July and September 2022, Child Protection Monitoring 
Meeting dip samples were undertaken, with 14 dip samples 
completed in total. 9 of these plans were 15+ months old, 1 was 
3 months old (ending at the first RCPC), and 1 was a repeat Child 
Protection plan, with the remaining 3 categorised as ‘other’. 

Findings:

•  ��57% of audits were rated as good.

•  ��63% of plans were written in a concise, child friendly way. The 
remaining 36% partially met this requirement. 

•  ��86% of files had a reasonable 3-5 goals. All of these goals were 
realistic and linked to what needed to change for the child -  
64% fully, and 36% partially.

•  ��Clear, proportionate timescales were noted in 93% of files -  
79% fully, 14% partially.

•  ��Chair’s oversight was seen in 92% of files - 46% fully,  
46% partially. 

•  ��In 86% of files, there was evidence of progression of the plan - 
50% fully, 36% partially.

•  ��Clear contingency plans for if change was not made were 
present in 93% of files - fully in 79%, partially in 14%.

•  ��43% of plans acknowledged and addressed issues of ethnicity, 
culture and identity - half of these fully, the other half partially. 
The remaining 57% did not do this. 

Evidence of Impact

Child Protection Plans - visits
As at 10th October 2022, 88% of children supported through Child 
Protection Plans have visits recorded within 20 working days. Recording 
of visits is being monitored to ensure all children are seen in a timely 
way in accordance with their plans. There is urgent escalation to the 
Head of Service if this is not happening, with identification of alternative 

practitioners where there are gaps in staffing. There are a small number 
of children supported through Child Protection Plans where there 
are difficulties in gaining entry to the family home within statutory 
timeframes. Actions to address these delays are monitored at a Head of 
Service level.

P
age 89



28

               Public Law Outline (PLO) and  
 court proceedings

As of 31st March 2022, there were 16 children in pre-proceedings. As at the 
end of September 2022 there were 12 children in pre-proceedings.

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Hackney number of care applications 107 78 51

Hackney care applications per 10,000 
child population

16.4 11.8 7.6

England care applications per 10,000 
child population

10.8 10.5 9.6

As at 30th September 2022, there were a total of 149 children in care 
proceedings. We have issued care proceedings for 57 children from 1st June 

to 30th September 2022. The overall increase in number is as a result of 
the delays and increasing length of Care Proceedings so children are being 
subject to proceedings for longer. We have had an increase in the number 
of Supervision orders, Special Guardianship Orders and Child Assessment 
Orders.

The time taken to complete care and supervision proceedings was an 
average of 47 weeks in Hackney in 2021-22, the national average for this 
period has not been released. This is an increase for Hackney from 38 
weeks in 2020-21, and the national average of 41 weeks in 2020-21. This 
has increased nationally since April 2020 due to the pressures on the court 
system as a result of the Covid-19 lockdown. The national average target for 
the length of court proceedings is 26 weeks. 

Within the clinical court clinic, 21 cases were discussed in 2021/22, a 
decrease from 27 cases discussed in 2021/21. The clinical court work 
completes court work assessments in line with the emerging practice model 
- privileging a systemic approach, paying attention to social context and is 
informed with a trauma informed lens. 11 clinical court work assessments 
were completed in 2021/22 a decrease compared to 17 in 2020/21.

Public Law Outline (PLO) Audits
10 audits of the PLO process were completed in July 2022. 

Findings:

•  ��All children had decisions from Legal Planning Meetings (LPM) 
ratified at Children’s Resource Panel (CRP), where necessary.

•  ��60% of PLO letters were sent within timescales. These letters 
were clear about concerns and what needed to happen to 
improve outcomes for children, however auditors noted that 
letters could be more concise and use less jargon. 

•  ��In 40% of audits, the PLO meeting took place within 15 days  
of the CRP decision, with auditors noting that delay is often  
due to a solicitor for parents not being instructed in time for  
the meeting.

•  ��In all 10 of the files audited, the PLO minutes were noted to be 
of good quality and were largely placed on the file in a timely 
way. The introduction of the PLO Unit Coordinator has helped  
to standardise this. 

•  ��In 50% of audits, Family Group Conferences (FGC) took place 
during the PLO process. This is an improvement in comparison 

Evidence of Impact

P
age 90



29

to practice observed 12 months ago. Auditors note that parents’ 
legal representatives often do not support FGCs.

•  ��Placement Planning Meetings (PPM) were used to support 
decision making in 90% of the children’s files audited, marking 
an improvement in the use of PPMs in the PLO process.

•  ��For all of the relevant children, proceedings were initiated within 
the expected timescales.

•  ��For 9 out of 10 children, the auditors felt the PLO process was 
meaningful and effective. 

•  ��5 of the 10 children had support which was stepped down/due 
to be stepped down following the PLO process, suggesting the 
process improved outcomes for these children. 

Recommendations:

•  ��A glossary of terms was created, to be sent out with the PLO 
letters and leaflet, to assist parent understanding. 

•  ��Led by PLO practice leads, training around writing concise PLO 
letters with a focus on language use needs to be delivered, and 
best practice examples of PLO letters should be shared with 
practitioners.

•  ��PLO practice leads will share the PLO practice guidance across all 
service areas.

Clinical Support 
Clinical Service
The Clinical Service aims to integrate a mental health and wellbeing offer 
across the Children and Families Service as we know that children and young 
people who access children’s social care are at greater risk of mental health 
difficulties. By moving to a ‘stepped care’ clinical model the service is able 
to work with a broad range of children and families from early intervention, 
as well as for our most vulnerable children and young people in care or on 
the edge of family breakdown, in a responsive, targeted offer. The Clinical 
Service offers both a direct and indirect offer:

•  �Indirect Clinical Offer: This is open to all  families and individuals 
open to the Children and Families Service. The main part of this 

offer is consultation, but also includes training, supervision and 
court work. Clinicians complete assessments for court proceedings 
as part of the Public Law Outline. These range from assessments 
with parents, individual children or family groups, making use of 
specialist assessment tools and approaches as applicable.

•  �Direct Clinical Offer: This is only available to children and families in 
the Children and Families Service with an allocated social worker, or 
open to the Youth Offending Team. This includes those in receipt of 
a Child in Need plan, a Child Protection Plan or Children in Care. 

279 children and families were referred to the Clinical Service in 2021/22. 
There were 220 cases allocated for direct work in 2021/22, a 25% decrease 
from 284 cases in 2020/21. 79% of children and families referred were 
allocated for direct work In 2021/22,  an increase of 10% compared to 
2020/21. There were 591 consultations completed and 261 Talk Together 
appointments offered in 2021/22. 11 clinical court work assessments 
completed in 2021/2022.

P
age 91



30

Hackney Youth Parliament
Hackney Youth Parliament represents the views of young people in the 
borough. They aim to advocate on behalf of all their peers and contribute to 
positive change for all young people. They run campaigns about important 
issues, and hold regular events and consultations.

There are currently six elected members of the 2021-22 Youth Parliament, 
who were elected in June 2021. Over the next year Hackney Youth 
Parliament is set to work on a series of campaigns to improve the lives of 
young people and the services they receive. This work will aim to tackle 
inequalities young people face, and will focus on issues such as mental 
health, work and policing policies.

Hackney Youth Parliament will also increase awareness of positive 
opportunities available to young people through organising fun events 
and activities. Hackney Youth Parliament will be launching the new Youth 
Opportunity Fund in October 2022 so youth projects in the borough can 
apply for funding to improve the lives of young people after lockdown. 

Children’s Rights Service 
Hackney’s Children’s Rights Service provides a range of support to children 
and young people who are supported by, or have been supported by, 
Hackney Children’s Social Care, with priority given to children who are 
looked after, leaving care or supported on Child Protection Plans. The team 
provides an independent service that helps young people have their voice 
heard through advocacy; represents children's wishes and feelings; and 
provides information to children and young people about their rights and 
entitlements.

Participation and direct work with children and families

The team also offers an Independent Return Home Interview service to 
young people who have been reported missing by their parents or carers. 
This provides a safe space to allow young people to talk in confidence 
about their experiences and to create safety plans. During 2021/22 there 
were 1,043 recorded missing episodes, an increase compared to 2019/20 
when there were 821 recorded missing episodes. Due to the cyber attack we 
cannot report accurately on the data for missing episodes during 2020/21. 

Unfortunately due to the impact of the cyber attack it is not possible 
to report on the numbers of Return Home Interviews that have been 
completed during the year. Following the move back to Mosaic in April 2022, 
work is underway to improve both the recording by practitioners and the 
reporting functionality around Return Home Interviews.  Children’s Rights 
Officers continue to attend the daily discussion with Hackney Missing Police 
to actively follow up with children who are or have been missing in the 
Borough. Children’s Rights Officers continue to work with young people from 
a harm and risk reduction perspective; supporting young people to develop 
their own safety plans, implementing actions they realistically feel they can 
take to reduce risks. ‘Safety Planning with young people’ workshops have 
been regularly offered to staff during the year, and this will continue. 

Since April 2020 we have embedded the automatic offer of advocacy for 
all children aged over 5 years who have started to be supported by a Child 
Protection Plan following an Initial Child Protection Conference. During 
2021/22, 127 children were opened to the service through the automatic 
Child Protection Advocacy route. 54% of children accepted the Child 
Protection Advocacy Offer and 46% declined the offer. It is positive that 
over half the children supported by a Child Protection Plan have assessed 
independent advocacy but this remains an area we wish to improve.

P
age 92



31

In December 2021, 9 audits of Children’s Rights work 
were completed which found good practice overall.
Findings:

•  ��Regular visiting/frequent contact, flexible to support the needs 
of the child (in person and virtual) and good recording noted. 

•  ��A strong example of advocacy, seeking and supporting the 
wishes of the child, including thoughtful and sensitive discussion 
and recording on the file.

•  ��There needs to be consistent recording around whether 
children’s views were shared with the Chair of the Child 
Protection Conference  where the child is receiving advocacy by 
the Children’s Rights Officer.

Recommendations:

•  ��The need to consider how the service ascertains that feedback 
has been given to the child about how their voice was shared at 
their Child Protection Conference and the impact of this.

•  ��Including meaningful discussion about culture/identity in 
advocacy support.

•  ��Ensure all communication is recorded on children’s files so the 
journey and link between events is clear.

Evidence of Impact

A child made the following comments about her Children’s Rights Officer:

“She listened to me and played games with me.” 

P
age 93



32

Identifying and responding to all types of abuse recognising 
the vulnerability of specific groups of children

Safeguarding children during adolescence
Local Government Association (LGA) peer review -  
February 2022
In February 2022, the LGA undertook a peer review at Hackney’s invitation 
to look at our work with children during adolescence across the Children and 
Families Service .The challenge team were appreciative that we were still 
in the midst of the pandemic and the cyber attack with an interim system. 
But in spite of this, they found that we have shown incredible resilience and 
commitment to our families. The LGA found:

•  �The team reviewed 16 of our children’s files and were highly 
complimentary about our child-focused practice. 

•  �The LGA also recognised Young Hackney as a fantastic resource but 
they think we need to do more to communicate the offer we provide, 
evidence outcomes and link better with the wider offer for children 
during adolescence in the borough.

•  �Management structures may need to be addressed to benefit 
communication and  reduce silo working - The report highlights 
the need for our partners to do more work regarding anti-racism 
and highlights the work being done on decolonising the curriculum 
by our Education team and schools. Additionally, there are 
recommendations for schools and the police to firstly safeguard our 
children rather than criminalise or exclude.

•  �The review highlighted that we don’t currently have a clear practice 
model, and work has begun on refreshing this. 

Key recommendations included:

Strategic approach and partnership working
a)  Ensure greater strategic join-up between education, including 

schools, social care and other partner agencies to better 
understand the causes and consequences of exclusions and 
reduce these from the current high levels.

b)  Ensure there is a whole system approach across the Partnership 
to working with vulnerable adolescents, based on a shared 
responsibility for better outcomes underpinned by joined up 
performance and other information and analysis.

c)  Engage with and support the police to develop greater 
understanding of the negative impact of some of their 
interactions with young people and encourage a safeguarding-
first approach.

Organisational arrangements and practice
d)  Develop a clear practice model for children’s services which is well 

understood across the service and partners.

e)  Develop an outcomes framework and measures to better evidence  
the impact of the comprehensive range of resources deployed  
through Young Hackney and the wider early help offer. Use this 
information to ensure these resources are well targeted and have 
the maximum impact.

P
age 94



33

The offer to children during adolescence
f)  Use the opportunities provided by the planned introduction of 

Family Hubs and the implementation of the Early Help Strategy to 
focus on whole family working and associated impact measures.

g) Develop an edge of care strategy, informed by the analysis that 
led to the edge of care pilot, to provide support to the wider 
cohort of children at risk of entering the care system including 
through earlier intervention.

h)  Re-focus on the risks associated with child sexual exploitation, 
alongside the wider concerns regarding child criminal exploitation.

i)  Complete work on a communication strategy to young people, 
parents and professionals, so that professionals working with 
young people are able to better provide advice to families and 
children about the wide range of different support services that  
are available.

Live Learning Audit on Extra-Familial Harm - March 2022

To complement the Local Government Authority Peer Review on 
vulnerable adolescents that took place in February 2022, a live 
learning audit around extra familial harm began in March 2022. 
The percentage of audits scoring good was 27%, made up of 3 files 
scored as good, 6 files scored as requires improvement, and 2 files 
scored as inadequate.

Findings:

•  ��Auditors felt that child focused practice remains a strength. 
Relationship-based practice and consistent lead professionals 
acting as ‘trusted adults’ was a strength which helped to drive 
change for children and helped to keep them safe. 

•  ��Practice by the Context Intervention Unit (CIU) and the 
Extra Familial Risk Panel (EFRP) was commended across 
multiple audits, for its helpful intervention in strong risk 
conceptualisation, direct work, peer mapping and safety 
planning. 

•  ��Strengths were identified where management oversight 
was delivered from all levels in the service, including around 
challenging police conduct in relation to strip searching of 

children. Audits highlighted a lack of supervision and child 
summaries on files, alongside general management oversight. 

•  ��High staff turnover in CFS has led to multiple social workers 
working with children, coupled with delay in transfer between 
service areas led to drift in intervention delivery for some 
children. 

•  ��Auditors felt that there was more scope to challenge police on  
concerns of criminalisation of children who are being exploited, 
and adultification of children who need safeguarding. 

Recommendations:

•  ��Refocus on safeguarding children at risk of extra-familial harm, 
particularly sexual exploitation. .

•  ��Tighten management oversight including summaries, 
supervision and summaries - ensuring files are up to date. 

•  ��Managers at all levels to ensure that our Practice Standards and 
core Practice Guidance is discussed in supervision, management 
and team meetings and that managers at all levels ensure 
practitioners are making use of practice guidance.

Evidence of Impact

P
age 95



34

Neglect
Following the feedback from Ofsted during our 2019 ILACS inspection that 
a small number of children on Child Protection Plans were experiencing 
neglectful circumstances for too long, we have undertaken much work 
to strengthen our management oversight and decision-making for these 
children. In 2021 the City and Hackney Safeguarding Partnership (CHSCP) 
initiated discussions with NSPCC to introduce the Graded Care Profile II across 
the Hackney partnership. A multi-agency steering group was established in 

September 2021 to progress the implementation of the GCP2 and support 
the existing arrangements in place to respond to neglect. This group has met 
on seven occasions. Capacity challenges in the early stages – alongside the 
focused requirements of the NSPCC - impacted on the pace of the partnership 
in getting the project started. We are now in a much stronger position and 
there has been both recent and significant traction. The NSPCC is content with 
the latest updates and the range of activity that has taken place to prepare 
for the eventual launch of the tool. A defined implementation plan is in place 
with staff ‘Training for Trainers’ beginning in November 2022.

Live Learning Audit on Neglect - November 2021

In October-November 2021, a Live Learning Audit was 
undertaken looking at cases where neglect had been identified 
or suspected.  The case list was challenging to develop due to the 
reporting limitations of the interim social care recording system.  
11 audits were completed, with audits scored for overall practice 
from 1 (inadequate) to 4 (outstanding). 5 cases (45%) were scored 
as Good and 6 (55%) of cases scored as Requires Improvement. 
‘Child focused practice’ was clearly identified as a strength with 9 
out of the 11 audits being scored as Good for this area of practice. 
‘Management  oversight driving change’ is the area of focus that 
scored the lowest with 5 audits identifying this as an area which 
requires improvement and 2 identifying this as inadequate.

Findings:

•  ��Practitioners have a good understanding of the children and 
families they work with and form meaningful relationships  
with them.

•  ��Strong plans were detailed with clear goals and actions in 
line with the identified concerns, and progress was effectively 
monitored.

 
•  ��The child’s voice was often visible in the case file and there were 

good examples of effective direct work.

•  ��Recording, particularly of visits and supervision, was identified 
as a gap in almost all audits, underlying the ongoing challenge 
of the interim system.

•  ��Staff changes were noted as an issue in 4 audits. Three auditors 
noted the disruption that change of a social worker can have 
for engagement with families and progression of the plan due 
to the critical need to re-form relationships to effectively drive 
forward the plan.

•  �The cyber attack impact continued to be felt, with a lack of 
history and incomplete chronologies as a result. This means 
that it is harder for workers to know when to escalate cases, as 
full analysis of history is not always possible. Analysis of full 
information and analytical skills in social workers are critical, 
particularly when identifying neglect. 

Evidence of Impact

P
age 96



35

Recommendations:

•  ��This audit highlighted the need to improve our multi agency 
working with Adult Services, this would mean stronger joint 
planning for young people approaching 18 and prevent delay.  

•  ��There is a need to progress to using a consistent approach to 
understanding and evidencing the impact of long term neglect 
through the Graded Care Profile.

 
•  ��Continue to promote the inclusion of fathers and male 

caregivers in planning for children. 

•  ��There is a need to strengthen the way in which Family Group 
Conferences are offered to families, ensuring they are presented 
as an intervention families are entitled to before other 
interventions or legal action may be considered. P

age 97



36

 Disabled Children’s Service
We continue to focus on driving improvements in the Disabled Children’s 
Service through a strategic action plan. 

All new referrals for an assessment from the service are made through the 
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and all children of school age 
should have an Education, Health and Care Plan in place. 

At the end of March 2021, the service was working with 374 children and 
young people. Of these, 258 were male and 116 were female. This is a 7% 
decrease compared to 2019/20, when the service was working with 402 
children and young people. 

Age breakdown of children open to  
Disabled Children’s Service

Age Number of Children

5 or under 42

6 - 8 76

9 - 11 87

12 - 14 79

15+ 90

Total 374

Short breaks are defined as any service or activity outside of school hours 
which gives the family of a disabled child or young person a break from 
their caring responsibilities, and gives the disabled child or young person an 

enjoyable experience. As at the end of September 2022, there were  
1,776 children accessing short breaks provision, 266 of whom also access 
a care package.

Mar 2019 Mar 2020 Mar 2021 Mar 2022 Sept 2022

Number of 
young people 
accessing short 
breaks

1,400 1,599 1,388 1,542 1,776

Since April 2021, children receiving care packages who are also on Child 
in Need Plans in relation to safeguarding concerns have transferred to 
the Disabled Children’s Service. This minimises transitions, provides more 
consistency and ensures that processes are clearer for families.  As at the 
end of September 2022, there were 23 children on Child in Need Plans, 
2 children on Child Protection Plans and 1 looked after child receiving 
support from the Disabled Children’s Service.

The care packages for all children have been reviewed in the last year 
or are currently in the process of being reviewed - this is a significant 
improvement from 2019 when CFS took over the service, at which point 
there were numerous care packages which had not been reviewed in 
three years.  Since April 2021, assessments for 630 children have been 
completed by the Disabled Children’s Service.

Prior to 2022, the Disabled Children’s Service support was delivered by 5 
commissioned providers and 12 spot-purchased providers. In 2022, the 
Disabled Children’s Service completed a commissioning cycle and have 
now commissioned 33 providers to deliver the service. 

P
age 98



37

Disabled Children’s Service audits - throughout  
the quarter

Between April-June 2022, 4 audits of the Disabled Children’s 
Service were completed using the C&F assessment generic  
audit form.

Findings:

•  ��The auditor highlighted child-focused and well written 
assessments as strengths. 

•  ��50% of children were seen within 5 days of allocation. In the 
50% that were not, there was a rationale for this recorded on  
the file. 

•  ��100% of the children were seen at least every 20 days since the 
first visit. 

•  ��75% of the children were spoken to alone, and the one child who 
was not spoken to alone had a rationale recorded on file for this.

•  ��The voice of the child was evident on all files, but only partially 
in one of these.

•  ��For 50% of the children, the child(ren)’s ethnicity and identity 
was considered as part of and used to inform the assessment, 
and the other 50% partially evidenced this. 

•  ��Children’s fathers were only included in 50% of the assessments, 
and there was no rationale about this on one file.

 
•  ��Recording was of good quality in 75% of the files audited. 

•  ��The auditor felt that all assessments were proportionate in 
terms of depth and timeliness of activity in relation to level  
of need.

•  ��There was sufficient evidence of management oversight in  
75% of files. 

Recommendations:

•  ��The diversity and identity section needs to be completed 
meaningfully on assessments. 

•  ��In some cases, management oversight needs to be strengthened 
to ensure it is in line with assessment standards, such as 
the requirement to put oversight on file within 20 days of 
assessments being initiated and where children/families are  
not seen or contacted within timescales.

•  ��Work will be undertaken with Disabled Children’s Services  
CSWs around prompt allocation of assessments and timely 
contact with families, even where safeguarding concerns are  
not identified.

 

Evidence of Impact

P
age 99



38

Private Fostering
A child under the age of 16 (under 18, if disabled) who is cared for, or 
proposed to be cared for, and provided with accommodation by  someone 
other than a parent, person with parental responsibility or close relative for 
28 days or more is described as being privately fostered. Local authorities 
do not approve private foster carers, but are required to assess a private 
fostering arrangement to ensure that the welfare of privately fostered 
children is being safeguarded and promoted. As at 9th September 2022,  
11 private fostering arrangements were open to Hackney. All private 
fostering children’s records are audited regularly.

Private Fostering Audits

In August 2022,  all 11 of the privately fostered children’s files 
open to Hackney CFS were audited.

Findings:

•  ��11 audits with 36% rated as Good, compared to 100% rated as 
Good or Outstanding in October 2021

•  ��Practice was rated as RI for 3 children (27%), and Inadequate for 
4 children (36%). 

•  ��36% of households had up to date DBS checks for all adults

•  ��50% of PF arrangements had been reviewed annually and 
presented to Care Planning Panel

•  ��In 27% of cases, parents had not been involved in the most 
recent assessment of the PF arrangement

Recommendations:

•  ��Additional management oversight has been put in place via a 
Consultant Social Worker tasked to monitor practice with this 
cohort.

•  ��Any identified immediate actions have been shared with case 
holders and progress against these are being monitored.

•  ��A Private Fostering improvement action tracker has been 
created.

•  ��A briefing has been presented to all staff as a reminder of the 
criteria for Private Fostering and relevant staff will be suitably 
trained so they are familiar with private fostering notification 
timescales and are able to recognise private fostering 
arrangements at the earliest opportunity.

Evidence of Impact

P
age 100



39

Children missing education
As of August 2022, there were 213 children electively home educated  
(EHE) by their parents. Numbers increased in Autumn 2020 in response  
to the Covid-19 pandemic however numbers have steadily fallen back 
over time but remain above pre-pandemic levels. A new  EHE policy and 
assessment framework was introduced in June 2020 and is now embedded 
into practice. New referrals receive a suitability assessment within 12 weeks 
of referral and an annual assessment. 95% of our current cohort were seen 
within 12 weeks. 

Locally, the majority of children missing education (CME) are from the 
Orthodox Jewish community, with these children attending unregistered 
education settings (UES) on a full time basis, where we are unable to 
assess the suitability of their education. As of August 2022, there are 808 
registered children missing education, with 754 from the Orthodox Jewish 
community. Processes are in place for tracking CME in and out of the 
borough and steps are taken to visit the known Orthodox Jewish families  
to check on children’s wellbeing, though impact here is more limited. 

For many years, we have been lobbying for the Government to legislate to 
regulate the settings children attend, which the government is proposing 
to do in the current Schools Bill. Locally an unregistered education settings 
protocol coordinates a multi-agency response to new settings or incidents 
involving a known setting. Strengthening our relationship with the Orthodox 
Jewish communities in respect of UES and the children who attend them 
remains a focus for our work.

Since the last Ofsted inspection in 2019  work around EHE and CME has 
undergone extensive improvements with new policies, procedures and 
practice now embedded. 

P
age 101



The Experiences and Progress of Children in  
Care and Care Leavers

Our practice for looked after children and care leavers continues to 
strengthen, with changes to decision-making panels for children at the 
edge of care and in care ensuring that only those who cannot safely live 
at home are coming into care and we hope to strengthen our work for our 
adolescents on the edge of care further over the coming year. We have work 

to do to improve health checks, particularly dental checks, for our children 
and are focusing on ensuring we provide good transitions for our care 
leavers, with improvement in pathway plan completion rates a key area of 
focus. There is good work taking place across the service but our focus is on 
ensuring consistently high standards of practice for all of our children. 

. . .  Our practice for looked after children and 
care leavers continues to strengthen . ..

40

P
age 102



41

Making good decisions for children

Information about our looked after children
As of end September 2022, there were 404 Looked after children, down 
from a peak of 470 in November 2020. We believe numbers of looked after 
children increased as a result of family stressors related to lockdown, with 
them coming down again and stabilising with a renewed focus across the 
service on ensuring right children come into care at the right time. 

Number of children in care 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 End of Sept 2022

Number of children in 
care at snapshot date

432 426 406 404

Children entering care 228 182 163 95 
(April-Sept)

Children leaving care 208 181 187 98 
(April-Sept)

Rate of children in care

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 End of Sept 2022

Rate of children in 
care per 10,000

68 67 64 63

Statistical neighbours 60 63 n/a n/a

England 65 67 n/a n/a

Rates of looked after children per 10,000 in Hackney are now similar to  
our statistical neighbours. 31 (8%) of these children are unaccompanied  
minors, with the number of unaccompanied minors remaining below pre-
pandemic levels.

P
age 103



42

Age breakdown of looked after children at 31 March

Age 2020 2021 2022

Eng Hackney Eng Hackney Eng Hackney

Under 1 5% 20 (5%) 5% 18 (4%) N/A 15 (4%)

1 - 4 14% 35 (8%) 14% 47 (11%) N/A 49 (12%)

5 - 9 18% 55 (13%) 19% 57 (13%) N/A 49 (12%)

10 - 15 39% 173 (40%) 39% 157 (37%) N/A 155 (38%)

16+ 24% 149 (34%) 23% 147 (34%) N/A 137 (34%)

Age of children entering care

Age 2020 2021 2022

Eng Hackney Eng Hackney Eng Hackney

Under 1 19% 22(10%) 20% 23 (13%) N/A 23 (14%)

1 - 4 17% 28 (12%) 18% 19 (10%) N/A 15 (9%)

5 - 9 16% 26 (11%) 17% 20 (11%) N/A 19 (12%)

10 - 15 27% 71 (31%) 26% 49 (27%) N/A 40 (24.5%)

16+ 20% 81 (36%) 20% 71 (39%) N/A 66 (40.5%)

Total 229 182 N/A 163

34% of our looked after children are aged 16 
and 17; we continue to have a high proportion of 
adolescents coming into care. Analysis indicates 
that these children have a family history of 
trauma, educational exclusion, extra-familial risk 
and have significant risk factors for adolescents 
on the edge of care (with Black Caribbean and 
African backgrounds strongly over-represented). 
This analysis is informing the development of 
our Edge of Care strategy. Levels of children 
accommodated under Section 20 continue to 
fall. More work is required through the Edge 
of Care strategy to try and support children to 
safely return home to parents or family from care, 
whether they are in care short or long-term. 

There are some indications that a renewed 
commitment to a foster-first approach is 
achieving good outcomes for our looked after 
children and care leavers with 74% of looked 
after children in foster care arrangements as at 
March 2022 - an improvement from 71% at the 
end of 2020/21; 34 children (17%) were living in 
residential homes as at March 2022, a decrease 
from 20% the previous end of year and down 
from high point of 40 children in 2019/20. As at 
the end of September 2022, this was down to 29 
children. 36 children (8.5%) aged 16 or 17 were 
living in semi-independent homes at the end of 
March 2022, down from a high of 50 in 2019/20. 
As at the end of September 2022, this number 
was 36 (9%). There has been an increase in the 
use of Staying Put arrangements, with 15% of 

P
age 104



43

children in these settings at the end of March 2022, an increase from 10% 
last year. As at the end of September 2022, there were 54 (15%) care 
leavers living in staying put arrangements. 

The number of looked after children on remand has increased from 
4% 2020/21 to 8.4% 2021/2. New practice guidance on reducing 
criminalisation of looked after children has been developed. A senior 
management oversight forum to quality assure practice for looked after 
children open to the Youth Justice Service was introduced in June 2022.

We have had a renewed focus on a foster-first approach to adolescents 
entering our care in the past year and have been successful in reducing our 
number of 16 and 17 year olds living in semi-independent accommodation.  
A new accommodation pathway for supported accommodation began in 
April 2022. This commissioning contract was developed with input from 
our care leavers and with a key focus on the importance of providing local 
high quality homes for our young people. An emphasis on psychologically-
informed environments is built into the contract. 

Around half of looked after children are on full care orders (218 children 
or 54%); this is mostly unchanged from the previous reporting period 
(2020-2021). 75% of our looked after children are in foster placements, an 
increase of 71% during the previous year.

The destinations for children leaving care in 2021-22 were as follows:

Returned home 54 Custody 1

Special Guardianship Order 16 Other 113

Adoption 3

Edge of care pilot
The number of children and young people entering into care in Hackney 
had been increasing steadily over the past 10 years. It was hypothesised 
that this may be due to a lack of fidelity to the original innovative model 
‘Reclaiming social care’ as well as other external factors (specifically, a 
rise in poverty rates, and high extrafamilial risks). The Edge of Care pilot 
was designed as a way to understand whether the number of children 
entering into care proceedings can be reduced by the use of an intensive, 
therapeutically informed innovative interdisciplinary approach targeting 
children at the right time on the care pathway. The new Edge of Care  
service works with children, families and the wider network offering  
support at the critical moment when children are on the ‘edge of care’ 
with the aim of preventing family breakdown and reducing the number of 
children entering into care.

Hackney successfully won funding from ‘What Works for Social Care’ to 
evaluate the effectiveness of the Edge of Care pilot. This is a mixed methods 
evaluation design with the goal of understanding the complex factors 
moving families towards and away from the edge of care or transitioning 
young people in care back into their families. This evaluation draws on 
quantitative analysis and qualitative feedback to inform a sustainable  
Edge of Care service that fits the local Hackney context.  

The Edge of Care service works with families who have a child or children  
on a statutory social care plan or with those who are in the process of 
receiving a Children and Families assessment. The Edge of Care service 
provides intensive, relational and intentional support to families where  
there is a risk of one or more child(ren) entering into care and where the 
home environment and care given is assessed by the social worker as safe 
for the child or children to remain. Drawing on a systemic and trauma 
informed approach, the service tailors interventions according to the  
families needs while promoting anti-racist practice. Families who are open  
to the Edge of Care service often have multiple risk factors that include 
intra/extra familial risk.

Social workers refer families into the Edge of Care via the Children Resource 
Panel; referrals are discussed at panel and if appropriate the Edge of Care 
service seeks to offer follow up within the week.  

P
age 105



44

Missing Looked After Children Audit Overview

Between October - December 2021, 10 audits were undertaken 
on care experienced children and young people who had 
repeated missing episodes over the past 3 months. The looked 
after children and young people audited were chosen because they 
had the most frequent missing episodes over recent months. All 
were under 18 at the time of audit: 8 were held in the Looked After 
Children service and two in Leaving Care. Half were male and half 
were female. 80% were from a Black or global majority background.

Findings:

•  ��60% were rated as Good or Outstanding. 

•  ��In 40% of the audits, the children or young people were visited 
in line with Practice Standards; 40% partially in line and 20% not 
in line with expectations. 

•  ��In 70% of audits there was evidence of sufficient management 
oversight. 

Recommendations:

•  ��Monthly meeting to be established with Missing Strategic Lead 
to review practice with frequent missing looked after children.

•  ��To ensure compliance with Practice Standards for visits and case 
supervision, weekly reports will be monitored by the Corporate 
Parenting management team.

Anti Racism Parenting Audit - March 2022

Between February and March 2022 a total of 14 audits were 
undertaken within Corporate Parenting. A selection of looked 
after children, care leavers and carers’ files were audited, and all 
children and young people whose files were audited were of Black 
or Global Majority backgrounds and the carers files audited were 
caring for children from Black or Global Majority backgrounds. 
Auditors rated 79% of files Good or Outstanding.

Findings:

•  ��5 out of 8 auditors felt there was evidence of the child’s family 
relationships being sufficiently supported, and a further 3 felt 
there was partial evidence of this. There were strong examples 
of carers who are proactively supporting children’s identity 
needs.

•  ��Examples were seen of sensitive work by practitioners to explore 
children and young people’s identity, but there was lack of 
evidence of practitioners talking to Black and global majority 
children and young people about racism, and/or encouraging 
carers to do the same.

•  ��Children looked after and care leavers were mainly seen in line 
with practice standards, and recordings of these visits were 
regular and of good quality. Four audits specifically noted that 
the child or young person was seen far more regularly than 
practice standards dictate.

•  ��Several audits commented on the high quality of supervision 
records, and/or case summaries, and/or Look After Child Review 
documents, with six auditors making specific comments about 
one or more of these key documents being written in child-
focused and engaging language.

Evidence of Impact

P
age 106



45

Recommendations:

•  ��Auditors recommended that allocated practitioners need to  
do more to explore directly with children their understanding  
of their cultural heritage and any questions about this they  
may have.

•  ��Auditors recommended that practitioners explore explicitly 
with carers what they could, should and are doing to promote 
children’s sense of pride in their heritage, and talk to them 
about racism. 

•  ��Auditors also recommended that basic ethnicity recording needs 
to be improved, and progress in promoting more family time 
needs to be more timely.

Children in care - visits
As at 10th October 2022, 54% of looked after children were visited within 
30 working days (6 weeks), 29% of looked after children were visited within 
6-12 weeks. Looked after children who are in settled care arrangements will 
usually have agreements have been made with their Independent Reviewing 
Officers that they need to be seen at a minimum of 12 weekly. 

 

Fostering Service 
As of August 2022, Hackney Fostering Service had 174 supported Fostering 
households. 53% of Hackney carers live in the borough. This is positive 
in terms of supporting Hackney’s looked after children to remain close to 
home, wherever possible and safe, which minimises disruption, for example, 
in their education provision and key personal and professional relationships. 
The continuation of the Mockingbird Model has been embedded, with a 
focus in 2022/23 to embed the two newest Constellations and, towards 
the end of the year, we hope to be in a position to launch the fourth 
Constellation. Long-term, our vision is that all Hackney foster carers will be 
part of a Mockingbird Constellation.

Fostering recruitment and retention continues to perform well, with an 
ongoing increase in fostering households year on year. There has been an 
increase over the past few months of children coming into care and being 
placed in temporarily approved connected carers. Whilst this is a positive 
outcome for most, the number of unregulated connected carers remains 
too high: delays in court proceedings, often due to difficulties in court 

P
age 107



46

time-tabling, has been a barrier to the positive progress of plans for Special 
Guardians for many children. 

The Fostering Service has maintained a strong recruitment record over 
recent years, despite a very challenging national context. We remain 
ambitious for the year ahead, with a target of recruiting 15 more new 
fostering households. 

Form F 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Enquiries 327 272 222

Approvals 8 15 14

Hackney has engaged a diverse audience interested in becoming foster 
carers, through a mixed media approach and a flexible way of working. In 
order to maintain a competitive fostering offer with other local authorities, 
over the following year we are hoping to secure agreement for Council tax 
exemption for Hackney carers and to progress ideas for other benefits, such 
as discounts on local leisure activities.

The service is aware of the challenging role of a foster carer, and has a 
range of support systems in place in addition to the individual statutory 
support and supervision received from allocated fostering social workers. 
The vacancy rate for foster carers has fallen to 7% at the end of September 
2022, down from 37% since the introduction of the Consultant Matching 
Officer in April 2018. Foster carers are able to attend a peer support group 
led by an Assistant Psychologist and a senior Social Worker. In addition, 
foster carers can access clinical support in relation to the young people they 
are caring for - often this will also involve an exploration of their journey to 
fostering and how this has shaped their approach to parenting, and some 
foster carers find this beneficial in managing their own emotional wellbeing.  

In March 2022, the first Annual Foster Carers Survey was launched. 43 carers 
(25% of the 170 fostering households) responded, indicating a sense of 

what should be prioritised in the year ahead, and how they felt the needs of 
children and young people were being met by the networks around them. 
We are committed to learning from our foster carers about what we are 
doing well and what we can do better. This year, for every foster carer that is 
deregistered, the Fostering Service Manager will offer a formal exit interview, 
as an opportunity to gather feedback in order to support the ongoing 
development of our service. In the year 2021/22, there were 17 resignations, 
compared to 13 in the year 2020/21.

Hackney’s Supported Lodging Scheme launched in 2018 as an additional 
option for young people preparing to leave care, to offer young people aged 
16+ the opportunity to live in the home of an approved person who will 
help them prepare for independent living. This provides the young person 
with a safe and supportive environment to develop the practical skills and 
emotional maturity needed to move on and cope with living independently. 
As of March 2022, Hackney had 7 young people living in supported lodgings 
arrangements. The target for the forthcoming year is to recruit a minimum 
of a further 3 Supported Lodgings hosts and continue to promote this as an 
alternative to supported accommodation, where appropriate.

P
age 108



47

Foster carer survey 2022

The Fostering Service undertook an annual survey of foster 
carers and in 2022, 43 foster carers completed the survey. 
The survey findings indicate that overall, foster carers feel well 
supported by the  Fostering Service. There are areas for further 
development, both in relation to the support carers receive from 
the Fostering Service and in relation to the needs of children in 
their care being met. In particular, foster carers were not confident 
that the mental health needs of children in their care are well met, 
nor that professionals would challenge racism and descrimination 
if this was experienced by children in their care. The results of 
this survey will contribute to the development of the Fostering 
Recruitment and retention strategy 2022/23.  

Findings:

•  ��79.1% of carers agreed or strongly agreed they were happy with 
the level of support they received from the fostering service. 

•  ��81.4% of carers agreed or strongly agreed that supervision helps 
them understand the child’s Care Plan and their role in helping 
to achieve this.

•  ��81.4% of carers felt the training offer for foster carers is relevant 
and supports them to do their job better.

•  ��81.4% of carers agreed they are well supported to understand 
and respond to the complex needs of children or young people 
in their care.

Carers were asked what they feel the fostering services priorities 
should be for the forthcoming year for our ongoing service 
development. They were given 7 options (including ‘other’) and 
asked to choose their top 3 priorities. 

•  ��Champion the voice of foster carers in professional networks 
(81.4%)

•  ��Develop the training offer for foster carers (53.5%)

•  ��Improve the support offer for foster carers out of office hours 
(53.5%).

Evidence of Impact

Quotes from foster carers:

  “I feel very well supported in all areas.”
“I feel I’m valued in my role as a foster carer.”

P
age 109



48

Hackney of Tomorrow (HoT) - Children in Care Council
Hackney of Tomorrow have continued their involvement with recruitment, 
foster carer training and attendance at the Corporate Parenting Board. Over 
the past year, Hackney of Tomorrow has delivered a series of successful 
participation projects, which have enabled children in care and care leavers 
to shape and influence multiple aspects of Hackney’s Corporate Parenting 
service, including:

•  �In April 2021, HoT undertook a youth inspection of the Looked After 
Child Review process. Some of the key findings of the inspection 
were that young people felt as if their Reviews were overcrowded 
with professionals and other adults who were not initially known to 
them. In addition to this, Junior HoT members found that young 
people often feel as if their Reviews don’t focus enough on their 
thoughts and feelings. As a result of this inspection, the head of 
the Safeguarding and Reviewing team initiated several actions 
which aim to improve young people’s experiences of LAC Reviews - 
including the provision of a pre-meeting option sheet, through which 
young people can state who they would like to attend and where 
they would like their meeting to be held. 

•  �HoT have been working alongside the Placement Management 
Unit in the re-tendering of contracts for the semi-independent 
accommodation providers as full members of the commissioning 
board.

•  �Following their involvement in the commissioning process for the 
Ferncliff Centre in 2020, members of Junior HoT carried out a Youth 
Inspection of the renewed service in June 2021. This inspection took 
place during an in-person visit to the centre, during which Junior 

HoT members reviewed changes that have been made in line with 
the renewed service specification, which had been updated during 
the commissioning process the previous year. Whilst performing 
the inspection, young people also interviewed several members 
of staff, asking questions relating to improvements and the 
recommendations that HoT members had made following the award 
of the contract in 2020. 

•  �In April 2022, Senior HoT members took part in a co-production 
workshop for the development of a website dedicated to providing 
housing advice to care leavers from Hackney. 

•  �In September 2021, members of Junior and Senior HoT took part 
in a consultation led by the Director of Children and Families, the 
Head of Corporate Parenting and the Director for Hackney Education. 
During this consultation, young people discussed how being in care 
had affected their experience of education. The findings from this 
consultation were used to inform strategy for Hackney Education and 
the Virtual School.

•  �From May to November 2021, young people from HoT engaged in  
an extended consultation, led by the Clinical Service. Young people 
were asked to speak about the struggles of transitioning from  
‘being in care’ to becoming a ‘care leaver’. Young people made 
recommendations which ranged from supporting young people to 
access advice about entering the private rental market, to developing 
an in-house life skills programme developed and delivered by                        
Hackney’s Corporate Parenting Service. These recommendations 
have been incorporated into Hackney’s Corporate Parenting Action 
Plan and Sufficiency Strategy which will be launched in January 2023.  

Participation and direct work with children in  
care and care leavers

P
age 110



49

.  

Feedback from children and young people in care - 
annual survey 2022

Each year, the Corporate Parenting Service carries out a 
survey of our care experienced children and young people to 
gather their feedback, in order to inform our plans for service 
development. This year, we have based the survey on the Hackney 
Promise to looked after children and care leavers, as we were keen 
to hear how they feel we are doing well and where we need to do 
better in respect to our promises to them. 

105 responses were received and the headline findings against 
key promises were as follows:

• ��We promise that you will be at the centre of all meetings about 
you, even if you choose not to attend. Where you do come, you 
will be supported to take part in a way that feels comfortable for 
you - 78% of children and young people felt that this promise is 
being kept.

• ��We promise that if you need to move home, we will share as 
much information as we can, as early as we can, about why and 

 

where you may be moving to - only 48% of children and young 
people felt that this promise is being kept. This suggests there is 
more work to do in this area. 

• ��We promise to help you to find the right school, college, course 
or job for you - 72% of respondents felt this promise was being 
kept.

• ��We promise that when you are struggling with your emotional 
well-being we will talk to you about this and try to get you the 
support you need - 73% of respondents felt this promise was 
being kept.

• ��We promise that we will let you know all the options that are 
available to you at important crossroads in your life, to help 
you make decisions that are right for you - only 56% of children 
and young people felt that this promise is being kept, clearly 
indicating an area for focused improvement work. 

Evidence of Impact

We plan to use what our children and young people tell us  
to help inform our priorities for the next 3 year  

Corporate Parenting Strategy and Sufficiency Strategy, 2023-2025.  
We plan to repeat this survey annually, which will allow the results to  

be compared with previous years. 

P
age 111



50

Helping and protecting looked after children

Independent Chairs and  
Looked After Child Reviews
518 looked after children received a review between 1 April 2021 and 31 
March 2022, and 1,068 Looked After Reviews took place during that period. 
Due to the cyber attack we are unable to compare the number of reviews 
taking place in this year compared to last. However, we are aware that we 
were able to increase the number of reviews taking place in timescale to 
90% which is an improvement on previous years. Where reviews are not held 
in timescale the Service Manager will make a note of the reasons for this on 
the child’s Mosaic record. Requests to change the planned date of a Review, 
if within 6 weeks of the meeting, needs to be agreed by the respective Heads 
of Service. Depending on the needs of the child the Chair may  meet or speak 
with the child in the interim. 

As at March 2022, 56% of minutes from Looked After Reviews were 
completed within the timeframe of 15 working days, which was down from 
71% in January 2022. From January - March 2022, 76% of Looked After 
Child Reviews were held face to face or in a ‘blended’ way. Of those reviews 
which were expected to be held in person (excluding those 6 month paper 
based reviews for children who have annual review meetings) only 9 Reviews 
were held virtually to enable the best participation possible at the request  
of the child. 

Following the disruption of COVID-19 to in person meetings, we have moved 
back to a model of ensuring children are seen in person as part of their  
review meeting. At times some older children continue to prefer virtual 
attendance but the Independent Chair will always try to meet with them 
separately and see their care arrangement. Some children’s homes have 
continued to limit the number of visitors able to attend, to try and limit the 

possible infection risks. In these circumstances children are asked which 
person they would wish to have in person at the meeting. 

During 2021/22 93% of looked after children aged over 4 years participated 
in their Looked After Reviews in some way whether directly, through an 
advocate, or another method. 15% of children were under 4 years old at the 
time of their review and so there is no expectation of a formal contribution 
from them, and 6% of children did not attend or convey their views to the 
review. This is a slight decrease from previous years. The data continues to 
show that participation in reviews is good. 

Reporting on Independent Chair oversight and escalation has been disrupted 
by the cyber attack and use of the interim system. The information available 
to 460 looked after children who had a review in this periods shows that in;

 • 64.8% of reviews - No escalation required prior to review

 • 11.3% of reviews - Escalation made prior to review and  
issue resolved	

 • 4.8% of reviews - Escalation made prior to review and  
issue unresolved	

 • 19.1% of reviews - Escalation required after the review

The vast majority of escalations continue to be resolved before involving 
Service Manager or Head of Services. There have been no cases which have 
required escalation to the Director or CAFCASS. 

The thematic issues which are being raised through these escalations are 
fairly consistent over time and include; delay in implementing the Care Plan 
or specific actions on the Plan, a lack of recording of visits on file, difficulties 
in relation to family time arrangements, escalations to partner agencies 
where they had not implemented actions. 

P
age 112



51

Given the national context in the past year in relation to the challenge 
of finding suitable care arrangements for children, there has been an 
increase in Independent Chair’s concerns in relation to delay in finding 
appropriate care arrangements for children, when a move had been agreed. 
Independent Chairs have been mindful that a formal escalation won’t 
change the national care picture, but have utilised the process to review 
how to support children in their current care arrangements, and consider 
approaches to searching for alternative care arrangements.

Last year also saw some challenges in relation to staff stability and the 
impact upon progressing plans for children in the context of staff turnover. 
Whilst managers were well aware of the challenges within their service 
area, Independent Chairs continued to highlight the need for reports to 
be available within statutory timescales prior to meetings, and for there 
to be staff attendance with knowledge of the child, family and their 
circumstances. 

 

‘Most of the time I’m confused why it still happens.  
It doesn’t always feel like we stick  

to a plan in the meeting.’

‘I was able to reflect on the things that I was doing  
that could possibly cause mental harm to myself later on.  

I was given a choice of multiple options on how to  
deal with my mental health in the future.’

‘I get to make a plan that I can stick to - it makes  
things feel less confusing.’

‘I like the fact that I received a warning about  
the fact that my review was coming up.  

It gave me time to think about what I wanted  
to talk about.’

‘I get to at least tell them all what I want and  
I think they listen to that.’

Evidence of Impact
Feedback from children who had a review during 2021-22:

P
age 113



52

Health of looked after children

Physical health of looked after children
Further work is required to improve LAC health indicators, particular 
immunisation levels, SDQ compliance and dental checks. A new workstep 
is being developed in Mosaic, to use in collaboration with the Looked 
After Child Health team, to improve real time reporting and help drive up 
performance.

Percentage of looked after children whose  
health checks were in time during  
a 12 month period

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Hackney 96% 91% 95%

England 90% 91% n/a

 

The number of children with an up to date health assessment has 
maintained a comparable performance to the England average.

Percentage of looked after children whose  
immunisations are up to date

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Hackney 57% 59% 56%

England 88% 86% n/a

The number of children with up to date immunisations is low, and work 
is underway with the Council’s Public Health Service to understand and 
address this across the City of London and Hackney.

Percentage of looked after children who  
have an up to date dental check

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Hackney 81% 64% 71%

England 86% 40% n/a

The number of children with up to date dental checks has improved from 
the previous year, and is significantly higher than the England average of 
40% in 2020/21, reflecting a dramatic decline in the availability of dental 
appointments during the pandemic.

P
age 114



53

 Mental health of looked after children
The mental health of looked after children is at greater risk than other 
children due to their experiences before and during care. Attention is paid 
to the mental health of our looked after children annually and pre-transition 
(aged 17.5 years). 

The Clinical service has partnered with Corporate Parenting to attend to the 
mental health needs of looked after children who are out of the borough. 
This has involved the piloting of a hybrid, then largely online service 
providing stability to children who are often de-stabilised when changes to 
their care arrangement occur. 

Strengths and difficulties 
questionnaire

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 England 
2020-21 

SN 
2020-21

Children looked after for at least 
12 months aged 4 to 16 with an 
SDQ score

77.0% 72.6% 82.8% 80% 86% 

Average score per child 13.4 11.8 13.8 14 12

The Clinical service are currently undertaking (as at July 2022) a review of 
all therapeutic care arrangements to ensure accommodation for our most 
vulnerable looked after children is attending to their emotional wellbeing 
and mental health. Securing CCG funding to support this and reduce the 
burden of high cost care arrangements  is also a key element of this work.

There has been an increase in the proportion of Strengths and Difficulties 
Questionnaire indicates ‘cause for concern’ for our looked after children. 
This is in line with national reports of increasing concerns about child and 
adolescent mental health, but is work underway to review how the mental 
health needs of our looked after children are being met and the CFS clinical 
contribution to this.

. . .The mental health of looked after children is at greater risk than 
other children due to their experiences before and during care. ..            

P
age 115



54

Annual SDQ scores are completed with all children who are looked after 
by Hackney. A score over the evidence based threshold results in a clinical 
consultation with an in-house clinician to undertake joint thinking about the 
mental health needs of each child, followed by a Talk Together Appointment 
(TTA) - a session with the child, social worker and clinician. 

At each child’s 17.5 year review, special attention is paid to their mental 
health here to ensure young people are supported in their transition to adult 
mental health services where needed. Screens at this point include the SDQ, 

PHQ-9 and GAD-7. If thresholds are met, an ongoing clinical consultation 
is offered to support the social worker and young person to access adult 
mental health services where needed.

Corporate parenting and the clinical service have undergone a service wide 
review to analyse data around children who are looked after by us, access 
to mental health support, unmet need and gaps within the offer to guide a 
comprehensive offer to address the mental health of looked after children. 

. . .At each child’s 17.5 year review, special attention is paid to their mental 
health here to ensure young people are supported in their transition...            

P
age 116



The Virtual School 
The Virtual School team provides additional educational support for children 
looked after, from early years all the way through to post-16 education and 
training opportunities, which provides continuity for children and young 
people in care. The Virtual School is well-resourced and includes a variety 
of roles including social pedagogues, learning mentors, an occupational 
therapist and speech and language therapists.

Key Stage 4

The progressfor pupils in Key Stage 4 is monitored throughout the year 
and where necessary individual targeted support is offered. Where it is felt 
appropriate, 1 to 1 tuition is offered. All Year 11 pupils receive support to 
identify appropriate pathways once statutory schooling has ended, and 
when necessary, are accompanied to college open days and interviews by a 
member of the Virtual School staff.

Key Stage 4 Attainment in 2021
Due to the Covid 19 pandemic children and young people did not complete 
GCSE examinations in 2020 and 2021. All grades were based on teacher 
assessments which will not be reported nationally. The teacher assessments 
below are based on all the young people in the cohort, and not as is usually 
reported, those pupils that have been in care for 1 year and more. This 
means that the results can be expected to be lower than in previous years. 
Given the fact that there is a large cohort in year 11 and includes a large 
number of pupils that it wouldn’t usually, the assessments are fairly positive.

Learning

Percentage of children achieving  
Grade 4 at Key Stage 4

Grade 4 and above

English Language 30%

English Literature 27%

Maths 22%

There are no national comparable measures available for this year.

55

P
age 117



56

Key Stage 2

Pupils in year 6 are closely monitored and additional 
support is provided if it is necessary. All pupils are offered 
support for the transition to secondary school, and links are 
made with designated teachers before children transition 
to their new school.

Due to the Covid 19 pandemic children and young people 
did not complete SATs tests in 2020 and 2021. Children 
were teacher-assessed against the national standard. The 
teacher assessments below are based on all the young 
people in the cohort, and not as is usually reported, those 
pupils that have been in care for 1 year and more. 

Percentage of children working at  
the required standard at Key Stage 2 

Working at the required standard

Reading 47%

Writing 42%

Maths 53%

There are no national comparable measures available this year.

P
age 118



57

The percentage of children aged under 16 who have been  
looked after for more than 2.5 years, who have lived in  
the same home for over 2 years

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Sept 2022

Hackney 66% 77% 71% 65%

Statistical neighbours 71% 70% n/a n/a

England 68% 71% n/a n/a

 
There has been an increase in the number of children experiencing three 
or more care arrangements over the course of a year - the 2021/22 outturn 
was 15% which is higher than the statistical neighbour and national 
averages of 9%. There has been a decrease in the proportion of children 
aged under 16 who have been looked after for more than 2.5 years, who 
have lived in the same home for over 2 years (71% in 2021/22 compared 
to 77% in 2020/21). Hackney’s performance against this indicator is in line 
with the statistical neighbour and England averages in 2020/21. 2020/21 
stability figures were particularly good, believed to be influenced by the 
context of lockdown in the pandemic. However, further analysis is underway 
on the cohort of children with 3+ care arrangements and those who have 
left long term homes to think about what we need to do to address this.

We have also taken steps to improve the process of oversight for planning 
for children once they enter a legal framework and beyond the conclusion 
of any legal proceedings, again to help ensure that the right decisions are 

Care arrangement stability
The Focused Visit in February 2019 raised questions about the strength of 
our planning for children and particularly raised a question about whether 
there are some children in Hackney that are living in situations where their 
needs are not being appropriately met for too long. A spotlight on the PLO 
pre-proceedings process queried whether this was being used enough to 
support timely decision making for children and parallel planning. Since 
then, we have introduced systems to ensure senior management oversight 
at key points for children subject to Child in Need and Child Protection Plans, 
to help make sure the right decisions are being made for children, at the 
right time. More attention has been paid to parallel, and triple, planning 
for children in the PLO process and to ensure this legal framework is being 
used effectively, early enough, to support long-term planning for children, 
avoiding the use of care  proceedings where appropriate.   Over time, our 
numbers of children in PLO have risen, from 9 children in PLO in July 2021,  
to 16 children at the end of March 2022.

Stability and permanence

Percentage of looked after children with three or  
more care arrangements in one year

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Sept 2022

Hackney 12% 10% 15% 14%

Statistical neighbours 10% 9% n/a n/a

England 11% 9% n/a n/a

P
age 119



58

made for children, at the right time. For example through our Permanency 
Planning Meetings, which are overseen by senior managers, and ensure 
parallel planning is in place to consider alternative routes to permanency for 
long-term looked after children.

Care arrangement types as at 31 March 2022

Care arrangement type Number of looked after children

Foster care arrangements 305 (75%)

Placed for adoption 7 (1.7%)

Care arrangements with parents 14 (3.5%)

Secure units, children's homes and semi-
independent living accommodation

79 (19.5%)

Total 405 (100%)

Care arrangements for looked after children by  
location at 31 March 2022

Care arrangements location Number of children

Hackney 120 (26%)

Under 20 miles from Hackney 227 (50%)

Over 20 miles from Hackney 71 (17%)

(Note - distance for unaccompanied asylum seeking children is not captured within  
this performance measure)

Adoption
Three children were adopted in 2021-22, with ten children adopted in the 
first six months of 2022-23 alone, all aged under 5 years old. Adoption levels 
were low in 2020/21, due primarily to court delays related to the pandemic 
(trend seen across Adopt London North). A significant number of adoption 
proceedings are expected to conclude in 2022/3. 

There have been 16 Special Guardianship Orders (SGO’s) in 2021-22, with 
a further 7 granted in the first six months of 2022-23. Greater attention has 
been placed over the past year on the prospect of progressing alternative 
routes to permanency through adoption or SGO for children in long-term 
care, with a small but significant number of positive outcomes to this 
approach.

P
age 120



59

Care Leaver information
387 care leavers aged between 17 and 21 were being supported by the 
Leaving Care service at 31 March 2022, an increase of 11 (3%) from 376 
at the same point in 2021. 357 care leavers were supported at the end 
of September 2022. There were 63 care leavers aged 22 and older being 
supported as at 31st March 2022, lower than the 79 supported as at March 
2021. This has decreased to 55 care leavers being supported as at 30th 
September 2022.

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 SN 
2020-21

England 
2020-21 

% of care leavers 
aged 19-21 who 
were in education, 
employment or 
training

65% 56% 69% 55% 53%

% of care leavers 
aged 19-21 who 
were in suitable 
accommodation

86% 87% 88% 86% 85%

% of care leavers 
aged 19-21 who 
were in higher 
education

10% 11% 16% 8% 6%

Care Leavers and transitions

69% of Hackney care leavers aged 19 or 20 were in education, employment 
or training in 2021/22. This is higher than statistical neighbours (55%) and 
last year’s performance in Hackney at 56%. 

The percentage of care leavers aged 19-21 who were in suitable 
accommodation in 2021/22 was 88%, an increase from 87% last 
year. Housing is a challenge both locally and nationally but the Service 
will continue efforts to improve the number of care leavers in suitable 
accommodation in partnership with the Council’s Housing Needs Service.

There has been an increase in the percentage of care leavers who were in 
higher education in Hackney - from 11% 2020/21 to 16% in 2021/22, much 
higher than the national average of 6%.    

Pathway plans
Review Pathway Plan data performance has plateaued at around 60% 
throughout 2021/22 to end September 2022.The Pathway Plan Panel 
chaired by the Practice Development Manager has addressed the most 
overdue Pathway Plans by setting deadlines and providing oversight of 
the 3 Leaving Care Units, which have large units with allocations between 
121-132 care leavers. The length of time between Pathway Plan reviews has 
reduced significantly. 

Updated care leaver local offer
Recent Corporate Parenting priorities for developing the Hackney care 
leavers local offer have included: housing pathways, employment support 
and apprenticeship opportunities, virtual and physical spaces for care 
leavers, subject access requests, access to discounted leisure activities, and 
council tax exemption for care leavers. 

P
age 121



60

Findings from National Implementation Adviser for  
Care Leavers visit - May 2022

On 24th and 25th May 2022, Hackney’s Care Leaver Service 
undertook a visit from the National Implementation Advisor 
for Care Leavers, Mark Riddell. The service was credited for its 
ambitious, aspirational and passionate leadership management 
approach. The journey of continuous improvement against the 
backdrop of the pandemic and lockdowns were noted. A set of 
recommendations were also given and agreed by senior officers 
and operational staff, to form part of the follow-up review 
six months after the visit. These recommendations included: 
developing the ‘Champion Model Approach’ and introducing 
themed Boards, to strengthen the membership of the Corporate 
Parenting Board, to review the existing Housing Joint Protocol 
and DWP Protocol, to develop a clear set of pathways to adult 
and mental health services and for discussions around complexity 
to begin in care planning when children in care are approaching 
14 years. Five specific recommendations were also suggested as 
funding priorities:

• ��To increase the number of ring fenced jobs and apprenticeships 
by looking at vacancies across the whole council.

• ��To review the current Council Tax Exemption in relation to 
following care leavers nationally.

• ��To review current caseloads and to consider whether a more 
multi-agency approach could be developed.

• ��To develop a health offer 18yrs to 25yrs which could include an 
offer of dental prostheses and/or glasses, etc. Alongside this to 
develop an offer to care leavers from the Clinical Service.

• ��To consider the development of a space for care leavers.

Visit by Department for Levelling Up, Housing & 
Communities - May 2022

On 25th May 2022, Hackney was visited by Kim Davis, Senior 
Youth Adviser in the Homelessness Advice and Support Team. 
During the visit, key strengths were identified in Hackney, 
including:

• Committed officers services who are open and motivated to 
prevent homelessness and improve outcomes for young people.

• ��Homeless and Rough Sleeping Strategy includes a clear focus  
on young people and care leavers.

• ��Homelessness Partnership Board in place.

• ��Housing Need leadership attendance at Corporate 
ParentingBoard.

• ��Newly commissioned young person accommodation pathway 
April 22 with plans to increase provision in 2022.

• ��Edge of Care Service gives quick access to therapeutic and 
practical support to strengthen relationships to keep  
families together.

• ��Trauma and Psychologically informed approach - training for 
officers and embedded in commissioning.

Five recommendations were made to improve practice for young 
people, including the need to:

1.	 Review practice and assessment arrangements for homeless 
applicants to ensure compliance with legislation and the DfE/
DLUHC Joint Guidance Provision of accommodation for 16 and 
17 year olds who may be homeless.

Evidence of Impact

P
age 122



61

2.	 Update websites to provide user friendly advice and  
information for vulnerable groups, including care leavers and  
16/17-year-olds.

3.	 Ensure Duty to Refer awareness across Children Services 
is improved, embedded in delivery, practice and recorded 
accurately.

4.	 Design a program of training and briefings across Housing 
Needs, Children’s Services, and the wider community, to update 
and improve awareness of your youth homelessness practice, 
protocols, joint working, and support services available

5.	 Review current practice on accommodation and transition 
planning for care leavers, to start earlier, so care leavers are 
better informed, skilled and prepared for independent living 
and do not have to go via the homelessness route to access 
accommodation.

A 16/17 Year Old Homelessness Protocol is near completion 
and there is a plan to roll out with briefings to all relevant staff.  
From this point  on all young people presenting as homeless will 
receive an improved service. The service is also developing a Google 
site for our Care Leaver Offer. 16/17 year olds will form a part of a 
wider piece of work on the Children and Education web presence. 
Ongoing work on care leavers housing includes exploring a wide 
range of options and initiatives to improve pathways, including a 
joint contract with housing for post-tenancy support from Settle, a 
voluntary organisation.

Preparing for independence audit in June 2022
14 audits were undertaken of looked after children aged 17/18 
or carers of children that age, across Looked after Children, 
Care Leavers and Fostering, with 38% of audits rated as Good 
or Outstanding. Good practice included strong relationships 
between practitioners and children; strong Pathway Plans, which 
were written to the child in an engaging and accessible style; 
strong planning in place around the child or young person’s 
accommodation options, both pre and post 18 and the quality  
and consistency of supervision records was praised specifically in  
6 audits. 

Areas for improvement included the need for more detailed 
exploration about specific independence skills; Pathway 
Plan recording needing to be up to date and in timescale; in 
some cases, there was a need for more frequent, consistent 
and persistent attempts to engage care leavers who have 
recently transitioned to adulthood, particularly those who 
have enhanced support needs; more attention could be given 
to the support needed by children transitioning to adulthood 
around family relationships; fostering recording, of visits and/
or supervision and Independent Chair escalations -needing 
sufficient evidence on the child/carers file that the issue had 
been fully responded to and addressed.

P
age 123



The Impact of Leaders on Social Work Practice with  
Children and Families

Following a significant number of changes to our practice model in 2021, 
work continues to fully embed these changes and ensure that staff at all 
levels fully understand the expectations of their roles. Good progress is 
being made in terms of our focus on anti-racist practice and leaders are 
appropriately refining the approach to quality assurance to evidence the 
quality of practice and impact of changes. The complex work to develop 

a comprehensive case recording system for the Children and Families 
Service has resulted in the successful reintroduction of Mosaic in April 
2022, which staff have welcomed. Work continues to develop and mature 
our corresponding reporting ability now that we have a reliable and safe 
recording system. 

...The complex work to develop a 
comprehensive case recording system for  
the Children and Families Service has  
resulted in the successful reintroduction  
of Mosaic in April 2022...

62

P
age 124



63

Cyber attack
Hackney Council was victim of a criminal cyber attack in October 2020. This 
meant that staff were unable to access any historical case file information 
or reporting data on Mosaic as well as other critical council systems. 
Hackney Council immediately created an interim system that enabled us 
to continue working with families. The immediate recovery programme 
involved a drive for practitioners to record case summaries for all of their 
children and young people, whilst working with partners to gather as 
much information about the children and young people we were working 
with. The next phase involved working with our service provider to restore 
information that had been held on Mosaic. 

In October 2021 a decision was made to restore Mosaic as our main case 
management system. A programme team was established and reported 
to a weekly Board meeting chaired by the Director of Children’s Services. 
The programme was complex and involved migrating records from the 
interim system, matching historic records, developing cyber security with 
a new cloud based system and training all of our staff on Mosaic as the 
recovered system was not identical to the pre-cyber system. Work continues 
on recovering some historical data that has not yet been restored. There 
are still some data quality issues relating to data but we now are in a good 
position to meet statutory and local reporting requirements.

On 4th April 2022 the Children and Families Service returned to Mosaic. The 
development of live reporting tools (Qliksense) continued and has been live 
since July 2022. The decision to go live with Mosaic in advance of reporting 
tools being ready was to enable us to have accurate information to submit 
for statutory returns. Managers are now able to track progress of work at a 
level they had not been previously. 

Strategic Leadership

Historically Hackney Children’s Centres have not been part of our recording 
system, and as part of our continued development, we plan to introduce all 
children’s centres on Mosaic by December 2022. The impact of the work to 
restore Mosaic means we have a compliant and safe records system. 

Driving improvement
CFS Service Improvement Action Plan
The service developed an improvement plan stemming from Ofsted 
findings in 2019. A further Ofsted visit in July 2021 showed significant 
improvement which enabled the service to reflect on which of the previous 
recommendations required further action, which have been successfully 
implemented or could be incorporated into ‘business as usual’ and what 
we need to consider to develop true ambition for our services for Hackney 
Children. In late 2021, the Children’s Senior Leadership Team (CSLT), 
devised a refreshed plan and thematic areas agreed are as follows:

1. Proud to be Hackney  
2. Proud to keep children safe and listening to Children and 

Families in the shaping of our services: 
3. Proud to work with partner agencies to keep children safe and 

help children and families get the right support at  
the right time

4. Proud to work with partners to improve safety for children 
during adolescence in all contexts

5. Proud to be Anti Racist
6. Proud to promote a learning culture focused on outcomes for 

children, where great practice can flourish.
7. Proud to support our workforce to do their very best for children  

in Hackney

P
age 125



64

The full detailed Refreshed Children’s Action Plan 2022 was launched in 
January 2022 and published publicly in February 2022. New governance 
arrangements have been established to drive and oversee progress and 
developments with the Children’s Action Plan, this has included a new 
Service Improvement Monitoring Meeting (SIMM) Chaired by the Group 
Director for Children and Education. The SIMM meets every two months, 
reporting into the Children’s Leadership and Development Board (CLDB), 
which meets on a bi-monthly basis, co-Chaired by the Chief Executive and 
Group Director, Children’s and Education. An exercise has been underway 
throughout August and September 2022 to revise and streamline the 
existing Children’s Action Plan which is in the process of being finalised, this 
process is expected to be completed by the end of September 2022 with 
a new public facing version published by the end of the calendar year. In 
addition the leadership team (Director and Head of Services) has met to 
undertake a weekly activity of ‘action sprints’ which has progressed work of 
the Children’s Action plan and our Anti- racist action planning. 

Progress against the Children’s Action Plan continues to be overseen 
and monitored by a senior Governance Framework which includes a 
Children’s Member Oversight Board (CMOB) and Children’s Leadership and 
Development Board (CLDB). The Mayor and Deputy Mayor of Hackney Co-
chair the Children’s Member Oversight Board and the Chief Executive and 
Group Director Co-Chair the Children’s Leadership and Development Board.

The action plan is also managed using an Agile approach with weekly 
‘Sprint’ meetings chaired by the Director of Children’s Social Care and 
attended by Strategic Leads with responsibility for overseeing and driving 
activities in relation to their respective areas of the action plan. These 
meetings are used to identify challenges and blockages as well as noting 
successes against the actions stipulated in the plan. This is a dynamic 
group which provides active scrutiny of developments against the plan and 
holds leads to account.

Focus on increasing the line of sight of senior leaders and 
management oversight
A number of changes were introduced in 2021 to increase the line of sight 
from senior leaders to frontline practice:

•  �Need to Know Briefings from March 2021 to ensure a clear line of 
sight up to the statutory Director of Children’s Services on practice 
where there are matters of high risk, including for children and 
families.

•  �The regular quality assurance forum for all line managers up to the 
Director of Children and Families (more information on this is in the 
Learning Culture section below).

•  �The realignment of the Practice Development Manager role.

This is a culture change for Hackney and there is more to do:

•  �Develop a systemic senior leadership programme to ensure that a 
clear, robust, consistent practice leadership approach is established 
and embedded.

•  �Clarify respective roles and responsibilities for all positions in 
the management structure, particularly with respect to strategic 
development and service-wide practice improvement. 

•  �Develop of a new Manager Action Learning Set.

•  �We have updated our Matrix of Responsibility to outline decisions 
being made at the right level of seniority at the right time in 
accordance with the child’s needs, risk and harm

Supervision
The supervision model changed as a result of the significant changes we 
made to the Unit model approach in 2021, with children now allocated 
to individual social workers as opposed to a social work unit. From April 
2021, individual Reflective Case Supervision was rolled out, supported by 
mandatory training. There is a focus on management oversight to ensure 

P
age 126



65

that supervision is consistent with practice standards. Following the re-
introduction of Mosaic, we are now able to track supervision timeliness 
across the Service and forward plan for future supervision so that managers 
have oversight of the progress we are making to support children and  
their families. 

The Monthly Performance Oversight Board tracks performance including in 
respect of visits to children and supervision to drive forward improvements 
in practice. There have been some staffing and performance concerns 
contributing to the timeliness of supervision completion and uploading 
to files. A new supervision template is currently being trialled in the Child 
in Need Service to identify ways to streamline the process which currently 
requires practitioners to complete part of the form in advance. Fortnightly 
tracking meetings have been set up within the Child in Need Service as of 
September 2022 

In line with the development of Hackney’s practice model, Heads of Service 
have been developing the Hackney group supervision model which will 
draw on Systemic, trauma-informed and anti-racist practices, allowing us to 
embed and uphold the techniques that sit within these methods. The group 
supervision model is currently at its concept stage, where it is being co-
produced by Practice Development Managers across the service. This is in 
addition to individual supervision and it is to enhance worker development.

Changes to the Hackney model of  
social work
As services integrate under one Hackney Children and Education 
Directorate, we will  develop a practice model that underpins our approach 
in children’s social care, education and health. We aim for the principles  
of this whole-system approach to be clearly embedded in how and why  
all professionals in Children and Education work with children and  
families living in the borough. A central drive for this change is that more 
can be done in Hackney to support children and families to facilitate 
change, support resilience and improve the life chances of all children  
living in Hackney.

A relational approach will inform the way we think about children and 
families. This approach will be led by three key methods used by Children 
and Families, Education and Health to underpin this Relational Approach 
which are:  

1. Systemic Theory (used widely in CSC)

2. Attachment and trauma informed practice (used widely in 
Education)

3. Anti-racist practice (developed and used across CSC, Education and 
health) 

These 3 approaches are threads that are currently being weaved together 
under the relational approach and vision for Hackney Children’s Services. 
We aim for our Practice Model  to provide clear techniques for practitioners 
across the service to work with children and families. As of July 2022, 
a Practice Model Working Group  has been established which consists 
of multi-agency representatives to create a clear articulation of the 
developing model. This stage involves co-production with reference groups 
in each service area, ensuring the narrative is co-developed with front line 
staff, partners and families.  

Alongside the development of a clear narrative, Heads of Service and the 
Systemic Lead are completing a strategy and workforce development plan 
to ensure the practice model is implemented and embedded clearly and 
coherently across the Children and Families Service. This includes: 

•  �Training across the workforce to understand and embed the practice 
model approach .

•  �Development and implementation of the group supervision model.

•  �A systemic senior leadership programme to ensure that a clear, 
robust, consistent practice leadership approach is established and 
embedded.

A director and project team are in the process of being appointed to lead 
this work across the group directorate to align SEND, Early Help, CAMHS 

P
age 127



66

and social care. This will enable children to receive more holistic and timely 
support to meet their needs. It is anticipated this work will take 12 months 
to bring about the shape of the services we need and the workforce and 
development to embed and flourish. 
 

 Anti-Racism
Our ambition is for leadership and practice with children and families take 
a pro-active stance to address racism, discrimination and inequality and are 
in the early stages of the following:

Research through a lens of disproportionality is beginning to allow us to 
understand and identify common factors and tailor effective interventions 
earlier. Deep dive and case study analysis has been a useful tool to take a 
birds eye view across the system and support in the identifying of common 
patterns and allocation of resources in a cost effective manner. In line 
with our Anti-racist approach, the first of these took place when designing 
the Edge of Care service where over 80% of referrals were from children 
(largely boys) from Black African and Carribean backgrounds. We will be 
closely monitoring the impact of this service through 2022 with a view to 
seeing a reduction in the number of boys from Black African and Caribbean 
backgrounds becoming and remaining Looked After in late adolescence

We have CFS statutory complaints process to ensure it is restorative  
and trauma informed in responding to all complaints, including those  
about racism and discrimination- our most recent responses to complaints 
about racism now evidence our acknowledgement of the impact of 
systemic racism upon children and families and the action that we are 
seeking to address

We have developed and launched our Anti-racist Practice Standards in April 
2022 - over the course of the next 6 months we will expect to see practice 
change to become anti-racist in accordance with our Practice standards- 
we will then undertake an audit to measure the extent to which this is 
embedded across the whole of CFS late 2022- early 2023. We have also 
developed an Anti-racist Corporate Parenting Commitment that will be 
embedded over the course of the next 6 months and audited in the autum 
2022 to measure impact for our children in care.

We are engaging statutory partners and local areas that use Stratford 
Youth Court to adopt a deferred prosecution scheme to address the 
significant disproportionality in the rates of conviction and remand of Black 
boys- we hope that this will be implemented by June 2022

We are providing constructive feedback to partner agencies where we 
have concerns about racism or microaggressions on behalf of our children 
and families- this will be evidenced on children’s files and is starting to be 
captured on an anti-racism log

We will be engaging children, families and communities in co-producing an 
anti-racist principles, values and our strategy and action plan through 2022 
and 2023

Our action plan is in its early stages of implementation so the 
measurement of impact is limited. Staff have told us in surveys that there 
is more visibility and openness in discussions about racism which is the first 
key step. Analysis of the feedback from our Anti-Racist Praxis Conference 
that took place in May 2022 has shown an increase in understanding 
across the staff base in knowledge and skills around the topics covered, but 
the impact for children and families as a result of improved practice will be 
a longer term outcome to be seen.

P
age 128



67

Anti-Racist Praxis Conference - May 2022

Across the week of 9-12 May 2022, staff in the Children and 
Education Directorate were invited to attend an Anti Racist 
Praxis Conference, focusing on the process of unmasking, 
repairing and preventing the hidden wounds of racial trauma, 
in attempts to address racialised trauma experienced within 
services by our Black and Global Majority children and families. 
The conference followed a hybrid in-person and virtual 
framework to deliver a series of keynote speakers and several 
workshops across the four days, aiming to equip staff with vital 
knowledge and skills to begin to understand and unpick the 
trauma of racial oppression. Learning objectives were set for the 
conference participants were set as follows:

1.	 Have an increased understanding of the impact of systemic 
racism and white supremacy in relation to racial trauma - 
and how our practice and some educational approaches can 
contribute to this problem.

2.	 Identify strategies to counter and support racial trauma i.e a 
trauma-informed approach to improve and enhance practice.

3.	 To begin to apply our systemic principles in practice in relation 
to racialised trauma in order to provide maximum care and 
support for our children and families who are Black or from 
Global Majority ethnic communities.

4.	 Developing anti racist practice in schools and by professionals.

 
The conference has been evaluated to better understand the 
learning, impact and outcomes which can be applied to further 
better practice. So far the conference has been widely viewed as 
positive, engaging, and a pivotal moment in shaping and giving 
directive to our CFS anti-racist objectives to make change. 16 
Recommendations are given in the briefing paper split into three 
core themes - ‘People and Community’, ‘Developing the Workforce’ 
and ‘Practice and Policies’.

Feedback was collated from attendees across the week, and 
the evaluation of this feedback shows notable improvements in 
knowledge of the subject matter - with the average self-assessed 
ratings of knowledge on a 1-5 scale moving from a 3 (42.2%) at 
the start of the conference, to 5 (54.7%) at the end. Presentations 
were also deemed as clear and interesting, as well as meeting 
the learning objectives set for the conference. Some of the 
overall evaluation points and ongoing commitments according to 
attendee feedback are captured below:

There is a need for Hackney Council to better understand, 
acknowledge, and work against structural and institutional 
racism, with the Conference acting as a catalyst to understand 
the consequences of racial trauma and seek accountability, 
responsibility, ownership and commitment across the system. 
Going forward, the plan is to utilise the full conference briefing 
paper as a reference document to support activity to develop 
and deliver the outputs and actions from this conference and 
embedding thereof. 

Evidence of Impact

P
age 129



68

Child Q
Child Q was referred to our LADO service in 2020 following the notification 
by health professionals of her experiencing a strip search in school. LADO 
enquiries were initiated alongside a Child and Family Assessment, which has 
led to longer term support through early help and our CAMHS services. The 
Local Authority notified the City and Hackney Safeguarding Partnership who 
made a collective agreement to undertake a Child Safeguarding Practice 
Review with notification to the National Panel. 

In March 2022, the Child Safeguarding Practice Review for Child Q was 
published following consultation and engagement with Child Q and her 
parents. A multi-agency action plan is in place in response to the findings 
within the CSPR for Child Q to create change in addressing structural 
racism and adultification.  In June 2021, training for multi-agency staff on 
Adultification was initiated by the CHSCP. Our staff have a good awareness 
of the risk of adultification of Black children so are mindful to ensure that 
they are thinking safeguarding and child first when supporting older Black 
children and have also escalated concerns about potential adultification by 
partner agencies to ensure a safeguarding first and child focused approach.

P
age 130



69

Workforce and caseloads

Staff wellbeing
The Children and Education leadership team continue to hold regular 
all staff drop ins on issues that affect the entire service. Other spaces to 
generate staff feedback and act as safe spaces have included peer support 
sessions, and Brave Space to Talk About Racism - led by the Director of 
Children and Families for all staff in the service. The senior leadership team 
recognised that the publication of the CSPR for Child Q was triggering for 
staff, particularly from Black and Global majority backgrounds in the context 
of the racialised trauma. In response to this the Children and Education 
Directorate set up a series of peer support sessions for staff, including some 
exclusively for Black and Global majority staff to respond to racialised 
trauma.

A survey in respect of staff experiences of racism was undertaken by our 
Promoting Racial Equality Leadership Group in May 2021. This survey 
highlighted the need for support to staff who have experienced and 
continue to experience racialised trauma within the workplace, within 
their communities, in the wider context of society and internationally. Peer 
Support Groups in response to racialised trauma were piloted from October 
to December 2021 and an evaluation shared with the Chief Executive and 
senior leadership team in February 2022. Scoping is underway to develop a 
longer term strategy to support staff who experience racialised trauma. 

Staff Reference Group 
The Staff Reference Group, is chaired by the Director of Children’s Social 
Care, has continued to meet on a 6 weekly basis. The group is open to all 
staff members with takeup from four out of five service areas currently 
represented. The group’s role is to act as a critical friend and sounding 
board, supplying an additional line of communication to and from the 
director and staff. The staff reference group has met to discuss topics such 
as Child Q reflections amongst staff, and the service improvement Children’s 
Action Plan. 

Reflective practice groups 
Group-based reflective practice spaces are offered by the Clinical Service 
to staff within the Children and Families Service. Debriefing and practice 
reflection sessions are also offered following adverse incidents.

P
age 131



70

Workforce data
Children and their families need to get the right help at the right time. 
We need to ensure work flows effectively through the service and that 
proportionate responses are offered in accordance with the needs or  risk of 
harm to children - this should appropriately  manage demand and create 
capacity in the service. We need effective challenge and leadership of the 
Early Help system and implementation of the recommendations from 
the Early Help review / Early Help implementation board is required- e.g. 
consistent use of Early Help Assessments and acceptance of delegated 
authority across targeted early help provision. We have recruited 2 
additional Early Help Practitioners which will free up social work capacity in 
MASH and offer a more tailored approach to families requiring Early Help. 

Increasing robustness at the front door - increasing use of Early Help Hub, 
Consultation Line and ‘Senior’ social workers to provide capacity and 
assistance with this.

Transfers and step downs must progress in a timely way if not be expedited 
to free up capacity - we should have delays for children due to capacity 
issues once ongoing plans are identified. Managers will regularly meet to 
ensure this is reviewed and troubleshoot and avoid and plan for potential 
delays.

2019 2020 2021 2022

Hackney 28.1% 32% 22% 27.4%*

Statistical Neighbour 23.1% 22% 21% n/a

England 15.8% 15.4% 15.5% n/a

Percentage of agency social workers

*Draft figure which may be subject to change

2019 2020 2021 2022

Hackney 18 16.4 14 14.3*

Statistical Neighbour 15 14.0 15 n/a

England 17 16.3 16 n/a

*Figure for quarter 1 2022. Annual figure for not yet available

Cases (children) per social worker  
(based on FTE equivalents)

2019 2020 2021 2022

Hackney 8.3% 15.9% 11.7% 19.2%*

Statistical Neighbour 16.8% 16% 19% n/a

England 15.1% 13.5% 15% n/a

*Draft figure which may be subject to change

Percentage rate of social worker turnover

2019 2020 2021 2022

Hackney 24% 23% 23% 28.8%*

Statistical Neighbour 22% 21% 22% n/a

England 16% 16% 17% n/a

*Draft figure which may be subject to change

Vacancy rate for permanent social workers

P
age 132



71

Recruitment and Retention
There has been an increase in staff turnover over the past year, and 
challenges in recruiting and retaining social workers. This is reflective of a 
national issue and we know from speaking to other local authorities that 
they are experiencing the same issue. Where we have recruited staff, they 
may be less experienced, and require increased support from managers to 
ensure high-quality practice. 

As at 31 March 2022:

•  �There were 171.5 FTE permanent social workers

•  �There were 63 agency social workers, representing 27% of our social 
work (increase from 22% in 2021)

In December 2021 we reviewed our approach to recruitment and retention 
and identified short term actions that could be taken to recruit and retain 
permanent staff. This paper included an analysis of exit interviews for 
permanent staff including their reasons for leaving. Further to this, a 
business case for a market supplement is in development and the potential 
to offer agency workers longer term or permanent roles has been confirmed. 
We have focused on rolling recruitment of permanent social workers as well 
as filling vacancies with agency workers - there has been a drive to ensure we 
have a balance of experience in our staff group. We have adjusted our pay 
rates accordingly. 

From 1 June 2022 until 31st May 2024, the London Pledge has been 
introduced across all London Councils. This is a pan-London commitment by 
Children’s Services system leaders to work cooperatively and transparently 
to manage the agency market, improve the quality of agency staff and 
regulate pay rates within Children’s Social Work. This London Pledge is 
designed to address challenges related to the workforce of Children’s Social 
Work Professionals with focus on the supply and quality of agency workers 
through evidenced protocols and a commitment to transparent and co-
operative working. The Boroughs agree that they will:

•  Pay agency social worker staff at set rates 

•  Work proactively to convert agency workers to permanent roles within  
6 months.

•  Adopt a common referencing standard 

•  Not employ any qualified social worker leaving a permanent contract 
to take up an agency contract with another authority within London 
for a minimum of 6 months after leaving the permanent post

•  Commit to a 3-week notice period both in candidates joining and 
leaving placements, committing to adopting a reciprocal offer 
between agency workers and councils to minimise immediate or quick 
departures and the associated impact on children and the permanent 
workforce. 

P
age 133



72

Learning culture

Continuing to strengthen our approach to 
Quality Assurance
The Hackney Children and Families Services Quality Assurance Framework 
provides insight into the quality of practice and the degree to which this 
is having a positive effect on children and their families in Hackney. Key 
to this is measuring impact - it is critical to understand what difference 
Hackney Children and Families Service and our partners are making for 
children. Following the restructure of the Safeguarding and Learning Team 
to the Quality Assurance and Improvement Team last year, work has been 
underway to convert our Quality Assurance Framework into a Learning 
Framework and this should be ready for September 2022. Work will then 
continue into 2023 to fully embed this. This will ensure that the focus of our 
quality assurance activity across all of the Children and Families Service is 
on learning - about the quality of our practice with children, and about what 
is effective in improving this. Services will routinely implement dedicated 
learning slots at service and team meetings in order to reflect on learning 
from Quality Assurance.  

In audit activity - we have refocused our efforts to embed moderation of 
all full Live Learning audits, using a moderation tool to capture moderators 
findings. This model is being extended across all routine service area 
audits. We have improved audit follow up - with full audits that have scored 
‘inadequate’ or ‘requires improvement’ followed up after 3 months to 
ensure that practice has improved for those children. The most recent follow 
up in March 2022 found that practice had improved in 64% of cases. The 
next follow up is taking place in June-July 2022.  Quarterly audit reporting 
across the whole of the Children and Families Service has been re-introduced 

and these reports are shared with the Group Director as well as the whole 
service.

Independent Chairs
We have introduced a mid-point monitoring between Looked After Reviews 
and Child Protection Conferences and engaged Independent Chairs in our 
audit programme.  The consistency of the Midway’s being completed was 
impacted due to the move back into the Mosaic system but this is now a 
workflow within the system and monitoring of the completion of these 
will be reintroduced. When Midway Oversights were last audited in August 
2021 in 74% of audits they demonstrated good monitoring of the plan 
and action being taken where any drift or delay was identified. This will be 
further supported by the creation of an escalation workflow in Mosaic to 
better track escalations, responses, and how this resolves the issue identified. 

Learning from Independent Chairs is shared at the Children and Families 
Service regular quality assurance forum DQIP (further information about 
this meeting is below). This includes information about the volume of Child 
Protection Conferences and Looked After Child Reviews that have been held, 
and whether reporting timescales are being met by professionals. 

Improving Outcomes for Children Forum
The Service has recently reviewed our current arrangements for the scrutiny 
of practice and performance which is currently held across two separate 
systems and meetings - a monthly CFS Performance Board and bi-monthly 
Driving Quality, Improvement and Performance (DQIP) forum. A revised 
‘Improving Outcomes for Children’ forum is to replace the current approach. 
This new forum will be a central Children and Families Service meeting to 

P
age 134



73

reflect on the quality of practice in the service. The forum will form a key 
part of the Children and Families Service Quality Assurance Framework. 
Chaired by the Director of Children’s Social Care, this will have a critical 
role in the oversight of the Children and Families Service. The Board will 
scrutinise practice against the Practice Standards that have been set across 
CFS providing high challenge and high support in respect of the quality of 
practice and performance indicated through data and learning from quality 
assurance. Increasing transparency and accountability within the system, 
ensuring that managers at all levels provide practice leadership and take 
responsibility for improving outcomes for children. The board ensures that 
we really know ourselves as an organisation, as well as providing evidence 
of the impact of quality assurance in driving improvement in practice.  This 
new forum will focus on each cohort of children according to their status and 
journey through the system, scrutinising practice and highlighting strengths 
that can be built upon, agreeing purposeful actions to support continuous 
practice improvement. Cohorts will be as follows:

A)	Children with a potential need for support- Decision making in  
MASH and the Early Help Hub and Children open for an early help  
or statutory assessment 

B)	Children in Need of Help and Protection - the quality of intervention 
and support for children through Family Support, Child in Need,  
Child Protection Plans, pre-proceedings and Disabled Children, 
children whose parents are supported by DAIS

C)	The Experiences of Children who are in Care, including those are  
open to Care Proceedings, children who are placed for adoption, 
Children who have left Care, children who are placed for Adoption 
and Foster Carers

D)	Children who are supported through pre and post Court youth  
justice disposals

The forum will take place every month. Each cohort of children will be 
scrutinised on a quarterly basis for a minimum of 2-3 hours, depending upon 
the size of the cohort and complexity of issues arising.

Impact of audit activity

To better monitor and evidence the impact of audits on practice 
and outcomes for children, CFS are undertaking review audits 
for each child who has had an audit undertaken on a quarterly 
basis. Practice Development Managers were provided with 
training and guidance on how to best undertake these dip 
samples in March 2022 and in June 2022. For June 2022, 35 dip 
samples were completed of files graded inadequate or requires 
improvement between April 2021-May 2022.

Areas of good practice

•  ��A third of files improved to be rated ‘good’.

•  ��Actions from the previous audit had been addressed in 80% of 
files - 29% fully and 51% partially.

•  ��Auditors felt practice had improved in 89% of files - 40% fully, 
49% partially.

•  ��The child’s voice was evident in all but 2 files. 

•  ��The plan was progressing for children in 88% of files - 55% fully, 
33% partially. 

Areas for improvement

•  ��63% of files were graded requiring improvement, and 1 file was 

Evidence of Impact

P
age 135



74

graded inadequate, demonstrating less improvement in practice 
than the previous round of dip sampling. 

•  ��Concerns in these files mirrored that of the findings in the 
previous round of dip samples, including lack of recording which 
made it difficult for auditors to evidence progression of plans 
and risk management for children. 

‘Inadequate audits’ have been highlighted by the auditor to the 
relevant Head of Service and Service Manager. All audits still rated 
as ‘requires improvement’ or ‘inadequate’ will be escalated to the 
relevant Service Manager and Head of Service for management 
oversight to be added to the child’s file. 

P
age 136



HACKNE YHACKNEY

Financial Update 

The outturn for 2021/22 for the Children and Families Service on a net 
budget of £61.6m was an overspend of £2.4m after use of grants and 
reserves of £11.8m including a drawdown on the commissioning reserve of 
£3.97m and £6.3m of Social Care Grant funding. The overspend of £2.4m 
includes £1.2m of Covid-19 related expenditure incurred by the service. 
There has been a requirement to draw down from the commissioning 
reserve since 2012/13 due to the increase in complexity and the number of 
children in care. 

The financial position for 2022/23 is a net budget of £64.2m for the 
Children and Families Service, and the service is forecasting to overspend by 
£1.6m (as at October 2022) after use of reserves and drawdown of grants 
totalling £13.1m (including full use of the commissioning activity reserve of 
£4.6m and £8.5m of Social Care Grant funding). Within the current forecast, 
cost reduction proposals have been agreed by the service to reduce the 
overspend within the year, and these are tracked on a monthly basis.

The Children and Families Service has continued to make contributions 
to the efficiency agenda of the Council. Over the previous nine years the 
service has delivered £11.9m savings with a further £650k targeted to be 
delivered in 2022/23. The increase in commissioning costs has been driven 
by an increase in complexity and the number of looked after children since 
2011/12. There is a continuation of a large proportion of children being 

placed with independent fostering agencies (IFAs) due to a lack of suitable 
in-house foster carers. The cost of an IFA placement is significantly greater 
than that of an in-house placement. The service continues to be proactive in 
recruiting in-house foster carers to meet demands across the service. 

Hackney has also seen an increase in residential placements since 2015 
adding considerable budget pressures with an average annual unit cost of 
£263k. There have been some improvements more recently in the number 
of residential placements, and the service is working proactively to reduce 
the level of placements. We are also seeing a rise in the number of under 
18s in high-cost semi-independent placements. Where young people in their 
late teens are deemed to be vulnerable, and in many cases are transitioning 
from residential to semi-independent placements, they may still require a 
high-level of support and in extreme circumstances bespoke crisis packages. 
These pressures have been recognised by the Group Director of Finance & 
Corporate Resources with a growth of £11.2m in total included in the budget 
across a number of financial years.

75

P
age 137



Produced by Hackney Design, Communications & Print • October 2022 • HDS16018

Front cover photograph by Sean Pollock

P
age 138



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 February     27th     2023 

 Item     8     -      Children     and     Families     Annual     Report 

 Item     No 

 8 
 Outline 

 The     work     programme     is     continually     updated     to     reflect     items     to     be     taken     at     future 
 meetings     of     the     Commission.     Members     are     invited     to     review     and     agree     on     the     work 
 programme     for     22/23. 

Page 139

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 July     11th     2022  September     29th     2022     (Moved     from     8th     September     2022) 

 School     Admissions     (40)  Foster     Carers     (i)     Recruitment     and     Retention      Strategy     (ii)     Assessing     local     support 
 offer     (ii)     (75) 

 Childcare     Sufficiency     Strategy     (40)  Update     on     GCSE     and     A     Level     results     in     Hackney     (20) 

 Outcome     of     School     Exclusion     -     Cabinet     response     (10)  Demographic     Analysis     of     EHCPs     in     Hackney      (40) 

 Work     Programme     -     Consultation     Reporting      2022/23     (40)  Work     Programme     -     Outline      2022/23     (10) 

 October     31st     2022     -  November     30th     2022 

 School     Exclusions     and     School     Moves     Monitoring     (45m) 
 (To     include     absence,     persistent     absence,     emotional     withdrawal) 

 Budget     Monitoring     -      Children     &     Families     Service     (30-45) 

 Ofsted     Focused     Visit     Outcome     (10m)     verbal     update  Children     &     Families     Annual     Report     (45) 

 Childhood     food     poverty     -     eligibility,     accessibility     and     uptake     of     FSM     (60)  SEND     Strategy     (40) 

 January     16th      2023  February     27th     2023 

 City     &     Hackney     Safeguarding     Children     Partnership     (45)  Cabinet     Q     &     A     -     Cllr     Woodley     (Early     Years,     SEND,     Parks     and     Play     (45) 

 Unregistered     Educational     Settings     (30)  SEND     Action     Plan     (45     min) 

 Outcome     of     School     Exclusions     -     Progress     of     Recommendations     (45)  Budget     Monitoring     -     Hackney     Education     (30) 

 (Children     and     Families     Annual     Report     -     to     note     -     written     Q     &A     for     March/April     2023) 

 March     20th     2023  April     17th     2023 

 Support     for     Young     Parents     (Race,     racism     and     children’s     social     care)     (60)  Accessibility     of     CAMHS     -     strategic     plan     to     reduce     waits,     single     point     of     access, 
 support     for     CYP     on     waiting     lists 

 Pupil     Attainment     -     Attainment     Gap     (45)     Focus     on     children     in     AP  Cabinet     Q     &     A     -     Cllr     Bramble     (Children,     Education     &     Children's     Social     Care)     (45) 
 Areas     of     questioning     to     be     agreed 

 0 

P
age 141



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting     1  Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     –     Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work     to 
 support     item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 Monday 
 11th     July 

 Deadline 
 for     reports: 
 28/6/22 
 Publication 
 1/7/22 

 School     Admissions 
 To     review     sufficiency     of     primary     and     secondary 
 school     places     ahead     of     September     2022 
 school     entry. 

 ●  David     Court     TBC 
 ●  Annie     Gammon,     Director     of 

 Education     and     Head     of     HLT 

 -  Background     reports     to 
 be     circulated 

 Childcare     Sufficiency 
 It     is     a     statutory     requirement     for     members     to 
 review     local     childcare     sufficiency     reports     which 
 are     produced     bi-annually.      The     Commission     to 
 review     the     full     assessment     report     for     2022. 

 ●  Donna     Thomas,     Head     of     Early 
 Years,     Early     Help     &     Well-being 

 ●  Tim     Wooldridge,     Early     Years 
 Strategy     Manager 

 ●  Annie     Gammon,     Director     of 
 Education 

 -  Focus     groups     with     small 
 number     of     nursery 
 providers 

 Outcome     of     School     Exclusions 
 The     note     and     review     the     Cabinet     response     to 
 the     Commission's     review     of     the     Outcome     of 
 School     Exclusions. 

 Members     of     the     Commission 

 Development     of     new     CYP     Work     Programme     for 
 2022/23 

 ●  Commission/     Scrutiny     officer  ●  To     consult     local 
 stakeholders 

 ●  Meet     with     service 
 Directors 

 ●  Collate     topic     suggestions 
 ●  Informal     meeting     with 

 Commission 

 1 

P
age 142



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting     2  Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     –     Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work     to     support 
 item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 Thursday 
 29th 
 September 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 30/8/22 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 21/9/22 

 Recruitment     &     Retention     of     Foster     Carers: 
 -     to     review     the     progress     of     Commissions 
 recommendations     contained     in     an     earlier 
 review 
 -     to     assess     the     local     offer     to     in-house     foster 
 carers. 

 ●  Diane     Benjamin,     Director     of 
 Children's     Social     Care 

 ●  Laura     Bleaney,     Head     of 
 Corporate     Parenting 

 ●  Korinna     Steele,     Head     of 
 Fostering     Placements 

 ●  Hackney     Foster     Carer     Council 
 representatives 

 Consultation     with     in     house 
 foster     carers     set     for     31st     August 
 2022 

 Supported     by     a     survey     to     all 
 in-house     foster     carers. 

 School     Exam     Results     2022 
 A     brief     verbal     update     on     the     performance     of 
 young     people     at     GCSE     and     A     Level     in 
 Hackney 

 ●  Anni     Gammon,     Director     of 
 Education 

 Demographics     of     EHCPs     in     Hackney: 
 The     Commission     has     requested     the     following 
 data     for     the     past     3     years     (     age     group,     ethnic 
 group,     originating     setting     (inc     those     not     in 
 education): 
 -     Children     with     EHCPs     in     Hackney; 
 -     New     EHCPs     granted     in     Hackney; 
 -     Number     of     EHCP     requests 
 -     Number     of     requests     for     assessments     refused 
 -     Requests     for     assessments     which     do     not 
 result     in     EHCP     issued. 

 ●  Joe     Wilson,     Head     of     SEND 
 ●  Annie     Gammon,     Director     of 

 Education 

 Work     programme     2022/23 
 To     continue     discussions     on     future     work 
 programme     items     for     2022/23. 

 ●  Commission 
 ●  Scrutiny     Officer 

 2 

P
age 143



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting 
 3 

 Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     –     Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work     to 
 support     item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 Monday 
 October 
 31st 
 2022 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 18/10/22 

 Agenda 
 dispatch 
 : 
 21/10/22 

 School     Exclusions     and     School     Moves:     (45) 
 This     is     a     standing     item     on     the     work     programme     of 
 the     Commission     to     review     the     number     of     school 
 exclusions,     School     Moves,     children     in     Elective 
 Home     Education     and     in     Alternative     Provision     (with 
 demographic     analysis     including     SEND     status). 
 In     light     of     rising     rates     (in     connection     with     exclusion) 
 a     short     section     on     school     /AP     absence,     persistent 
 absence     to     be     included.      Including     missing     children 
 -     emotional     withdrawal     etc. 

 ●  Chris     Roberts,     Head     of     Wellbeing 
 and     Education     Safeguarding 

 ●  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education 

 Ofsted     Focused     Visit     (15) 
 A     focused     visit     by     Ofsted     was     announced     for     21st 
 and     22nd     of     September     2022.      Ofsted     will     focus     on 
 front     door     service     for     children’s     social     care     (e.g. 
 assessments,     thresholds     etc). 

 ●  Jacquie     Burke,     Group     Director     for 
 Children     and     Education 

 ●  Diane     Benjamin,     Director     of 
 Children's     Social     Care 

 Childhood     food     poverty:     eligibility,     accessibility 
 and     uptake     of     free     school     meals     (FSM)     (60) 
 In     response     to     the     scrutiny     consultation     which 
 raised     childhood     food     poverty,     the     Commission     is 
 assessing     schools     response:     the     eligibility     and 
 uptake     of     FSM,     breakfast     club     provision     and 
 connection     to     wider     food     poverty     networks     and 
 programmes. 

 ●  Paul     Senior,     Interim     Director     of 
 Education 

 ●  David     Court,     Head     of     School 
 Organisations,     Admissionand 
 Pupil     benefits     and 
 Commissioning 

 ●  Invite     local     head 
 teachers     for     illustrative 
 work     they     have     been 
 doing     in     relation     to     FSM, 
 accessibility 

 ●  On     site     visits     to     local 
 schools     and     community 
 food     programme 
 projects. 

 Work     programme     2022/23 
 To     continue     discussions     on     future     work     programme 
 items     for     2022/23. 

 ●  Commission 
 ●  Scrutiny     Officer 

 3 

P
age 144



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting     4  Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Officers  Preparatory     Work 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 November 
 30th     2022 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 18th 
 November 
 2022 

 Agenda 
 dispatch  : 
 22th 
 November 
 2022 

 Children     and     Families     Annual     Report     (45) 
 This     report     could     not     be     provided     for     this     meeting     and     a 
 briefing     will     be     provided     to     members     of     the     Commission 
 summarising     activity     in     children's     social     care     for     the 
 period     2021/22. 

 To     be     taken     alongside     the     budget     monitoring     report. 

 ●  Diane     Benjamin,     Director     of 
 Children's     Social     Care 

 ●  Jacquie     Burke,     Group     Director     of 
 Children     and     Education 

 Children     and     Families     -     Budget     Monitoring     (30-45) 
 This     is     a     standing     item     on     the      work     programme     which 
 reviews     and     monitors     in     year     budgets     for     Children     and 
 Families     Service,     including     progress     against     agreed 
 savings     proposals.      This     is     taken     alongside     the     CFS 
 Annual     report,     so     scrutiny     of     policy     and     budgets     are 
 aligned. 
 The     Commission     has     requested     a     more     detailed 
 breakdown     of  the     Corporate     Parenting     Budget     (e.g. 
 foster     care,     residential     placements,     supported     housing 
 etc.) 

 ●  Naeem     Ahmed,     Director     of 
 Finance     (Children,     Education, 
 Adults,     Health     &     Integration) 

 ●  Sajeed     Patni,Head     of     Finance 
 Children's     and     Education, 
 Finance 

 ●  Diane     Benjamin,     Director     of 
 Children's     Social     Care 

 SEND     Strategy     (20-30) 
 Alongside     partners,     the     Council     has     developed     a     SEND 
 Strategy     for     2022-2025     which     is     due     for     approval     at 
 Cabinet     in     November     2022. 
 This     item     is     predominantly     to     note     the     key     priorities     set 
 out     in     the     Strategy     and     to     update     the     Commission     on     the 
 progress     on     the     subsequent     Action     Plan,     and     scrutiny 
 role     in     the     oversight     and     monitoring     of     that. 

 ●  Paul     Senior,     Director     of 
 Education 

 ●  Nick     Wilson,     Interim     Head     of 
 High     Needs     &     School     Places 

 ●  Joe     Wilson,     Head     of     SEND 

 Work     programme     2022/23 
 To     continue     discussions     on     future     work     programme     items 
 for     2022/23. 

 ●  Commission 
 ●  Scrutiny     Officer 

 4 

P
age 145



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting     5  Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     –     Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work     to 
 support     item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 January 
 16th     2023 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 4th 
 January 
 2023 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 6th 
 January 
 2023 

 City     &     Hackney     Safeguarding     Children 
 Partnership     (45) 
 This     is     a     standing     item     on     the     work 
 programme     which     reviews     the     annual     report 
 and     activities     of     City     and     Hackney 
 Safeguarding     Children     Partnership. 

 ●  Jim     Gamble,     Independent     Chair, 
 CHSCP 

 ●  Rory     McCallum,     Senior 
 Professional     Adviser 

 Unregistered     Educational     Settings     (30) 
 This     is     a     short     item     to     review     progress     against 
 the     Commission's     recommendations     made     in 
 2018. 

 ●  Katherine     Cracknell,     Head     of 
 Wellbeing     and     Education 
 Safeguarding 

 ●  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education 
 and     Inclusion 

 ●  Jim     Gamble,     Independent     Chair, 
 CHSCP 

 ●  Rory     McCallum,     Senior 
 Professional     Adviser 

 Outcome     of     Schools     Exclusions     (45): 
 The     Commission     to     follow     up     the 
 recommendations     made     in     its     review     which 
 was     completed     in     December     2021     and 
 approved     by     Cabinet     March     2022. 

 ●  Katherine     Cracknell,     Head     of 
 Wellbeing     and     Education 
 Safeguarding 

 ●  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education 
 and     Inclusion 

 Work     programme     2022/23 
 To     continue     discussions     on     future     work 
 programme     items     for     2022/23. 

 ●  Commission 
 ●  Scrutiny     Officer 

 5 

P
age 146



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting     6  Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     – 
 Officer     Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work     to 
 support     item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 27th 
 February 
 2023 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 14th 
 February 
 2023 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 17th 
 February 
 2023 

 Cabinet     Q     &     A     (45) 
 The     Commission     may     question     the     Cabinet     member     (Cllr     Caroline     Woodley,     Cabinet     member     for     Families,     Parks 
 and     Leisure)     on  three  policy     areas     for     which     they  are     responsible     within     their     Cabinet     portfolio.      The     Cabinet 
 member     to     be     notified     of     topics     6     weeks     in     advance     (     3rd     January     2023). 

 Cabinet     members     to     verbally     present     on     these     three     areas     and     take     questions     from     the     Commission. 
 1.  Update     on     children's     centres     (and     Family     Hubs) 
 2.  Support     for     parents     of     children     with     SEND 
 3.  Waiting     times     and     action     plans     for     SLT     and     Ed     Psych. 

 SEND     Action     Plan     (60) 
 The     SEND     Strategy     was     agreed     by     the     Cabinet     in     November     2022.      A     partnership     action     plan     has     been 
 developed     in     response     overwhich     the     Commission     will     maintain     oversight,     review     delivery     and     progress. 
 Invitees: 
 ●  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education 
 ●  Nick     Wilson,     Interim     Head     of     High     Needs     &     School     Places 
 ●  Joe     Wilson,     Head     of     SEND 
 ●  Jacqueline     Agyekum     -     Designated     Clinical     Officer     for     Health     (TBC) 
 ●  Sarah     Darcey     -     Health     Commissioner     -     Hackney 
 ●  Stephen     Jahoda     -      Head     of     Disabled     Children's     Service     -     LB     Hackney 
 ●  Georgina     Diba,     Director     of     Adult     Services     -     LB     Hackney 

 Hackney     Education     -     Budget     Monitoring     (30) 
 This     is     a     standing     item     on     the     work     programme     to     review     in     year     budgets     and     progress     against     savings     proposals 
 for     Hackney     Education.      The     Commission     has     also     requested     a     more     detailed     budget     breakdown     for: 
 -     Childrens     Centres     (budget     circa     £10-12m); 
 -     Commissioning     of     (SEND)     Independent     and     Non-Maintained     Special     Schools     (budget     circa     £14m). 
 ●  Sajeed     Patni,Head     of     Finance     Children's     and     Education,     Finance 
 ●  Naeem     Ahmed,     Director     of     Finance     (Children,     Education,     Adults,     Health     &     Integration) 

 6 

P
age 147



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting 
 7 

 Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     –     Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work 
 to     support     item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 20th 
 March 
 2023 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 7th 
 March 
 2023 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 10th 
 March 
 2023 

 Support     for     Young     Parents     (75     mins) 
 Following     on     from     the     work     in     relation     to     disparities 
 in     maternity     outcomes,     the     Commission     will     assess 
 what     support     is     available     to     young     parents     and     how 
 this     is     coordinated     across     statutory     partners     and 
 other     responsible     agencies.      To     cover: 

 -  Family     Nurse     Partnership 
 -  HV/MW 
 -  CFS/     YH 

 The     Commission     will     view     this     in     the     context     of 
 disproportionality     of     children's     social     care,     where     it 
 has     requested     ethnicity     data     for     children’s     social 
 care     contacts     in     relation     to: 

 -  Looked     after     children 
 -  Children     in     Need 
 -  Children     on     a     Child     Protection     Plan. 

 ●  Diane     Benjamin,     Director     of 
 Children's     social     Care 

 ●  Carolyn     Sharpe,     Consultant     in 
 Public     Health     Children     and     Young 
 People 

 ●  Cathy     Ashley,     Chief     Executive     of 
 Family     Rights     Group 

 ●  Others     TBC 

 ●  Scoped     with 
 PH     and     CFS 

 ●  Focus     Group 
 with     young 
 parents 
 through     Care 
 Council     6th 
 and     8th     March 
 2023 

 Pupil     Attainment     -     Attainment     Gap     (45) 
 This     is     a     standing     item     on     the     work     programme 
 where     the     educational     attainment     of     children     in 
 Hackney     is     reviewed. 

 This     will     be     the     first     year     since     returning     to     in     person 
 exams.      The     Commission     has     indicated     that     in 
 addition     to     usual     focus     on     the     attainment     gap 
 between     key     cohorts     (Black     Caribbean     boys,     Turkish 
 Cypriot     boys,     Gipsy     Roma/     Irish     Traveller)     there     will 
 be     an     additional     emphasis     on     children     in     Alternative 
 Provision. 

 ●  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education 
 and     Inclusion 

 ●  Jason     Marantz,     Interim     Assistant 
 Director,     School     Standards     & 
 Improvement 

 7 

P
age 148



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting 
 8 

 Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     –     Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work     to 
 support     item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 17th 
 April 
 2023 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 31st 
 March 
 2023 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 5th     April 
 2023 

 Accessibility     of     CAMHS 
 The     accessibility     of     CAMHS     figured 
 prominently     in     the     scrutiny     consultation     2022. 
 There     were     ongoing     concerns     around     waiting 
 times,     access     to     services     and     plans     to 
 develop     a     single     point     of     access. 

 This     item     is     being     scoped     with     respective 
 service     leads. 

 ●  Amy     Wilkinson,     Workstream 
 Director     Integrated     Commissioning: 
 Children,     Young     People,     Maternity 
 and     Families,     NHS     North     East 
 London     |     London     Borough     of 
 Hackney 

 ●  Nadia     Sica,     Children,     Young 
 People,     Maternity     and     Families 
 Workstream     Programme     Manager, 
 Public     Health 

 ●  Sophie     Mcelroy,     CAMHS     Alliance 
 Senior     Project     Manage 

 -  Focus     group     with 
 providers     for     all     members 
 on     22nd     March     2023. 

 -  Site     visits     to     Hackney     Ark 
 and     Homerton     Row 
 Specialist     Service     -     dates 
 to     be     confirmed. 

 Cabinet     Q     &     A 
 The     Commission     may     question     the     Cabinet 
 member     on  three  policy     areas     for     which     they 
 are     responsible     within     their     Cabinet     portfolio. 

 Cabinet     members     to     verbally     present     on 
 these     three     areas     and     take     questions     from 
 the     Commission. 

 ●  Cllr     Bramble,     Deputy     Mayor     and 
 cabinet     member     for     education, 
 young     people     and     children’s     social 
 care 

 ●  Cabinet     member     notified 
 of     topics     6     weeks     in 
 advance:  March     6th 
 2023 

 8 

P
age 149



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Possible     items     noted     for     2023/24 

 1.  School     Admissions  A     review     of     the     local     school     admissions     system     and     to     assess     disparities.      What 
 demographic     variations     exist     among     local     schools?      Does     the     current     local 
 admissions     system     generate     inequities? 

 2.  Residential     Placements  Commissioning     arrangements     for     residential     placements     for     looked     after     children, 
 How     is     the     Children     and     Families     Service     addressing     longer     term     need     for     residential 
 placements?      How     is     the     Children     and     Families     Service     working     with     other     boroughs 
 to     jointly     provide/     commission     services     (rather     than     reliant     on     the     private     sector     which 
 may     be     some     distance     from     Hackney     and     of     variable     quality). 

 3.  Graduated     SEND     provision     within 
 schools 

 A     new     graduated     response     was     introduced     within     local     schools     to     enable     more 
 children     to     be     supported     in     schools     but     without     the     need     for     an     Education     and     health 
 Care     Plan.      How     is     this     working     out     in     practice?      Are     all     schools     taking     up     the     local 
 SEND     offer     by     the     Local     Authority? 

 4.  Disabled     Children     Service  This     service     was     moved     to     Children     and     Families     Service     in     2020     from     Hackney 
 Education.      Past     safeguarding     partnership     reports     have     noted     that     there     have     been 
 concerns     around     reviews     not     being     completed. 

 5.  A     new     vision     for     the     Pupil     Referral 
 Unit. 

 The     PRU     is     being     redeveloped.     How     will     it     work     preventatively     with     young     people 
 with     SEND     or     at     risk     of     exclusion? 

 6.  Childhood     obesity     in     Hackney  How     do     the     levels     of     Childhood     obesity     compare     with     other     boroughs?      Is     there     a 
 local     strategy     and     how     effective     are     local     interventions     to     address     this     issue? 

 7.  Childhood     immunizations     in     Hackney  How     do     levels     of     childhood     immunisation     rates     in     Hackney     compare     to     other 
 boroughs?      Are     rates     of     immunisation     equal     across     the     community,     and     if     not,     what 
 actions     are     being     taken     to     address     this? 

 8.  Hackney     Youth     Justice     Plan  Hackney     Youth     Justice     Plan     -     The     current     Youth     Justice     Plan     expires     in     2022     and     a 
 new     plan     is     being     developed     for     the     period     2022-2025.      Scrutiny     assists     in 
 development     of     the     plan     -     or     input     before     finalisation. 

 9 

P
age 150



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 9.  Children     in     temporary 
 accommodation 

 How     many     children     are     living     in     temporary     accommodation      -     and     what     type?      Is     the 
 data     of     sufficient     quality     and     depth     to     maintain     oversight     of     this     cohort     -     needs, 
 impact     and     support?     What     support     is     provided     for     children     placed     in     TA     outside     of     the 
 borough     -     who     is     responsible     for     social     care,     SEND,     education     provision     and     health 
 provision?      How     is     support     coordinated?      If     children     are     vulnerable     (LAC,     CiN,     CPP, 
 SEND)     how     does     this     impact     on     housing     placements     /     allocations? 

 10.  Children     missing     from     care  Young     people     who     are     going     missing     from     care     is     an     area     of     significant     safeguarding 
 risk.      What     is     the     local     incidence     -     does     it     affect     different     cohorts     of     children     (e.g. 
 boys,     unaccompanied     young     asylum     seekers)?      What     support     is     offered     to     local 
 foster     carers     -     and     other     settings? 

 10 

P
age 151



P
age 152



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 February     27th     2023 

 Item     9     -      Minutes 

 Item     No 

 9 
 Outline 
 The     minutes     of     the     last     meeting     held     on     16th     January     2023     are     attached     for 
 members     to     note     and     agree. 

 Actions: 
 The     agreed     actions     from     the     meeting     were: 

 1.  Outcome     from     School     Exclusions     -     questions     unable     to     be     asked     at     the 
 meeting     to     receive     a     written     response     -  attached. 

 2.  Unregistered     Settings     -     Letter     to     Secretary     of     State     for     Education     -  for 
 members     for     review 

 3.  Unregistered     Settings     -     Letter     to     Group     Director     for     Children     and     Education 
 and     local     leadership     -  for     members     for     review 

 4.  City     &     Hackney     Safeguarding     Partnership     -     data     on     attendees     of     adultification 
 bias     training     -  attached 

 Reports 
 -  Minutes     of     the     meeting     from     January     16th     2023 

Page 153

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes of the proceedings 
of the  held at Hackney 
Town Hall, Mare Street, 
London E8 1EA

Minutes of the proceedings of the 
Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Commission held at
Hackney Town Hall, Mare Street, 
London E8 1EA

 
 

 
London Borough of Hackney 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Commission  
Municipal Year 2018/19 
Date of Meeting Monday 16 January 2023 

 
 

Chair Councillor Sophie Conway 
 

Councillors in 
Attendance 

Cllr Margaret Gordon (Vice-Chair), Cllr Alastair Binnie-
Lubbock, Cllr Lee Laudat-Scott, Cllr Midnight Ross and 
Cllr Caroline Selman 

  
Apologies:  Cllr Anya Sizer and Cllr Claudia Turbet-Delof 
  

Co-optees Andy English and Monique Pink 
  
Virtual Attendees: Cllr Sheila Suso-Runge and Cllr Lynne Troughton 
 
In attendance 

  
• Cllr Anntionette Bramble, Deputy Mayor and 

Cabinet Member for Education, Young People and 
Children’s Social Care 

• Cllr Caroline Woodley, Cabinet Member for 
Families, Parks and Leisure 

• Jim Gamble, Independent Chair of City and 
Hackney Safeguarding Partnership 

• Rory McCallum, Senior Professional Adviser 
• Jacquie Burke, Group Director for Children and 

Education 
• Kate Cracknell, Head of Wellbeing and Education 

Safeguarding 
• Billy Baker, Lead Officer,  Pupils Out of School 
• Donna Thomas, Head of Early Years, Early Help & 

Wellbeing 
• Helena Burke, Leadership and Management 

Adviser 
  
Members of the Public None attended in person. 
  
Officer Contact: 
 

Martin Bradford 
 020 8356 3315 
 martin.bradford@hackney.gov.uk 
 

 
Councillor Sophie Conway in the Chair 

 
1 Apologies for Absence  

 
Page 155



Monday 16 January 2023  
1.1 Apologies for absence were received from the following members of the 
Commission:  

•         Paul Senior, Director of Education; 
•         Cllr Claudia Turbet-Delof; 
•         Cllr Lynne Troughton; 
•         Cllr Anya Sizer; 
•         Richard Brown (Co-opted member); 
•         Steven Olalerrre (Co-opted member); 
•         Salma Kansara (Co-opted member). 

  
1.2 The following member connected virtually: 

•         Cllr Sheila Suso Runge. 
 

2 Declarations of Interest  
 
2.1 The following declarations were received by members of the Commission: 
Monique Pink reported that she was a governor of a primary school in Hackney. 
 

3 Urgent Items / Order of Business  
 
3.1 There were no urgent items and the agenda was as had been published. 
 

4 City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership - Annual Report (19.05)  
 
4.1The City and Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership (CHSCP) annual report is 
a standing item within the work programme so as to allow the Commission to have 
oversight of child safeguarding work taking place across the borough. Members of the 
Commission were invited to review the Annual Report of CHSCP for the period April 
2021 to March 22 which included assessments of safeguarding and learning across all 
those services which work with children in Hackney, and the outcomes of local 
Safeguarding Practice Reviews (SPR). 
  
4.2The Independent Chair introduced the report, and highlighted the following key 
issues (noting that discussion of unregistered settings would be taken at the next item). 

•         There had been good progress in relation to the Cyber Attack and the 
associated recovery programme; 

•         Consistent practice standards had been developed for the councils’ early help 
offer and there were new systems for assessing neglect; 

•         There had been a number of improvements around the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH) with daily briefings taking place and a new 
connection with early help hub; 

•         Local partners had improved the way that adolescents were safeguarded (e.g. a 
greater understanding of the pathways to harm) which has been verified within a 
LGA Peer Review; 

•         Private fostering remains an issue of concern for the locality, and further work 
was needed to help identify such arrangements in the community; 

•         The police have been challenged on their lack of engagement with the LADO 
and this is being reviewed by the local police leadership; 

•         The Child Q SPR was being revisited to assess progress against the 
recommendations and a final update report is expected shortly; 

•         As the outcomes of the Child Q SPR indicated, there is an ongoing issue with 
racism, and partner agencies will now be required to evidence their anti-racist 
work; 

•         Major risks had been in relation to significant changes in the local leadership, 
but in the view of CHSCP, the new leadership continued to work at pace to 
address safeguarding priorities; 

Page 156



Monday 16 January 2023  
•         A 10  minute video summary of the annual report would be released which 

would help improve accessibility of CHSCP documentation. 
  
Questions from the Commission 
4.3 The cost of living crisis was likely to be placing local families under severe 
pressure which may have wide ranging safeguarding implications for both 
children and their families (e.g. increased prevalence of anxiety and mental health, 
or increasing incidence of neglect and domestic violence).  Has City & Hackney 
Safeguarding Partnership a) undertaken any detailed assessment as to the likely 
impact and implications for local services? b) been given assurance from local 
services that they have made adequate preparations in terms of service planning, 
service capacity to meet any expected increases /variations in needs? c)  
confident that there is a multi-agency preventative (early help) offer to help 
address emerging safeguarding needs? 

•         CHSCP remains concerned about the cost of living crisis and has convened a 
number of extraordinary meetings with partners who have shared contingency 
plans which have been put in place (e.g. Children and Families, Fire Service and 
Housing Service). The CHSCP would be happy to share this work with the 
Commission. 

•         The next CHSCP Board meeting would continue to focus on the cost of living 
crisis, particularly in relation to how it was impacting on the health and wellbeing 
of front-line staff and their ability to effectively safeguard children.   

  
4.4 The Commission welcomed the work taking place to improve engagement with 
the LADO, but noted that local police and probation services have a zero (0%) 
attendance at the CHSCP Board.  Given the outcomes of Child Q, the need to 
improve anti-racist practice in policing and the numerous cases of police 
misconduct now emerging, it is important the police engage and involve with local 
safeguarding organisations.  What is being done to improve police engagement 
locally? 

•         Police engagement with the LADO has been poor, and this situation is not 
common to Hackney alone.  This has been raised with local police leaders and 
the CHSCP were content that progress was being made. 

•         Poor attendance of the police at CHSCP Board meetings had been noted, and 
was especially disappointing as these meetings were on-line. This had also been 
raised with the local police leadership both verbally and in writing.  The same is 
applied to the probation service, but it was acknowledged that this service had 
undergone a number of significant national reviews during this time which has 
meant major changes for leadership and operating models.  Both services have 
now re-engaged more positively since March 2022. 

•         In terms of accountability, the Independent Chair would be meeting with the 
Deputy Assistant Commissioner to assess police progress against a number of 
local action plans (e.g. Child Q). 

  
4.5 What are the safeguarding priorities for the current year 2022/23?   

•         The CHSCP has continued its drive to go back to basics and to ensure that 
there are effective processes to identify and address cases of neglect.  Over and 
above this however, is the need for all safeguarding partners to adopt a 
safeguarding first approach and to ensure that all children are seen, heard and 
helped.  The Independent Chair noted that there was good collaborative working 
and strong leadership across the safeguarding partnership.  The development of 
anti-racist practice across the partnership also remains a priority. 

  
4.6 What challenges does CHSCP envisage from across the partnership in making 
sure that the police adopt a systemic approach to anti-racist practice? 

•         CHSCP noted that organisations declaring that they are anti-racist was of 
course welcome, but the next step was in providing evidence to substantiate this 
position would be challenging to organisations. The acknowledgement that 

Page 157



Monday 16 January 2023  
agencies have racist practices was the first step in the journey of progress and 
improvement. It was acknowledged that the police struggled with this in the initial 
aftermath of Child Q.  All agencies need to be continually alive to this threat 
however, including local schools, and the partnership would continue to test 
these settings to ensure that they have a culture which respects diversity of 
young people. Anti-racism will not be accepted as a statement or a strategy 
unless it is evidenced.  It is important that the local leadership pursues this 
approach at all levels and in all places.  The evidence that will be needed is the 
challenges that organisations have made, the investigations that have been 
carried out and the sanctions that have been applied. CHSCP would apply this to 
the police, and of course, to other safeguarding partners. 

  
4.7 Can CHSCP update the Commission on the roll-out of adultification bias 
training across local agencies?  Has there been sufficient take up across all 
agencies - in particular, among local Metropolitan Police officers? 

•         There are recommendations within the expected update as to how, when and 
who should deliver local adultification training.  There has been excellent input 
from external agencies and there was a strong local network of individuals with 
lived experience who could also contribute to this training, and provide additional 
local value to this process (relationship and network building).  One case of note 
in which positive change has been recorded was among health partners who 
have positively advocated for children and challenged partners. 

•         In total, around 400 practitioners had engaged in adultification bias training.  In 
terms of the police, a special training session had been set up for police officers 
working from schools (Safer Schools Officers) and there has been attendance by 
MPS at other regular training sessions. 

  
Agreed: CHSCP to provide up to date information on the training uptake of 
adultification bias training across the partnership, and for Metropolitan Police 
specifically. 
  
4.8 The Commission welcomed the approach of CHSCP to require evidence to 
substantiate commitment and progress for anti-racist practice and wider 
safeguarding work.  The Independent Chair noted that young people have been 
consulted recently as part of the Child Q SPR, was this to establish impact and 
progress achieved since the review was published? 

•         The Independent Chair did not want to reveal information that would be provided 
in the Child Q update report, but the authentic voice of young people have been 
included within this review update. Whilst the CHSCP has used a holistic 
approach in terms of young people generally, its central focus has been on how 
harm manifests itself to young black people.  The young people’s involvement in 
this process would be retained where they would be routine and frequent 
advisers. 

  
4.9 Whilst there are clearly national drivers behind local staffing concerns, is 
assurance being sought for local plans to address this in a coordinated way from 
partners?  What are the key related local safeguarding risks? 

•         Into the pandemic, the number one priority was the health and wellbeing of the 
workforce, how they were kept safe, how they could work remotely but keeping 
children in line of sight and interoperability with other partners.  What was clear 
was that staff went over and above the response required, but ultimately there 
was a price to be paid for that in terms of possible staff burn-out and fatigue.  An 
audit was undertaken from across the partnership to see what could be learned 
and applied in other similar circumstances. Staff retention is a critical issue for all 
agencies across the partnership and this has now been brought to the fore again 
with the cost of living crisis. 

•         Workforce stability was an issue for every partner agency; children's social care 
was grappling with high levels of social work vacancies and reliance on use 

Page 158



Monday 16 January 2023  
agency workers instead of social workers; the police was using a high proportion 
of new probationers for policing.  Alongside this, the demands and the 
complexities of safeguarding workloads which added to the burden of front line 
staff and services as a whole.  As previously indicated, this issue would be the 
focus for the next partnership board meeting and work priority over the next few 
months. 

•         The Group Director pointed out that health and social care services were 
working alongside each other to support staff as staffing issues were broadly 
similar and much could be learnt and shared from each other's experience.  In 
terms of social worker recruitment, most London boroughs have signed up to the 
London Social Worker Workforce Pledge, which would set agreed payment 
thresholds for social workers (to prevent boroughs competing for and inflating 
costs for staff) and to not recruit social workers as agency staff until after they 
had left a previous post of 6 months.  There were broader questions as to why 
social workers were choosing to sign up as agency workers rather than stay 
permanent which required authorities to look at their own working practices.  
Research also suggested that proportionally higher numbers of staff from black 
and global majority backgrounds were leaving the workforce because they felt 
that they could not progress professionally or managerially.  In this context, 
services have to look at their own ethos and offer to staff, and Hackney has 
invested to make a difference through its award winning anti-racist practice work. 
Hackney also offers retention payments for those service areas where it is 
difficult to maintain even agency staff.  Caseloads are also higher where there 
are high numbers of agency staff, as cases cannot be progressed as quickly as 
compared with permanent staff.  

  
4.10 A consistent theme running through the annual report is the risk that social 
media platforms can present directly for children (mental health and anxiety) as 
well as exacerbating other safeguarding risks.  From a local perspective, what are 
the key local threats and risks that social media presents to young people and is 
there a local (partnership wide) strategy or approach to address these concerns to 
ensure that these risks are being addressed consistently across the borough? 

•         This was a timely issue as the On-Line Harm Bill was due to return to parliament 
for consideration shortly.  This will raise the issue of corporate accountability for 
social media platforms which breach on-line safety rules.   The Safer Schools 
App was launched for Hackney schools which comes with alerts and warnings.  
A recent example of this was in relation to a social media challenge for young 
people, which may have involved self-harm. Getting information out in a timely 
manner was critical to ensure that concerns or threats were addressed quickly 
and effectively. CHSCP would encourage all councillors to make sure that local 
schools download and use the App to help them address on-line harms as this 
was for schools, teachers, students and their families. 

  
4.11    Demand for all aspects of local mental health provision from young people 
is increasing and waiting lists for young people needing care and support were 
growing – for example, the waiting list for First Steps was reported to be over 12 
months.  Are officers confident that there is a strategy to address waiting times 
among local leaders and to ensure young people get the help that they need more 
quickly? How confident are local services that virtual or line mental health 
support is effective?  Is this an adequate alternative to face-to-face provision? 

•         It was acknowledged that CAMHS services were in the most difficult position 
they had ever been in. In part this was due to the underinvestment by the 
national government not only in CAMHS services, but across the board in 
children and education services as a whole.  Therefore children’s concerns and 
anxieties were greater, and when these are taken onto the internet these are 
exacerbated or accelerated.  In terms of effectiveness of on-line services, the 
lessons learnt from the pandemic was that access to properly certified and 
accredited counselling on-line was an alternative therapy and helped to keep 

Page 159



Monday 16 January 2023  
professionals in touch with young people.  In such a time of acute  needs and 
demand, services needed to pivot to what works best for the greater number of 
children and young people. This would however take time to fix. 

•         It was noted that through WAMHS, CAMHS workers were attached to every 
school in Hackney who were equipping schools to work preventatively and to 
reduce the need for CAMHS interventions.  In terms of the on-line work, there 
was a range of interventions from self-referral to a website (Kooth) to on-line 
therapeutic support from a qualified practitioner. There was also Silver Cloud 
which was a website for older young people which was directly monitored by a 
CAMHS worker. 

•         The Independent Chair of CHSCP stressed however that there was a real crisis 
with access to CAMHS services, and whilst there was a lot of good work to 
mitigate access problems, fundamentally these would not be enough given the 
scale of the challenge faced by CAMHS services in Hackney and elsewhere.  

  
4.12 A number of questions were raised in relation to safeguarding adolescents a) 
who is responsible for developing a strategy for effective safeguarding of 
adolescents? b) what has been the impact of closing routine referrals for eating 
disorders? c) is overcrowding seen as a risk for children going missing, if so, how 
is this being addressed? d) what can the Hackney care leaver offer learn from 
counterparts in the City, particularly in relation to accommodation and health 
support? 

•         The Independent Chair reported that partners have been on a learning curve in 
relation to safeguarding adolescents in recent years, but was confident that 
services were working together more effectively in supporting the needs of this 
cohort of young people.  It was difficult to compare provision between City and 
Hackney as the former supports such a small cohort of children in total compared 
to Hackney (City has a population of around 1,100 children in total). 

•         The Group Director noted that in respect of eating disorders, providers and 
Commissioners had consulted with children and young people using the service 
and their parents to refresh the pathway of support available and to help 
minimise the numbers of children presenting in crisis.  This same collaborative 
model had also been developed for LGBT service users for CAMHS.  It was 
emphasised that there was no lack of will or resources to secure improvement, 
but there was a national shortage of qualified therapists who could support the 
expansion of services. 

  
4.13 Under the recent  reorganisation of safeguarding arrangements, ‘relevant 
agencies’ are required to cooperate with local safeguarding partnerships.  What 
response has the partnership had from locally designated ‘relevant agencies’?  
How is the safeguarding partnership reaching out to and engaging all those local 
agencies (particularly in the voluntary and charity sectors) which may support or 
work with children and young people? 

•         The CHSCP is able to designate ‘relevant agencies’, those organisations and 
agencies whose involvement the safeguarding partners consider may be 
required to safeguard and promote the welfare of children with regard to local 
need. CHSCP had ‘designated’ local academies which were relevant to 
investigations regarding Child Q, and therefore these agencies will be required to 
participate in safeguarding self-assessment processes, which will provide a line 
of site and a level of assurance that had not been available previously.  This 
power is used proportionally, but generally relevant agencies will be signposted 
to appropriate resources and training that may be needed.  

  
4.14    Does the CHSCP have any information around the timing of the IOPC report 
into the police strip search of Child Q? 

•         CHSCP was disappointed that 9 months on from the Child Q SPR, there was no 
report from the IOPC.  Most recent communications have noted that the lead 

Page 160



Monday 16 January 2023  
investigating officer had been stood down at the beginning of the year and a new 
officer was being appointed.  No further information was available at this time. 

  
4.15 Many looked after children placed in residential care or with a foster carer 
some distance from Hackney, away from supportive networks of family and 
friends and statutory services.  Data from the previous meeting notes that 16 
children have been placed more than 20 miles away, of which some are more than 
170 miles away from Hackney.  Is the safeguarding partnership confident that 
there is an effective protocol, risk assessment process and support to 
prevent/minimise safeguarding harms for those children placed outside of the 
borough? 

•         The Group Director reported that they had oversight of all children in 
accommodation at a distance (greater than 20 miles) from Hackney and was 
required to authorise all such cases.  Placing a child away from Hackney was not 
desirable, but the limited supply of residential and secure accommodation often 
meant that officers had little choice.  In addition, some children were required to 
be placed away from Hackney for their own safety.  There were acute problems 
in terms of access to secure accommodation as no local options were available.  
It was noted that the London Association of Directors of Children's Social Care 
were collaborating to commission more local provision.  Before such placements 
are authorised the Group Director would be required to consult the child, Head of 
Service and the Independent Reviewing Officer.  In many instances these 
authorisations are temporary, and the case reviewed again at a later date to see 
if the placement was still required and to assess if there are alternative 
arrangements closer to Hackney.  It was reiterated that it was always the 
intention to ensure that children are looked after as close to Hackney as 
possible. 

  
4.16    A representative of Hackney Youth Parliament (HYP) noted that there was a 
very limited (if any ) profile of CAMHS workers in local schools, which was 
suggested earlier by officers in relation to WAMHS provision.  There were also 
long waiting lists for access to counselling and other talking therapies.  Can 
CAMHS workers be more visible in schools and support children more directly?  

•         CAMHS workers in schools are preventative so do not work with children 
directly. The role of CAMHS workers in schools is focused on up skilling teaching 
staff to identify and refer children for help and to have an agreed approach as to 
how mental health can be addressed preventatively in the school. 

•         Young people's voice is one area of work within the WAMHS project to make 
sure the range of young voices are heard and represented. 

  
4.17    The Chair thanked everyone for attending for this item and for responding to 
questions from members.   
 

5 Unregistered Educational Settings - Review Update (19.50)  
 
5.1 In response to local safeguarding concerns, the Commission undertook a review of 
unregistered educational settings (UES) in 2017/18 and made a number of 
recommendations to improve safeguarding and oversight.  However, in the continued 
absence of any new primary legislation, attempts by agencies  and local partners to 
establish regulatory (planning, fire regulation, health and safety) and safeguarding 
oversight of children that attend UES have proved challenging.  Therefore, given the 
ongoing safeguarding risks to children, the Commission retains regular oversight of this 
issue within its work programme 
  
Hackney Education (HE) and City Hackney Safeguarding Partnership (CHSCP) 
5.2 HE noted that the Council's position on UES has not changed since the last update 
and this area of work continues to be an area of high risk as the safety of children 
attending UES in Hackney cannot be assured.  There is an active UES Protocol which 

Page 161



Monday 16 January 2023  
local partners and regulatory agencies use to help identify UES, but given the absence 
of legal controls, these agencies are powerless to intervene.  The Schools Bill had given 
officers some cause for optimism as this may have enabled local agencies to have 
improved regulatory control over UES, but this Bill was shelved in December 2022 and 
was now unlikely to proceed.   
  
5.3 CHSCP reported that many local agencies, itself included, had invested 
considerable time and effort into engaging the Orthodox Jewish community on this 
subject, but had achieved no progress.  It was far from acceptable that such a large 
number of children remained out of the ‘line of sight’ of safeguarding authorities.  There 
remains, therefore, a de facto two tier system of safeguarding depending on which 
‘school’ local young people attend. 
  
5.4 The Group Director reported that a letter had been written to the Secretary of State 
for Education (SoS), setting out the safeguarding concerns of the authority.  The Group 
Director had requested a meeting with the SoS to identify if it was possible to improve 
regulatory control of UES through other parliamentary procedures (statutory instrument). 
  
5.5 The Independent Chair emphasised that the situation was intolerable, as the 
authority carried all the risk for those children attending UES but had no authority to act 
or intervene to protect them.  Even now, the authorities cannot be sure of where these 
children are and where they are being educated.  This problem has been evident for 
many years, and it would seem that this is unlikely to be resolved until some tragedy 
occurs.  This could not be allowed to continue.  Anyone with authority or influence, 
including members of the Charedi community, needs to make clear that change needs 
to happen to make sure these children are safe.  Central government had failed to act. 
  
Questions from the Commission 
5.6 Are local officers confident that there are no further avenues of 
communication and engagement with the Orthodox Jewish community which may 
achieve progress to improve safeguarding in UES? 

•         The group Director noted that there was very positive and healthy engagement 
with the Orthodox Jewish community on many levels, including health, 
immunisations, SEND and curriculum development with Independent Schools. 
The UES issue however, is a significant concern for the authority as children 
remain unsafe in these settings as we have no oversight. 

•         There are 6 other authorities where there are significant Orthodox Jewish 
communities and the Group Director has been in contact with counterparts in 
each.  The authorities planned to have a ‘next steps’ conversation after the 
Schools Bill was shelved.  In other areas where there was less pressure on 
space, premises had been offered to the Orthodox Jewish community which had 
helped to build bridges with the community on this same issue.  It was noted 
however, that the Orthodox Jewish community in Hackney had always been 
more committed to education through yeshiva than other Orthodox Jewish 
communities in different areas.   

  
5.7 At the Education Select Committee, the SoS noted that improved regulation of 
UES  could be an area which could be picked up in parliament, even after the 
demise of the Schools Bill.  Has the Group Director received any feedback from 
the SoS as to what potential parliamentary options might look like?  Are there 
ways in which the Commission and the scrutiny process might assist local 
efforts? 

•         The letter to the SoS was sent a short while back and as yet, a response had 
not been received.  It was important to keep this issue at the forefront of local 
safeguarding concerns, and officers would welcome any further help to keep this 
issue in the public eye. 

•         The Independent Chair indicated that contradicting statements about the 
necessity of primary legislation for this issue had been given before and there 

Page 162



Monday 16 January 2023  
was no certainty that a statutory instrument would bring the desired results.  He 
noted that progress would continue to be slow, until this became a priority for the 
central government.  There needs to be greater public awareness of this issue, 
so that every parent that sends their child to a yeshiva or other UES which is out 
of safeguarding ‘line of sight’ is aware of the risks their child faces.   

  
5.8 Given that the Independent Chair suggests more work should be done to 
engage parents from the Orthodox Jewish Community, how has the newly 
appointed dedicated systems leader parental engagement addressed the issue of 
engaging parents from this community?  Are there any plans for more robust 
parental engagement? 

•         The Independent Chair noted that whilst there were good relationships with 
certain members of the Orthodox Jewish Community for specific issues, the 
problem remains specifically with those that operate local yeshiva.  It is important 
that the leadership of the Council keeps this issue in the public consciousness 
and that the leaders within the Orthodox Jewish community are held to account.  
Local action is needed locally alongside continued political lobbying. 

  
5.9 Can further information be provided as to the nature of the risks which sit with 
the Council and other local agencies in respect of UES? 

•         There are many associated risks; inadequate adherence to fire safety 
regulations; adults who are not properly trained or vetted have access to 
children; children in unsafe conditions.  It is known that such safeguarding issues 
exist within the community, as they have been reported in other jurisdictions (e.g. 
Australia and USA).  At present in the UK, it appears unlikely that any action will 
be taken by the central government, unless some tragedy precipitates this.   

  
5.10 Have local Rabbi’s been engaged on this issue? 

•         The Union of Orthodox Hebrew Congregations have been engaged, including 
the Rabbi who is responsible for health and safety in yeshiva.  It was clear 
however, that there is no central authority or accountability for yeshiva, and 
where some are governed (or indeed owned) by parties outside of the jurisdiction 
(UK). 

  
5.11 A recent government report has highlighted real safeguarding risks of out of 
school settings (OOSS) such as extracurricular clubs (sports, dance, music), 
religious settings and tuition centres - these included corporal punishment, child 
sexual abuse or exploitation, health and safety and radicalisation.  As Hackney 
was part of this pilot project, what risks were identified locally and what practical 
developments have been developed in response. 

•         The OOSS project mapped 330 settings across Hackney. These were vastly 
different ranging from football clubs, music clubs and dance clubs.  It was difficult 
to pinpoint the reason for low engagement with this project aside from the fact 
that whilst there is safeguarding guidance, such organisations have no statutory 
responsibility for safeguarding.  In terms of legacy from this project, officers 
developed an on-line safeguarding portal which OOSS could utilise to support 
improved safeguarding in their respective settings (e.g. best practice, links to 
advice within the Council).  A formal report was produced by the Council 
summing up the work of the Council in relation to OOSS. 

  
5.12 The Chair noted that it would seem necessary for the Commission to write to the 
central government to highlight the serious and ongoing concerns around local UES and 
to request that some urgency of action is required. 
  
Action: The Commission to write to the Secretary of State to highlight ongoing 
safety and safeguarding concerns around UES in Hackney. 
  

Page 163



Monday 16 January 2023  
5.13 The Chair also indicated that the Commission would like greater clarity as to what 
has happened when UES have been identified and would write to the Group Director for 
further information. 
  
Action: The Commission to write to the Group Director for further clarification on 
the actions taken against identified UES in the past 12 months. 
  
5.14 The Chair noted that this issue would continue to remain in the work programme of 
the Commission until such time as effective health and safety and safeguarding 
protocols have been established for all educational settings. 
 

6 Outcome of School Exclusions - Review Update (20.20)  
 
6.1 In response to ongoing high rates of permanent school exclusions in Hackney, the 
Commission undertook a review of the Outcomes of School Exclusion which reported in 
December 2021.  The review made 18 recommendations to the Council.  Responses to 
the recommendations were approved by Cabinet in March 2022.  The Commission 
agreed to review progress against the recommendations 9 months after agreement by 
Cabinet, and the update report was presented to the Commission by officers. 
  
Hackney Education (HE) 
6.2 HE was committed to reducing school exclusions in Hackney and the response to 
the recommendations detailed in the Commission’s review form the backbone of the 
strategic response of the council and its partners.  Actions from the plan are linked to 
individual officers and these are reviewed monthly at the meeting of the Reducing 
Exclusions Officers Group.  Officers reported that permanent exclusions had fallen by 
20% in the autumn of 22/23 compared to previous figures of 21/22.    
  
6.3 The Re-engagement Unit (REU) launched its universal secondary school offer in 
September 2022 and had thus far received referrals from 70 students, 20% of which had 
an EHCP.  It was noted that ‘persistent disruptive behaviour’ had traditionally accounted 
for around 35% of permanent exclusions locally, which would suggest that there have 
been missed opportunities to intervene.  Early data for 2022/23 would suggest that the 
proportion of children excluded for ‘persistent disruptive behaviour’ had declined which 
was encouraging.  The REU had delivered 30 training sessions to over 500 school staff.  
  
6.4 The Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Education, Young People and 
Children’s Social Care noted that whilst there had been a reduction, local exclusions still 
remained high and disproportionately impacted on black and global majority students 
and children with SEND.  The Deputy Mayor emphasised that it was important not to 
lose sight of the disproportionate impact of exclusion when assessing those 
interventions aimed to reduce them. 
  
Questions from the Commission 
6.5 From a governance perspective, can officers set out which HE body has 
oversight and responsibility for the implementation of the recommendations of 
the Commission.  Has the service developed an Action Plan to support it?  Are 
specific officers working to deliver agreed recommendations? How often are the 
recommendations reviewed? 

•         The recommendations form part of the Reducing Exclusions Action Plan which 
is reviewed monthly by the Reducing Exclusions Officers Group. 

  
6.6 The number and rates of permanent exclusions of pupils is now publicly 
available at the individual school level.   In the interests of transparency and 
accountability, will Hackney Education now commit to regularly publish school 
exclusion data at school level?   

•         Exclusion data would now be in the public domain which was helpful, but HE  
had not discussed as yet whether it would publish local figures.  HE pointed out 

Page 164



Monday 16 January 2023  
that it was working very closely with secondary schools and making sure they are 
accessing local training to support early help, challenging behaviour and crisis 
intervention.  It was important that Hackney adopted a partnership approach with 
local schools to effectively reduce exclusions. 

  
6.7 The Chair noted that parents are an important part of this equation and would most 
likely welcome data on school exclusions or suspension as much as exam results 
success.  This information was critical for parents to make informed decisions about 
which school their child might attend.  The Chair indicated that if schools did not think 
that there were concerns with the number of children they excluded, then they would not 
mind this data being public.  If permanent exclusion was a necessary part of the 
sanctions policy for school behaviour policies then the publication of this data was a 
means to justify the schools approach. 
  
6.8 Whilst permanent exclusion rates in Hackney have declined, the Commission 
noted that so to have rates declined across all London boroughs, and local 
exclusion rates are still amongst the highest across all London boroughs.  The 
most recent publicly available data (Autumn term 2021/22) notes that Hackney has 
the second highest rate of permanent exclusions in London and the second 
highest rate of suspensions in London.  Whilst it is positive that fewer children 
are being excluded, the data would suggest that something different is happening 
in Hackney and we are still not making progress quickly enough compared to 
other London boroughs. Why are rates in Hackney still higher than most other 
boroughs? 

•         HE acknowledged that the rates of school exclusion are still too high, especially 
when compared to statistical neighbours. It was noted that Hackney is 
transparent about the need to prioritise tackling exclusions and adopts a child 
centred approach to diversion and to make sure all school moves are in the best 
interests of the child.  The expanded early help offer would be critical to 
addressing the needs of children to help prevent exclusion.  For those children 
the authority has not been able to help early enough, HE has also mapped out a 
diversionary pathway for children who are at the point of exclusion, where a 
named officer in HE would be able to develop a bespoke set of options which 
may avoid exclusion (e.g. SEND). 

•         The Group Director also noted that a Diversity and Inclusion Systems lead had 
been appointed who was a former deputy head teacher in Hackney and worked 
closely with the leadership of local secondary schools in supporting anti-racist 
practice.  All primary and secondary heads were engaged on this issue.  The 
Young Governors programme was also supporting young people (and young 
people from black and global majority backgrounds) into local school governing 
bodies to bring greater accountability to school leadership.  

•         HE also noted that Joint Analysis Reviews (JAR) had been introduced with 
schools to look at exclusions through an intersectional lens, particularly in 
relation to the SEND needs of children. A process has also been instigated with 
all of the Multi Academy Trusts (MAT) and secondary federations in which local 
challenge is provided by the Director to the relevant MAT chief executive where 
rates of exclusion or suspension were high. 

  
6.9 SEND remains a significant factor in local exclusions, where 34 pupils who 
were permanently excluded in 2021/22 - 5 had an EHCP and 18 were on SEND 
support - meaning 68% therefore had identified special needs at the point of 
exclusion.  Is HE confident that local schools are complying with guidance around 
the exclusion of children with SEND? 

•         HE undertakes a drill down with the school for every permanent exclusion to 
understand the reasons for that exclusion, especially when the child has SEND.  
On the whole, schools were generally compliant with guidance around exclusion 
of children with SEND.  However, there were three Independent Review Panels 
last year which required governing bodies to review their decision based on the 

Page 165



Monday 16 January 2023  
SEND needs of the child, and two of these children were reinstated back into 
school.  As a whole schools were compliant, but where schools were failing on 
this duty they were being picked up and challenged. 

  
6.10    The Chair and Deputy Mayor agreed that given that there had been no 
permanent exclusions of primary school children it was clear that local primaries had 
made considerable commitments to inclusion, which secondary schools had not 
maintained.   It was noted that further work around the transition of pupils from primary 
to secondary would be needed to help children adjust to secondary education and 
maintain their place in mainstream education.   
  
6.11 A member of Hackney Youth Parliament asked if teachers were sufficiently 
trained to support children with SEND, especially when additional needs may not 
be readily or easily identifiable? 

•         HE believed that teachers were trained to recognise different types of SEND in 
children and that there was a broad range of local training available to support 
this.  There were now multi-agency planning meetings taking place each term in 
every school to look at the SEND needs of children across the school.  There 
were lots of opportunities to access training via the REU, WAMHS and SEND 
teams. 

  
6.12 A member of Hackney Youth Parliament noted that in the review, some 
school behaviour policies were noted to be excessively punitive and failed to 
identify children’s underlying needs, both of which contributed to school 
exclusion.   Has there been any audit (by Hackney Education or schools 
themselves) of local school behaviour policies to ensure that these do not 
disproportionately impact on different groups of children and comply with 
equalities duties?  It was also noted that school search policies can be intrusive 
and penalties can be excessive (5 days for a phone).  What leverage does the 
authority have in relation to academies as opposed to maintained schools when 
considering behaviour policies? 

•         All schools were required to write their own behaviour policies but these should 
comply with statutory guidance (e.g. equalities duties) and these are formally 
monitored and assessed by Ofsted.  The HE role is to work with schools to 
ensure that these are as effective as possible in relation to education 
performance and health and wellbeing.  It does not have the authority to act in 
relation to specifics of individual policies (e.g. whether phones are allowed). It 
was emphasised that all policies must provide reasonable adjustments for 
children with additional needs. 

•         It was important that children and young peoples lived experience should form 
part of this consultation in formulating behaviour policies. 

•         In terms of the difference between academies and maintained schools was that 
whilst the latter must publish their behaviour policies, the former only ‘should 
publish’.  Whilst it was clearly the responsibility of school heads to develop 
school behaviour policies and there was no requirement to consult or involve 
young people in this process.  In Hackney however, there were many examples 
of students being involved in the development of school behaviour policies. 

  
6.13    The Commission discussed how student voice was captured in schools, and 
whether those children selected to participate in certain representative functions are an 
authentic voice of the school.  The Chair and Vice chair were of the view that more could 
be done to evidence good practice to local schools and share exemplary models of 
behaviour policies with local schools.  It was noted that there are growing concerns 
around the use of zero-tolerance behaviour policies, which some local schools still 
operate but yet there was little evidence presented in this forum as to their effectiveness. 
  
6.14    Where does the Re-Engagement Unit (REU) sit in relation to challenging 
systemic inequality, that is, is the service perpetuating disproportionality if it is 

Page 166



Monday 16 January 2023  
seeing a higher number of referrals  black and global majority students? If there is 
no challenge to the system, then the extended REU is building capacity to deal 
with systemic injustice rather than challenging it. 

•         The REU does work systematically with the school, family and peer group as 
well as with the child.  The REU works with schools to audit their skills set to help 
them identify and support children who may need additional help, and encourage 
them to analyse their school data to see if there are any gaps which they may 
need to fill (in terms of support, training for staff).  There are two steering groups 
supporting the delivery of the REU (one for primary heads and one for secondary 
heads). The most important feedback loop however, was from parents of children 
who were vulnerable to being excluded from school.  This information was used 
to inform REU discussions with schools, which in turn influences their own 
strategies and approaches. 

•         The REU role is also linked to a more strategic response, as this information 
contributes to the work of School Improvement Partners (SIP).  SIP’s now have 
an extended remit to also prioritise inclusion in their work with schools.  

  
6.15    Whilst the data shows that there were a significant number of children who 
were excluded who had SEND, was there any further data on whether these 
children had any outstanding requests for support before they were excluded?  
For example, were any children on a waiting list for an educational psychologist? 

•         In terms of unmet need, the school would need to demonstrate that they had 
met the needs of that child prior to exclusion, otherwise the exclusion is likely to 
be overturned.  In practice however, many children are later found to have 
additional needs after they have been excluded.  The PRU undertakes a full 
assessment of children’s needs once they have been excluded, and this process 
often uncovers unmet needs of the child.  If a child was excluded for a single 
serious incident however, this may limit any recourse that they may have for 
appeal on the basis of the school not meeting the child’s needs.  The school 
would need to demonstrate that it had done everything in its power to address 
the needs of the child.  It was also noted that the REU was also multidisciplinary 
including teachers, clinical psychologists, psychotherapists and a mini CAMHS 
unit.  There is no cap on the number of referrals that a school can make, and the 
REU works to build internal school capacity to better support children in their 
care. 

  
6.16    How confident is the authority that the exclusion appeals service is 
working, and that local governing bodies are discharging their duties effectively, 
particularly when this relates to unmet needs?   

•         One of the reasons why exclusions were so low in primary school settings was 
that the PRU had developed partnership placements, in which children could 
receive additional support through a short term intervention.  It was reiterated 
that no child should be excluded for an unmet need, and where this is identified 
schools are challenged to put support in place.   

  
6.17    In its review of exclusions, the Commission spoke to many families of 
children with SEND, including from Turkish speaking communities, and many of 
their children had been excluded from school despite having additional needs.  In 
numerous cases however, it was clear that children had an EHCP but which was 
out of date (sometimes not updated since primary school attendance).   This 
group of parents also indicated that their culture led to a reluctance to challenge 
the decisions or authority of schools, which was perhaps not recognised in 
appeals processes.  In this context, it is unclear what representation is available 
to support parents? 

•         HE suggested that whilst it was unable to be present at such appeals, it would 
offer guidance to the school where it was believed that the process had 
contravened guidance and protocols (e.g. breaches of the Equalities Act).  The 

Page 167



Monday 16 January 2023  
LA role is one of guidance, but would reach out to parents where necessary to 
ensure that they were supported by appropriate advocacy services. 

  
6.18 The Chair noted that the Commission had a number of further questions and would 
submit these off-line and publish in the next agenda. 
  
6.19 The Chair thanked officers for their update and the continued efforts that are being 
made to address school exclusions in Hackney. 
 

7 Free School Meals (Childhood Food Poverty) (21.10)  
 
7.1 In response to growing levels of childhood poverty and the ongoing cost of living 
crisis, the  Commission undertook a number of site visits to local primary and secondary 
schools to assess what could be done to develop and extend free school meal provision 
and how schools were working to address childhood food poverty in general.   
  
7.2  The Commission heard evidence from a number of local head teachers and 
questioned local officers at its meeting in October 2022 and produced a short summary 
of its findings from this work.  It was hoped that these findings will inform the work of the 
childhood food poverty task force established by the Deputy Mayor and Cabinet member 
for Education, Young People and Children’s Social Care which was expected to report in 
February 2023. 
  
7.3 Members of the Commission noted and agreed with the letter. 
 

8 Work Programme - Update (21.15)  
 
8.1 There were a number of updates to the work programme which were noted and 
agreed. 
  
8.2 Child Q follow up scrutiny was agreed for 28th March 2023 (jointly with Living in 
Hackney).  This session will review the update of the local safeguarding practice review, 
and local partners responses to the Commission's findings and recommendations. There 
will be public engagement ahead of the meeting to inform questioning for the scrutiny 
session. 
  
8.3 The Cabinet Q and A (Cllr Woodley) session for 27th February 2023 had agreed on 
the following areas:  

•         Children’s Centres; 
•         Support for parents of children with SEND; 
•         Demand and waiting times. 

  
8.4 A paper is being produced by local services on support for young parents (March 
20th 2023) setting out how young parents are supported locally.  This would encompass 
Children and Families, Public Health (Health Visitors, School Nursing and Family Nurse 
Partnership), Midwifery, Young Hackney and Children Centres.  A focus group is being 
planned ahead of the meeting to take place week commencing 6th March 2023 which a 
small group of members may wish to attend. 
  
8.5  At its April 17th 2023 meeting, the Commission would look at the accessibility of 
CAMHS and officers are preparing a report for this.  In addition, a focus group will be 
convened ahead of the meeting to enable members to talk with a selection of CAMHS 
providers (22nd March 2023). 
 

9 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (21.20)  
 
9.1 The minutes of the meetings held on 30th November 2022 were noted and agreed. 

Page 168



Monday 16 January 2023  
  
9.2 The Commission noted the additional information on children placed in residential 
and secure settings away from London contained in the information pack which was 
requested at the last meeting. 
 

10 Any Other Business  
 
10.1 It was noted that an accessible version of the exclusions review was being 
developed. 
  
10.2  Members discussed an item on the upcoming Living in Hackney meeting around 
the policing of drugs.  Whilst the focus of this scrutiny item was on adults, it was 
suggested that with the consent of Chairs, CYP may also input into this item.  The Chair 
would discuss with the Chair of living in Hackney if members of CYP could attend. 
  
10.3 The meeting closed at 9.45pm.  The date of the next meeting was noted to be 27th 
February 2023. 
 
 

 
Duration of the meeting: Times Not Specified 

 
 
 
 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 170



 Children     and     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 
 Responses     to     Questions     on     Outcome     of     School 
 Exclusions     (from     16/1/23) 

 1.  A     number     of     serious     case     reviews     have     highlighted     the     acute 
 safeguarding     risks     (e.g.     criminal     exploitation)     for     children     have     been 
 permanently     excluded     from     school.      These     risks     led     the     Commission     to 
 recommend     that     an     independent     multidisciplinary     safeguarding 
 assessment     be     undertaken     at     the     point     of     all     permanent     school 
 exclusions. 

 a.  Is     the     CHSCP     aware     of     any     developments     undertaken     in     local     schools 
 in     this     respect? 

 b.  Has     CHSCP     been     consulted     or     involved     as     to     how     such     a     process     can 
 be     implemented? 

 Planned: 
 ●  A     planned     pilot,     due     to     be     shared     at     a     meeting     with     schools,     is     underway 

 between     safeguarding     partners.     It     is     being     led     by     Young     Hackney/Youth 
 Justice     (prevention     and     diversion     team)     and     Hackney     Education,     to     offer     an 
 ‘exclusion     alternative’     pathway     which     will     begin     with     a     multidisciplinary 
 safeguarding     assessment 

 ●  Currently: 
 ●  Team     Around     the     School     termly     meetings     allow     for     a     thorough     assessment     of 

 children     who     the     school     are     concerned     about,     from     a     multidisciplinary 
 perspective,     as     well     as     encouraging     early     intervention     and     planned     and 
 purposeful     support. 

 ●  A     protocol     for     suspension     and     exclusions     developed     by     Children,     Families 
 and     Educational     as     a     directorate     and     that     foregrounds     a     safeguarding     first 
 approach     is     currently     being     redrafted     and     should     be     distributed     to     schools     this 
 term,     which     will     advise     that     a     team     around     the     child     meeting     is     called 
 immediately     to     ensure     a     multidisciplinary     response,     which     will     include     an 
 assessment     of     risk. 

 ●  At     the     point     of     exclusion,     a     multi     agency     information     sharing     process     is 
 triggered,     identifying     key     information     as     well     as     involved     professionals,     and 
 drawing     a     professional     network     together     around     the     receiving     setting     to 
 support     immediate     risk     assessment     and     planning. 

 ●  Hackney     Education     has     implemented     an     annual     process     of     a     deep     dive 
 analysis     of     exclusions,     alongside     social     care     and     Young     Hackney     and     Youth 
 Justice,     one     of     the     outcomes     of     which     will     be     to     contribute     to     the     continuous 
 development     ensure     training     offer     to     schools     is     relevant     and     strong 

 2.     A     further     safeguarding     concern     was     raised     by     the     Commission     in     its     review 
 of     school     exclusions     was     in     relation     to     Alternative     Provision     and     ensuring     that 
 these     settings     received     information     from     local     services     which     may     impact     on 

Page 171



 the     safeguarding     of     children     in     their     care     (e.g.     information     from     gangs     unit), 
 particularly     when     these     were     located     outside     of     the     borough.      Does     the 
 partnership     feel     confident     that     this     issue     has     been     addressed? 

 ●  Hackney     has     three     commissioners,     (i)     New     Regents     College,     (ii)     the     SEND 
 service     and     (iii)     individual     schools/settings     who     organise     placements 
 independently.     Each     has     responsibility     for     quality     assurance     and     due 
 diligence. 

 ●  Information     from     local     services     is     shared     with     alternative     provisions     through 
 the     respective     quality     assurance     frameworks.     For     New     Regents,     this     is 
 through     direct     regular     contact     with     the     commissioned     settings.     As     the 
 borough’s     PRU     details     about     safeguarding     and     information     about     initiatives 
 such     as     the     VRU     is     communicated     as     soon     as     it     is     received.     It     is     usually 
 disseminated     by     the     Head     of     Educational     Wellbeing     and     Safeguarding. 

 ●  The     SEND     services     also     commissions     settings     to     provide     alternative 
 provision.     As     per     above,     the     Head     of     Educational     Wellbeing     and     Safeguarding 
 share     such     information     with     this     team,     school     improvement     advisers     and 
 headteachers. 

 3.     (Recommendation     9     iii)     -      A     concern     that     the     Commission     identified     within 
 its     exclusion     work     was     that     there     were     information     exchange     issues     between 
 schools     and     AP     with     schools     not     always     sharing     important     information     b) 
 delaying     passing     on     pupil     information.       Is     Hackney     Education     confident     that 
 schools     are     passing     information     on     (about     excluded     children)     in     an     effective 
 and     timely     manner? 

 ●  Schools     share     information     as     soon     as     possible     as     per     the     guidance     typically, 
 and     this     will     trigger     a     multi     agency     information     sharing     process     which     ensures 
 a     full     picture     of     the     child     and     their     circumstances     are     established     to     inform 
 planning.     Where     we     experience     delays     in     sharing     information,     this     is     largely 
 out     of     borough     schools     and     every     instance     is     followed     up     by     our     Exclusions 
 Officers     along     with     a     reminder     around     due     process     and     timelines. 

 4.     (Rec     9     i).     In     what     ways     have     local     Alternative     Provision     been     brought     into 
 the     wider     family     of     Hackney     schools     -     to     enable     the     sharing     of     information     and 
 good     practice?     a.  In     what     ways     have     officers     tried     to     support     AP     engagement 
 in     local     practice     and     development     forums?     b.  Has     Hackney     Schools     Group 
 Board     engaged     with     local     AP     providers? 

 ●  Last     year     officers     from     school     performance     and     improvement     incepted 
 network     meetings.     Alternative     provisions     such     as     ELAT,     EET     Group, 
 Shoreditch     Trust,     Blue     Marble     Training,     Circle     Collective     and     Access     Creative 
 College,     alongside     Hackney     schools     and     Colleges     are     members     of     Project 
 Hackney     and     commit     to     driving     this     forward.     This     is     a     collaborative     project 
 designed     to: 

 1 Page 172



 ⁻  increase     the     number     of     students     choosing     to     continue     their     post     16     education 
 within     Hackney 

 ⁻  create     a     more     inclusive     and     comprehensive     16-19     offer     in     Hackney 
 ⁻  strengthen     the     links     between     the     local     authority,     Hackney     based     schools, 

 colleges,     work-based     learning     providers,     employers     and     other     agencies. 

 ●  It     meets     twice     each     year     and     is     supported     by     an     implementation     Group 
 composed     of      KS4/5     and     careers     leaders     whose     focus     is     on     curriculum     and 
 progression;     developing     and     implementing     specific     projects     and     initiatives. 
 This     forum     meets     every     term. 

 Network     Forum     Developments 
 ●  KS4/5     networks     allow     teaching     and     non     teaching     staff     across     Hackney 

 secondary     schools     (including     some     out     of     borough     schools),     to     network, 
 share     best     practice     and     receive     subject     specific     support.     Alternative 
 Providers      have     attended     careers     collaborative     meetings,     and     have 
 presented     at     our     KS4/5     symposium,     heads     of     sixth     form     meetings     and 
 summer     conference  . 

 ●  There     is     a     termly     AP     network     meeting     via     the     NQLAP     (North     London     Quality 
 Assurance     Partnership)     in     which     APs     from     the     four     participating     boroughs 
 (Hackney,     Camden,     Waltham     Forest     and     Islington)     attend     to     share     good 
 practice     and     latest     local     and     national     developments     in     AP  . 

 5.     It     is     in     the     interests     of     the     children,     parents     and     Hackney     Education     that 
 there     is     a     range     of     high     quality     Alternative     Provision     sites     within     or     close     by     to 
 Hackney     that     meet     the     needs     of     children     who     cannot     be     educated     in 
 mainstream     education. 

 ·  How     is     the     authority     ensuring     that     the     range     of     local     provision     is 
 there     to     meet     the     needs     of     children? 
 ·  With     the     move     of     the     PRU     to     new     Nile     Street     premises,     is     there     an 
 extended     KS3     and     curricula     offer     to     excluded     children?      How     many 
 children     are     being     supported     on     site     at     the     PRU     as     opposed     to     in 
 Commissioned     AP? 

 ●  There     are     currently     20     KS3     students     on     roll     at     NRC,     12     of     whom     have     been 
 placed     as     a     result     of     permanent     exclusion     from     a     mainstream     secondary 
 school. 

 ●  A     specific     Key     Stage     3     thematic     curriculum     is     in     place     for     this     cohort     which 
 covers     a     range     of     subjects     including     English,     Maths,     Computer     Science,     RE, 
 Art,     PE     and     PSHE.     A     number     of     interventions     are     in     place,     including 
 Accelerated     Reader     and     Maths     for     students     who     are     under-acheiving     in     these 
 subjects.     Additional     reading     lessons     have     also     been     incorporated     into     the 
 curriculum     this     year     in     line     with     the     college’s     focus     on     reading. 

 ●  Through     Project     Hackney,     members     are     committed     to     ensuring     that     gaps     in 
 provision     at     Post     16     are     addressed     and     the     curriculum     is     broadened     (where 

 2 Page 173



 appropriate);     to     ensure     that     the     Hackney     Post     16     offer     is     inclusive,     provides 
 choice     and     opportunity. 

 ●  -Within     the     termly     meetings     schools,     colleges     and     AP’s     share     insight     about 
 curriculum     design     and     curriculum     offers     available,     to     encourage     borough     wide 
 planning,     less     duplication     and     hubs     of     excellence. 

 6.     The     Commission     recommended      (at     recommendation     11)     a     number     of 
 common     standards     which     should     be     provided     by     AP     to     children     placed     by 
 Hackney     into     their     care.      Can     the     officers     update     the     Commission     on     progress 
 for     this     recommendation? 

 a.  Are     officers     confident     that     all     children     placed     in     AP,     are     in 
 settings     which     are     rated     good     or     better     by     Ofsted? 

 ●  Quality     assurance     …     framework     …..     implemented     under     (i)     above     and     being 
 piloted     for     (ii)     above. 

 ●  The     NQLAP     team     uses     a     detailed     quality     assurance     framework     across     all     APs 
 being     commissioned     via     NRC.     Additional     capacity     from     a     Hackney     Education 
 officer     to     support     NRC     with     their     cycle     of     visits     is     now     in     place.     Every     AP     is 
 visited     every     two     years     and     is     aligned     with     each     AP’s     Ofsted     inspection     cycle. 
 Only     registered     settings,     judged     to     be     at     least     good     by     Ofsted     or     NQLAP     are 
 currently     being     used     to     place     students     by     NRC. 

 ●  A     pilot     keeping     in     touch     (KIT)     visit     model     is     currently     being     discussed     with     a 
 number     of     Hackney     Education     staff     and     schools/settings     that     are     currently 
 being     commissioned     by     Hackney’s     SEND     team.     Officer     capacity     and 
 agreement     with     APs     and     school     is     still     being     planned     as     some     of     the     schools 
 and     settings     initially     identified     for     a     visit     have     recently     been     inspected     by 
 Ofsted     e.g.     The     Complete     Works     and     Side     by     Side     were     judged     to     be     Good     in 
 their     last     Ofsted     inspections     in     September     and     November     2022     respectively. 

 b.  What     assurance     can     be     provided     to     the     Commission     that     those     children 
 attending     AP     sites     (whether     in     Hackney     or     elsewhere)     have     equal     and 
 unfettered     access     to     the     same     advice,     information     and     support     as     pupils     in 
 mainstream     settings?     For     example: 

 ·  WAMHS     service? 
 ·  CAMHS     workers     in     schools? 
 ·  Young     Hackney? 

 ●  New     Regents     College     has     allocated     WAMHS     and     MHST     support     in     line     with 
 Hackney     mainstream     secondary     schools.     This     is     the     equivalent     to     a     qualified 
 CAMHS     worker     being     on     site     for     1.5     days     per     week     at     the     moment     and     will     be 
 increased     to     2     days     per     week     once     additional     recruitment     has     taken     place     this 
 term. 

 3 Page 174


	Agenda
	4 SEND Partnership Action Plan (19.05)
	Action Plan Coversheet
	Action Plan Scrutiny C 27_02_23

	5 Hackney Education - Budget Monitoring (19.55)
	CYP Scrutiny Budget Monitoring Hackney Education  (2)

	6 Cabinet Q & A (20.30)
	7 Children & Families Annual Report 2021/22 (21.20)
	HDS16018 - C&F Service Annual Report 2021-22_v4 (4)

	8 Work Programme 2022/23
	February 2023 Work Programme - Google Docs

	9 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes of 16th Janaury 23
	Minutes

	Outcome from Exclusion - follow-up - Google Docs


	Front page to page 24: 
	BACK to previous page 22: 
	Front page to page 20: 
	BACK to previous page 13: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 

	Front page to page 10: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 

	BACK to previous page 15: 
	Front page to page 12: 
	BACK to previous page 16: 
	Front page to page 13: 
	BACK to previous page 18: 
	Front page to page 15: 
	BACK to previous page 19: 
	Front page to page 16: 
	BACK to previous page 17: 
	Front page to page 14: 
	BACK to previous page 21: 
	Front page to page 18: 
	BACK to previous page 14: 
	Page 12: 

	Front page to page 11: 
	Page 12: 

	BACK to previous page 20: 
	Front page to page 17: 
	BACK to previous page 23: 
	Front page to page 21: 
	BACK to previous page 24: 
	Front page to page 22: 
	BACK to previous page 25: 
	Front page to page 23: 
	Back page to Front page: 


